
Y Pwyllgor Amgylchedd a Chynaliadwyedd 
 

Lleoliad: 

Ystafell Bwyllgora 3 - y Senedd 

 

 

 

Dyddiad: 

Dydd Iau, 3 Gorffennaf 2014  

 

Amser: 

09.20 

 

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth, cysylltwch â:  

Alun Davidson 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

029 2089 8639 

Pwyllgorac@cymru.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 

 

 

Rhag-gyfarfod anffurfiol (09:20–09:30) 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau a dirprwyon   

2 Ymchwiliad i effeithlonrwydd ynni a thlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru: 

Tystiolaeth gan National Energy Action Cymru (09:30 - 10:15) (Tudalennau 

1 - 115)  

E&S(4)-17-14 papur 1 : National Energy Action Cymru 

  

Carole Morgan Jones, Cyfarwyddwr 

3 Ymchwiliad i effeithlonrwydd ynni a thlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru: 

Tystiolaeth gan Age Cymru a Chomisiynydd Pobl Hŷn Cymru (10:15 - 

11:00) (Tudalennau 116 - 131)  

E&S(4)-17-14 papur 2 : Age Cymru 

E&S(4)-17-14 papur 3 : Comisiynydd Pobl Hŷn Cymru 

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



  

Graeme Francis, Pennaeth Polisi a Materion Cyhoeddus, Age Cymru 

Iwan Williams, Arweinydd Cymunedau, Llywodraeth Leol a Lles, Comisiynydd Pobl 

Hŷn Cymru 

4 Ymchwiliad i effeithlonrwydd ynni a thlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru: 

Tystiolaeth gan Cyngor ar Bopeth Cymru (11:10 - 11:55) (Tudalennau 132 

- 136)  

E&S(4)-17-14 papur 4 : Cyngor ar Bopeth Cymru 

  

Andrew Regan, Rheolwr Polisi Ynni, Cymru 

William Baker, Pennaeth Tlodi Tanwydd 

5 Ymchwiliad i effeithlonrwydd ynni a thlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru: 

Tystiolaeth gan Cartrefi Cymunedol Cymru a Chymdeithasau Tai (13:15 - 

14:00) (Tudalennau 137 - 158)  

E&S(4)-17-14 papur 5 : Cartrefi Cymunedol Cymru 

E&S(4)-17-14 papur 6 : Tai Calon 

E&S(4)-17-14 papur 7 : Grŵp Cynefin 

(Fideo oddi wrth Grŵp Cynefin: 

https://www.dropbox.com/s/ahw98bnivzafnta/Tystiolaeth%20Fideo%2002.mp4) 

E&S(4)-17-14 papur 8 : Cartrefi Rhondda Cynon Taf 

  

Amanda Oliver, Pennaeth Polisi ac Ymchwil, Cartrefi Cymunedol Cymru 

Jen Barfoot, Prif Weithredwr, Tai Calon 

Dewi Llwyd Evans, Rheolwr Mentrau Cymunedol, Grŵp Cynefin 

Jo Yellen, Rheolwr Contractau, Cartrefi Rhondda Cynon Taf 

6 Ymchwiliad i effeithlonrwydd ynni a thlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru: 

Tystiolaeth gan Cyfeillion y Ddaear, yr Ymddiriedolaeth Arbed Ynni a 

Grŵp Cymru Carbon Isel/Di-garbon (14:00 - 14:45) (Tudalennau 159 - 175)  

E&S(4)-17-14 papur 9 : Cyfeillion y Ddaear 

E&S(4)-17-14 papur 10 : Yr Ymddiriedolaeth Arbed Ynni 

E&S(4)-17-14 papur 11 : Comisiwn Cymru ar y Newid yn yr Hinsawdd 

  

Haf Elgar, Ymgyrchydd, Cyfeillion y Ddaear 

Duncan McCombie, Cyfarwyddwr Gweithrediadau, yr Ymddiriedolaeth Arbed Ynni 

Andy Sutton, Grŵp Llywio Craidd Aelod, Grŵp Cymru Carbon Isel/Di-garbo 

https://www.dropbox.com/s/ahw98bnivzafnta/Tystiolaeth%20Fideo%2002.mp4


 

7 Papurau i’w nodi   

 

Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol ynghylch y Bil Cyfiawnder Troseddol a'r 

Llysoedd: Ymateb gan y Gweinidog Tai ac Adfywio i'r llythyr gan y Cadeirydd ar 5 

Mehefin  (Tudalennau 176 - 177) 

E&S(4)-17-14 paper 12 

 

Bioamrywiaeth: Ymateb gan y Gweinidog Cyfoeth Naturiol a Bwyd i'r llythyr gan y 

Cadeirydd ar 3 Mehefin  (Tudalennau 178 - 179) 

E&S(4)-17-14 paper 13 

8 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y cyhoedd 

o'r cyfarfod ar gyfer eitem 8   

Sesiwn breifat 

9 Trafodaeth o ymchwiliad i gynigion Llywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer yr M4 

o amgylch Casnewydd i'r M4. (14:45 - 15:00)  



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 21



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 30



National Assembly for Wales 

Environment and Sustainability Committee 

EEFP 07 

Inquiry into Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty  

Response from: National Energy Action Cymru   

 

 

 
 
Environment and Sustainability Committee Inquiry into Fuel Poverty and Energy Efficiency 
in Wales: Written Evidence from NEA Cymru 
 
1. In response to the announcement by the Environment and Sustainability Committee 

that it is undertaking an inquiry into energy efficiency and fuel poverty in Wales I have 
pleasure in submitting written evidence from National Energy Action (NEA).   NEA would 
welcome the opportunity to give evidence to the Committee. 

 
2. NEA and Energy Action Scotland recently published the 2013-14 UK Fuel Poverty 

Monitor, an annual report which examines the different approaches to tackle and 
eliminate fuel poverty across the 4 UK nations and to identify emerging problems and 
solutions.  NEA would like to submit this report as additional evidence for the 
Committee to consider.   

 
National Energy Action (NEA) 
 
3. NEA is the UK fuel poverty charity which for more than 30 years has campaigned for 

action and for greater investment in energy efficiency to help those who are poor and 
vulnerable.  In Wales NEA Cymru established the Nest stakeholder group, showcased 
practical examples of community collective switching initiatives to stakeholders in 
Wales, supported fuel poor communities in rural off gas areas and for the past two years 
has been running a successful fuel debt training and mentoring project supporting 
advisors as they struggle with the demand for their services.  Now in its third year the 
project has trained 379 frontline advisors and community workers on fuel debt 
prevention and helping those already in debt.     

 
5. Our wider policy and stakeholder engagement work includes hosting the only fuel 

poverty focused annual conference in Wales, maintaining a collaborative campaigning 
programme working with other stakeholders on the Fuel Poverty Coalition Cymru, 
supporting stakeholder engagement via fuel poverty forums and an online network, and 
supporting the Fuel Poverty Cross Party Group. 

 
Welsh Government’s statutory targets for eradicating fuel poverty in Wales by 2018 
 
6. Almost 1 in 3 (30%) of households in Wales were living in fuel poverty in 2012, equating 

to 386,000 homes with 328,000 of these believed to be vulnerable households 
(containing a child, older person, or someone who is disabled or has a long term illness). 
1    

 

                                                 
1 http://wales.gov.uk/docs/caecd/research/130430-wales-fuel-poverty-projection-tool-2011-12-report-en.pdf 

Tudalen y pecyn 32

http://wales.gov.uk/docs/caecd/research/130430-wales-fuel-poverty-projection-tool-2011-12-report-en.pdf


  

2 

 

7. Since 2005, consumer gas prices have risen by over 120%, retail electricity prices have 
risen over 75%, and the cost of liquid heating fuels has more than doubled in the UK2.  
The scale of households in fuel debt is also increasing.  At the end of 2012 there was a 
25% increase in electricity debt and a 14% increase in gas debt in Wales compared to the 
previous year.3 

 
8. A report by the National Audit Office stated that energy bills will continue to increase 

(above inflation) across the UK over the next 10 years4.  This will undoubtedly have an 
impact on the realisation of the Welsh Government’s fuel poverty targets.    
 

9. Fuel poverty is a major public health issue.  It has been estimated that poor housing 
costs the NHS in Wales approximately £67 million per year in treatment costs. The full 
cost to Welsh society of poor housing, which includes poorer educational attainment 
and life chances, is estimated to be around £168 million per year.5  Wales has 
unacceptably high rates of Excess Winter Deaths with a 51% rise in the number of EWDs 
in the winter of 2012-13 compared to the previous year.  Many EWDs can be prevented 
if we improve the thermal efficiency of homes, and keep people warm in the winter 
months.  

 
10. As noted in NEA’s 2013-14 UK Fuel Poverty Monitor the governments in Wales, Scotland 

and Northern Ireland were commended for their commitment to maintain or increase 
funding for energy efficiency programmes for low income households despite a difficult 
economic climate, at a time when England ended its Warm Front scheme in January 
2013.  The Welsh Government’s efforts have reduced the projected number of 
households in fuel poverty in 2012 by 3% (36,000 households), and is also investing to 
attract further supplier funding to Wales.         

 
11. The 2010 Fuel Poverty Strategy set out the targets for eradicating fuel poverty in Wales: 

to eradicate fuel poverty among vulnerable households by 2010 and in social housing by 
2012 and a target to eradicate fuel poverty by 2018 “as far as was reasonably 
practicable”.  The first two targets have not been met.   The economic and political 
landscape has changed significantly since the 2010 Fuel Poverty Strategy was developed 
and it is clear that the target to eradicate fuel poverty by 2018 is unachievable within 
existing fuel poverty policies.  If Wales does nothing, it will face increased health and 
care costs, while Welsh households struggle under ever increasing fuel bills.     

 
12. Many of the mechanisms contained within the Fuel Poverty Strategy are no longer 

applicable.  In December 2011, the Welsh Government abolished its Ministerial Advisory 
Group on Fuel Poverty (making it the only UK nation without a group of this kind), and 
Welsh Government funding for NEA ceased at the end of March 2013.   

 
13. The key functions of the Ministerial Advisory Group on Fuel Poverty were to: provide 

advice and recommendations on tackling fuel poverty in Wales; examine the 
effectiveness of current policies in delivering reductions in fuel poverty; examine 
barriers to the delivery of reduction in fuel poverty; consider the need for additional 
policies and initiatives to deliver the Welsh Government’s targets; and advise on 
engagement between key players involved in tackling fuel poverty.  In England, the Fuel 
Poverty Advisory Group continues to advise the Westminster Government, and the 

                                                 
2 Fuel Poverty Advisory Group for England 11th Annual Report, December 2013.  
3 https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications-and-updates/domestic-suppliers-social-obligations-2012-annual-report 
4 National Audit Office, Infrastructure investment: the impact on consumer bills, 13 November 2013.  
5 BRE Trust and Shelter Cymru, ‘The Cost of Poor Housing in Wales’ (2011) 

Tudalen y pecyn 33

https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications-and-updates/domestic-suppliers-social-obligations-2012-annual-report


  

3 

 

Scottish Fuel Poverty Forum performs a similar role for the Scottish Government, 
whereas in Northern Ireland, the Fuel Poverty Advisory Group has been replaced with a 
new structure.  Without such an Advisory Group there is a lack of expert advice and 
constructive challenge to the Welsh Government.   The Commissioner for Sustainable 
Futures has previously called for the First Minister’s Energy Wales Strategic Delivery 
Group, created in May 2013 to incorporate progress on fuel poverty as part of its 
agenda.   

 
14. NEA Cymru’s advice and input continues to be sought by a wide range of stakeholders 

but the ending of funding for NEA’s activities in Wales has inevitably had an impact on 
NEA’s work on improving the evidence base for policy making and stakeholder 
representation.  An external review commended NEA on delivering positive value for 
money for the Welsh Government, and also found that Wales has continued to benefit 
from additional funding leveraged by NEA through non-Welsh Government contracted 
activities.  The review noted that the Welsh Government should review its requirements 
for specific national and local stakeholder engagement on fuel poverty in Wales.   

 
Energy efficiency programmes (Nest and Arbed) and UK Government initiatives    
 
15. NEA has raised a number of concerns and criticisms about the Green Deal and ECO, and 

indeed the UK Government has already stated that the Green Deal is inappropriate for 
fuel poor households.   

 
16. In 2012-13, Nest provided over 4,900 households with a package of home energy 

improvement measures – a third of the average number helped each year by its 
predecessor, HEES.  Whilst these households will benefit from reduced energy costs and 
improved wellbeing, there remain 98% of fuel poor households in Wales who will either 
be dependent on the ECO unless they can fund measures through the Green Deal or live 
in an area which benefits from an Arbed, local authority or housing association scheme.   

 
17. It has been estimated that the cost to take 95% of fuel poor households out of fuel 

poverty in Wales by improving the performance of their homes would cost £2.4billion at 
2008 prices.6  As the budget for fuel poverty or energy efficiency programmes in Wales is 
nowhere near this, clearly the level of resource is not adequate.  

 
18. In 2011-12, only 55% of households receiving home improvement measures through 

Nest were fuel poor, with no equivalent figure published for 2012-13 to allow 
comparison, and no reporting done on whether these households were removed from 
fuel poverty by the help they received.  In terms of the transparency and reporting on 
the Arbed programme, there has been no reporting on the numbers of households 
benefitting from Arbed who were in fuel poverty before and after receiving measures, so 
it is difficult to assess their impact.7   

 
19. In addition, the Nest annual report does not give sufficient detailed data to allow for in-

depth external scrutiny of the scheme.   
 

                                                 
6 Energy Saving Trust, 2013, ‘Costs and benefits of tackling fuel poverty by improving energy efficiency in Wales in 2008’ 
7 In response to an oral question in the Senedd, the Minister for Natural Resources and Food circulated a six month update on 
Nest and Arbed to Assembly Members in December 2013.  This showed that 2,650 households had received measures through 
Nest and 852 had received measures through Arbed in the first six months of 2013/14.  The Minister anticipated that around 
8000 households would receive measures through the two schemes by the end of March 2014.   

Tudalen y pecyn 34



  

4 

 

20. Energy Company Obligation (ECO) and other measures to alleviate fuel poverty in 
Wales. 
 

21. At present there is no clear picture of how the various elements which make up the 
complex ECO programme are being delivered in Wales, as the funding is not ring-fenced 
by nation.  There is a lack of coordination across the UK nations on energy policy and the 
UK Government has failed to analyse the impact of its non-devolved policies on Wales.     

 
22. The cost of the Energy Company Obligation (estimated at £1.3 billion per year) is being 

paid for by all consumers through a levy on domestic energy bills, resulting in increased 
cost for many vulnerable people already struggling to heat their homes.  

 
23. Resources under ECO to help the poorest families were already insufficient (£540m 

representing a cut of almost half in terms of previous funding for fuel poor households) 
considering the scale and depth of fuel poverty across Britain (estimated to assist just 
7% of fuel poor households) and following the actions of the Westminster Government 
this situation is now even more acute.  Households in Wales will be competing with 
English and Scottish households for limited resources.      

 
24. The main impact for Wales of the changes to ECO announced in December is that total 

resources are being reduced with an estimated 634,000 fewer hard to treat measures 
being delivered in the UK through the obligation and will further jeopardise the attempts 
by the Welsh Government to attract energy suppliers’ ECO resources into Wales.     

 
Recommendations 
 
25. The Welsh Government should:  

 

 Investigate the potential of using its new borrowing powers to substantially increase 
resources directed at energy efficiency improvements.     

 Set out an action plan for tackling fuel poverty, including how it will prioritise those who 
should have been removed from fuel poverty by 2010 and 2012 and evaluating how its 
actions will reduce numbers in fuel poverty by the 2018 target date 

 Reintroduce its Ministerial Advisory Group to provide informed advice and 
recommendations on fuel poverty issues.     

 Develop a Cold Weather Plan to protect the health and welfare of vulnerable individuals 
during period of severe winter weather  

 Review its requirements for specific national and local stakeholder engagement on fuel 
poverty in Wales.   

 Develop a robust programme of research and impact assessment to meet its future fuel 
poverty policy and strategy needs in dialogue with NEA and other public, private and 
third sector partners.    

 Update the housing stock information within the Living in Wales Survey 2008 and 
introduce annual reporting of fuel poverty levels.  

 Press the case for a more joined up approach on non-devolved energy policy which will 
impact on fuel poverty in Wales strongly making the case to the UK Government for the 
need for greater co-ordination.  

 The Welsh Government should press the UK Government to return any revenue derived 
from levies on Welsh consumers to be spent on helping to end the misery and suffering 
caused by Britain's cold homes.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 35



UK FUEL POVERTY 
MONITOR
2013-2014

National Assembly for Wales 
Environment and Sustainability Committee 
EEFP 07 
Inquiry into Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty  
Response from: National Energy Action Cymru, UK Fuel Poverty Monitor 2013-2014 

Tudalen y pecyn 36



Tudalen y pecyn 37



Introduction 
National Energy Action (NEA) and Energy Action Scotland (EAS) are national charities working 
to increase investment in energy efficiency to tackle fuel poverty in vulnerable households. NEA 
operates in Wales as NEA Cymru and in Northern Ireland as NEA Northern Ireland. Across the 
four nations we believe that radically improving the fabric and heating of homes represents the 
most cost effective long-term solution for tackling high domestic energy bills and eradicating fuel 
poverty. For many years, we have highlighted that the problems of rising fuel costs (alongside 
other costs of living) and stagnating or decreased incomes have been exacerbated by the United 
Kingdom’s woefully energy inefficient housing stock. Despite our warnings, poor housing 
standards continue to impair the physical and psychological health of millions of UK households. 

Through the ‘UK Fuel Poverty Monitor’ we make an annual assessment of fuel poverty levels 
and compare the differing approaches to tackle this issue across the United Kingdom. This 
year’s Monitor provides a nation specific update on progress towards fuel poverty aspirations 
or targets. Whilst income support measures and energy discounts play an important role in 
tackling two of the factors which cause fuel poverty (low-income levels and the continued high 
price of domestic energy), the main factors under consideration within this report are the 
different approaches the Westminster and devolved governments are currently taking on energy 
efficiency programmes. 

The Monitor also attempts to identify emerging problems and solutions related to fuel poverty 
policy in a post-devolution political framework. Whilst much of the UK’s fuel poverty policy 
is assumed to be a devolved matter, in reality, the policy mechanisms to address fuel poverty 
represent a complicated mix of devolved and reserved powers and responsibilities. The purpose 
therefore is to scrutinise relevant policy areas where the governments of the United Kingdom 
have adopted different approaches in addressing fuel poverty, with a view to identifying areas 
which need to be addressed at nation level or that can only be acted across the UK by the 
Westminster Government. Our UK-wide findings are highlighted at the beginning of the report 
and within the conclusions and recommendations at the end of the report. Recommendations 
for each nation appear at the end of the country- specific chapters. NEA, NEA Cymru, NEANI and 
EAS will be raising these findings and recommendations with the respective governments and 
stakeholders and will report on changes in next year’s Monitor. 

3

Tudalen y pecyn 38



Tudalen y pecyn 39



Acknowledgments 

NEA is grateful for the support of Consumer Futures who have enabled NEA’s policy teams in 
Wales, England and Northern Ireland, as well as the sister organisation Energy Action Scotland 
(EAS), to consider these issues in detail and to compile this report.  The project team is also 
grateful to the respective national government departments who have also helped provide 
insights on the progress of national or GB-wide energy efficiency programmes and national fuel 
poverty targets. 

5

Tudalen y pecyn 40



Tudalen y pecyn 41



Contents

7

3 Introduction

5 Acknowledgements

9 SECTION ONE: Key findings from the UK Fuel Poverty Monitor

13 SECTION TWO: Measuring the extent of fuel poverty in the United Kingdom

20 SECTION THREE: The impact of levies on bills within Great Britain

25 SECTION FOUR: Heating and insulation programmes in the United Kingdom

33 SECTION FIVE: Country Reports

33 England
46 Scotland
54 Wales
64 Northern Ireland

73 SECTION SIX: Summary of key UK-wide findings and recommendations

76 ANNEX A: Summary of national recommendations

ANNEX B: List of tables

Tudalen y pecyn 42



Tudalen y pecyn 43



1. 	 The scale of fuel poverty 

Whilst the latest official figures show a small decrease in the extent of fuel poverty across 	 the 
UK and in the respective countries, these estimates are out of date. The extent and depth of 
fuel poverty across the UK is now growing again. Energy prices are also predicted to continue 
to rise above inflation for the foreseeable future. High energy bills are now one of the most 
prominent public policy issues across the UK. 

The governments of Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland have responded by maintaining 
or increasing tax funded support for their energy efficiency schemes targeted at fuel-poor 
households. Yet, across all nations, based on existing policies, fuel poverty will continue to rise. 
Policy makers must now respond to the scale of this challenge

At the same time, British domestic electricity consumers are contributing significant sums to 
HM Treasury through carbon taxes, VAT and VAT applied on top of levies on electricity bills. 
These revenues could be used to bring all UK housing occupied by low-income households up 
to the standard of a new home built today. This would result in more energy-efficient homes, 
more affordable energy bills, carbon reduction, reduced health and care costs and economic 
growth through additional jobs created and increase money circulating in poorer communities.

2.	 The measurement of fuel poverty

The governments of Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland have chosen to retain the existing 
definition of fuel poverty which is based on those needing to spend 10 percent of income 
on energy to maintain a healthy living environment.  The Westminster government recently 
agreed a new definition for England based on those low income households with higher than 
average fuel costs. Under both definitions fuel poverty is likely to increase.

3.	 A lack of a coordinated approach 

The report finds that a UK wide approach to eradicating fuel poverty has never been such a 
distant prospect. There is currently no UK wide approach to enhancing the UK’s aging and 
thermally inefficient housing stock for the poorest households. 
An illustration of the limited coordination across the nations is the Westminster Government’s 
recent cut to the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) which operates across Great Britain. 
Resources under this programme were already insufficient considering the scale and depth of 
fuel poverty across Britain (estimated to assist just 7% of fuel poor households). Following the 
actions of the Westminster Government this situation is now even worse. Furthermore, it has 
jeopardised the attempts of the Scottish and Welsh governments and many local authorities to 
integrate public funds with ECO resources.

Key findings from the UK Fuel Poverty 
Monitor

SECTION ONE

9
Tudalen y pecyn 44



The recent ECO changes have further undermined the realisation of current national fuel 
poverty aspirations or targets. The report therefore calls for an urgent re-evaluation of the 
contribution assumed from ECO and other policies to these national targets. 

4.	 Delivery of energy efficiency within the nations

The Scottish and Welsh Governments are currently adopting a community-based approach to 
delivering energy efficiency in a cost-effective and efficient manner. Northern Ireland is also 
piloting this model and is focusing delivery on small census output areas with positive results. 
Despite the area based model also receiving some support from the Westminster Government, 
it still fails to provide recurrent funding (or a binding duty) for realising the potential role of 
English local authorities in addressing fuel poverty, reducing carbon emissions and improving 
public health through coordinated action on housing and health

There are inconsistent requirements across the UK to specify the level which energy efficiency 
interventions need to reach within fuel poor households. This has led to a significant disparity 
between the different energy efficiency programmes across the UK with respect to affordability 
outcomes. In England, even where eligible households are identified, ECO-obligated energy 
suppliers have full discretion to determine the extent of support they (or their contractors/
agents) provide to households and the measures they choose to install. 

Low income households in England are now almost wholly reliant on ECO as the only 
programme to offer discounted insulation and heating measures, although some local 
authorities continue to make heroic efforts to plug gaps. While the governments in Wales, 
Northern Ireland and Scotland continue to develop ‘whole house’ and area approaches to 
delivering schemes, inconsistencies in approach still exist and outcomes are often hard to 
monitor. 

Within each country of Great Britain, the different approaches of governments to energy 
efficiency will affect where suppliers target the roll out of their ECO schemes (now extended 
to 2017). The ECO is not ring-fenced by nation and therefore the extent of ECO delivery within 
each country is unknown. Energy suppliers are less likely to run ECO programmes in England, 
where there is no matched funding from public monies, and are more likely to take advantage 
of the financial incentives offered by the Scottish and Welsh Governments.

In Northern Ireland, the Northern Ireland Sustainable Energy Programme which is managed by 
the Northern Ireland Utility Regulatory Authority is also a levy on electricity bills.This policy is 
set to move to an Energy Efficiency Obligation (EEO) made up of a levy across all heating fuels, 
including the currently non-regulated heating oil industry.  While the EEO may potentially 
provide a progressive mechanism to support specified energy efficiency standards within the 
homes of fuel poor households, this is by no means guaranteed. It is also essential that the 
regulator makes sure that there is a smooth transition between current and future schemes.  

5.	 Progress across Tenures

Both Scottish and Welsh Governments continue to improve the standards of their social-
rented stock. The Northern Ireland Housing Executive has achieved comparatively demanding 
standards across its social housing but this progress could be outstripped by the soaring 

10
Tudalen y pecyn 45



energy costs . While all social housing in England now meets and often exceeds the previous 
Government’s Decent Homes Standard, the Westminster government has failed to put in place 
a replacement target. Furthermore, the recent ECO changes have resulted in many social 
housing projects being re-profiled or stopped altogether. 

Within the private rented sector, the penetration of energy efficiency improvements continues 
to be disappointing. This is not only due to the historical split incentive (the problem that 
landlords don’t want to pay for energy efficiency measures when tenants reap the benefits), 
but equally because existing landlord regulations are not enforced. 

The notable delay by the Westminster Government to introduce ambitious mandatory targets 
to improve private rented housing in England has had a knock-on impact within policy 
making across the UK.  Stakeholders continue to disagree over the extent to which the cost of 
compliance with regulations should fall on the tenant, energy consumers (through the Energy 
Company Obligation), landlords or public funds. 

6.	 Reporting on Progress

The Westminster Government’s current reporting on fuel poverty levels and the distributional 
analysis of its policies is inadequate. Reporting of fuel poverty levels across the nations is also 
mixed, with some housing stock data now being largely out of date. In addition, measures 
delivered under ECO do not breakdown which elements of the ECO (HHCRO, CRO and CSCO 
and which measures) have been delivered in England or the devolved nations. This lack of 
transparency hinders an ability to assess the extent to which ECO is defraying across Wales, 
Scotland and England. 

Reporting on which measures are installed to which type of households across the devolved 
nations is also variable and it is often hard to assess the aggregated contribution assumed from 
energy efficiency policies to current national fuel poverty aspirations or targets. This makes it 
more unlikely these targets will ultimately be met. 

7.	 New funding models

The report notes that there is a new opportunity to increase resources for energy efficiency 
in England and across the UK by working with Distribution Network Operators (DNOs) to 
incentivise electricity demand reduction on their networks, alongside a direct social outcome. 
This could result in alternatives to network reinforcement, in the form of replacing electrically 
heated systems in tower blocks through a contribution towards a modern efficient district 
heating network and extensive insulation. 

While these emerging models could provide much needed additional investment in energy 
efficiency, they are not being developed at scale and receive little or no support from the 
Westminster Government. 

Finally, we note the need to continue to galvanise support for the objectives of the Energy 
Bill Revolution campaign which aims to develop a positive case for recycling revenues from 
environmental taxes such as EU-ETS and the Carbon Floor Price back into energy efficiency 
programmes that can help beat fuel poverty. 

11
Tudalen y pecyn 46



Key UK-wide recommendations 
 
i	 Cutting or dramatically modifying existing energy efficiency programmes was the 
	 wrong short term solution within the 2013 Autumn Statement. The UK Government 
	 should massively expand resources directed towards energy efficiency more generally, 
	 but especially for low-income households living in the worst properties and most 
	 deprived areas. Resources fall short of the level required to protect the health and 
	 welfare of these households and meet national fuel poverty targets. 

ii.	 The UK Government must recognise the impact that energy policy set in Westminster 	
	 has on the whole of the UK and must quantify the impacts on fuel poverty across 
	 the UK before making significant policy decisions. Embedding this requirement into 
	 the standard impact assesment proforma within the Department of Energy and 
	 Climate Change (DECC) is a priority.

iii.	 HM Treasury must not directly benefit from any schemes that effectively increase the 
	 cost of energy.  Any revenues derived from  levies and the cost of policies designed to 
	 reduce carbon should be spent on helping to end the misery and suffering caused 
	 by Britain’s cold homes, supported by a long term goal to bring all UK housing 
	 occupied by low-income households up to the standard of a new home built today. The 
	 Treasury should also pledge to cut or recycle all VAT revenue which is currently paid 
	 on all energy consumer-funded levies across the UK.

iv.	 There is a need for greater and more transparent coordination across the Westminster 	
	 and devolved governments on all consumer energy issues. A formal working group 
	 of relevant departments from the different administrations and the respective 
	 regulators and consumer groups should be established to tackle the three main drivers 
	 of fuel poverty: improving energy efficiency standards across the UK and promoting 
	 policies to maximise incomes and mitigate high energy prices, and report on their 
	 actions.

12
Tudalen y pecyn 47



SECTION TWO

Measuring the extent of fuel poverty in the 
United Kingdom

In order to adequately provide an overview of the extent of fuel poverty across the United 
Kingdom, it is first important to briefly refresh our understanding of why this question matters 
and in particular what attempts have previously been made to facilitate a joined-up approach to 
eradicating fuel poverty across the nations. 

Since the 1980s, it had been well understood within the UK that a number of health conditions 
– including cardiovascular and respiratory diseases – are caused or exacerbated by living in cold 
conditions1 . As a result of this emerging evidence, consensus and growing political pressure to 
act, in 1999, an Inter-Ministerial Group on Fuel Poverty was set up to take a strategic overview of 
the relevant policies and initiatives with a bearing on fuel poverty. The Warm Homes and Energy 
Conservation Act 2000 followed and facilitated the first UK Fuel Poverty Strategy published in 
November 20012 . 

The UK-wide remit inferred in the title of the strategy was however very limited given that 
overall responsibility for fuel poverty objectives in England rests with the Westminster 
Government but many of the actions required to implement a UK-wide approach to eradicating 
fuel poverty were already (or were subsequently) devolved to the Governments of Scotland, 
Wales and Northern Ireland3. This effectively curtailed the original assumption that fuel poverty 
definitions and targets would be joined up and an integrated UK-wide approach has never 
fully materialised. It is not the intention of this report to dwell on why this deviation from a 
more integrated approach occurred. What is relevant however is that the initial recognition of 
the issue of cold homes and fuel poverty historically prompted an enthusiasm for a joined-up 
approach, and as explored further below, in recent years (and no more so than in 2013-2014) the 
pursuit of a UK-wide approach on these issues has never been such a distant prospect4. 

1Collins in 1986 stated that householders that experience indoor temperatures below 16oC have an increased risk of respiratory 
disorders. In 1993 Collins went on to prove that (along with Lan Chang et al 2004; Howieson and Hogan 2005) that below 12oC 
cardiovascular stress occurs. In 2000, Collins concluded that acute respiratory infectious diseases cause the highest mortality 
when they affect a vulnerable section of the population, such as elderly people already suffering from chronic disabling 
respiratory illness.
2The strategy specified that a fuel-poor household should be defined as such if they need to spend more than ten per cent of 
their income to maintain a warm and healthy living environment. The Westminster Government currently defines a healthy living 
environment as 21oC in living areas and 18oC in other areas of the house.
3Whilst the Warm Homes and Energy Conservation Act is the foundation of fuel poverty targets in England and Wales, the 
Housing (Scotland) Act provides the basis for fuel poverty objectives in Scotland and there is no legislative driver for the 
eradication of fuel poverty in Northern Ireland. In addition, Wales does not have the same devolved power as Scotland and 
Northern Ireland.  
4There are some areas where fuel poverty policy continues to be managed more centrally by the Westminster Government, 
typically income support measures made through the Department for Work and Pensions, e.g., Winter Fuel Payments.  In 
Scotland, energy policy is also reserved to Westminster.

13
Tudalen y pecyn 48



Leaving aside the respective nations’ policies and programmes, prior to last year, there were 
only limited differences in the overall approach to how fuel poverty was defined and modelled 
within the nations. As well as the obvious need to rely on different national housing survey 
information5, in Scotland for example, there was a more stringent interpretation of a satisfactory 
heating regime for vulnerable households which meant these groups were assumed to require a 
higher temperature to reach an adequate standard of warmth in their homes. The methodology 
applied to Wales and Northern Ireland differed to a lesser extent and was based on a very similar 
methodology to England. 

However, following the findings of the Independent Review of Fuel Poverty in England led by 
Professor John Hills6, on the 9th July 2013, the Westminster Coalition Government proposed to 
modify the timetable to address fuel poverty in England. Simultaneously, they also confirmed 
that they would modify the common definition of fuel poverty with a new measurement, specific 
to England, with immediate effect7. The Government amendments to the Energy Act repealed the 
Warm Homes and Energy Conservation Act 2000 and require the Secretary of State for Energy 
and Climate Change to set out new targets for England (within subsequent secondary legislation) 
and bring forward a delivery strategy (to meet these England-specific targets) within 6 months 
of the legislation being passed. 

The suitability of the definition of fuel poverty was also considered in Scotland with the Scottish 
Government entrusting the Scottish Fuel Poverty Forum to undertake an initial review. The 
Forum concluded last year that the existing definition should be retained on account of ‘its 
simplicity and ability to capture all fuel-poor’ and this recommendation was accepted by the 
Cabinet Secretary for Infrastructure and Capital Investment.  The Forum has subsequently 
agreed to undertake some research into the underpinning assumptions of the definition, for 
example, household income and heating regimes and is likely to report on this research later in 
spring 2014.  

The Welsh Government also assessed the impact of applying the Low-income High Costs 
definition to Wales however, as with Scotland, the Welsh Government chose not to opt for the 
new measure. A preliminary review of the fuel poverty definition in Northern Ireland concluded 
that the existing definition remained robust8. 

Beyond the immediate effect of the change of definition within England which prompted the 
other nations to consider the suitability of their current approaches, potentially more alarming 
impacts are now beginning to be felt.  As explored in the next section (section 3), along with 
every domestic energy consumer, the fuel-poor are required to contribute towards the costs 

5 In England, fuel poverty is modelled using the data from the English Housing Survey (EHS), in Scotland the Scottish House 
Condition Survey (SHCS), in Wales the Living in Wales Survey and Northern Ireland the Northern Ireland House Condition 
Survey.
6 John Hills, Getting the measure of fuel poverty Final Report of the Fuel Poverty Review, March 2012. 
7 As noted in the English section below, replacing the longstanding absolute definition of fuel poverty (10% required energy 
costs threshold) with a relative indicator (Professor Hills’ low-income, high cost measurement) means the distribution of fuel 
poverty across households in England (and consequently across the UK) has changed; in general, moving from an emphasis on 
older person households to younger households, and in particular, families with children.
8 As noted in the country reports, this review did subsequently prompt a further consultation investigating how to improve 
current delivery in Northern Ireland. 

14
Tudalen y pecyn 49



of the Government’s Electricity Market Reforms (EMR) and the carbon floor price in England 
and the devolved nations. Despite the revised package having obvious short to medium term 
implications for fuel-poor households the Impact Assessment published by DECC on 30 July 
2013 sets out forecasts of average bill impacts but not of any impact on fuel poverty, noting that: 
 “The Government has recently announced its intention to adopt a new measure of fuel poverty, 
based on the Low-income High Costs framework outlined by Professor John Hills in his independent 
review of fuel poverty….Following this, we will be able to provide updated projections for future fuel 
poverty levels under the different (EMR) scenarios.”

Whilst the updated impact assessment rightly noted that in England under the new 
measurement of fuel poverty (the Low-income High Cost measure) the overall headcount of 
fuel poverty is unlikely to be largely moved by changes in energy prices. No specific attempt had 
been made to investigate the impact the updated EMR package and the carbon floor price has on 
the ‘fuel poverty gap’ under the Low-income High Cost definition applied in England or on the 
definition used by the other nations. This trend was recently repeated when the Westminster 
Government released its impact assessment following the changes to the ECO scheme. The 
document noted that the impact of the policy options being considered ‘only show the impacts 
on fuel poverty in England because Scotland and Wales adopt a different definition of fuel 
poverty (the ‘10 %’ definition) and therefore cannot be included in this analysis’9. 

As noted throughout this document, clearly, any additional impacts on fuel-poor households as 
a result of the choice to fund new or existing energy infrastructure through consumer bills or, 
as explored in the following section, any fundamental changes to the principle energy efficiency 
policy which plays a key role in supporting energy efficiency schemes in Wales, Scotland and 
England, must explore the UK-wide fuel poverty and distributional impacts of these policy 
decisions. 

In spite of a lack of reporting on policy impacts and the changes in England (which are explored 
in further detail within the English section), the three factors that affect the level and depth of 
fuel poverty remain largely unchanged. Fuel poverty, across the nations, continues to be driven 
by a combination of factors including the cost of fuel, the level of household income, the physical 
quality and characteristics of the dwelling and the degree of vulnerability of the occupants 
of that dwelling. This combination of factors means that fuel poverty can affect households 
regardless of their geographical location or whether they are urban or rural dwellers. Of 
particular relevance to this study, is where the problem of low household income is exacerbated 
by other factors e.g. where a property’s built-form precludes basic insulation measures i.e. has a 
solid wall or the householder has limited and expensive heating options, such as lack of access to 
natural gas supplies and is reliant on comparatively expensive and typically unregulated energy 
supplies.

Fuel poverty therefore continues to be particularly severe in rural areas where properties are 
often colder, are not suitable for cavity wall insulation, and are often off the gas network and 
so have to rely on more expensive forms of heating. These factors continue to be responsible 

9 Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC): The Future of the Energy Company Obligation: Assessment of Impacts, 
March 2014.

15
Tudalen y pecyn 50



for much of the disparity in the scale of fuel poverty across the nations. Whilst there is some 
variation in household income within the constituent countries listed below, this continues to 
be much less significant than other issues such as the scale of hard-to-treat housing and the 
extent to which households lack access to mains gas supply. This latter issue continues to be 
the dominant factor in the high incidence of fuel poverty in Northern Ireland but also partly 
explains the high numbers of fuel-poor households in Scotland and Wales. In addition, whilst 
the distribution of fuel poverty in England has changed, throughout the UK it continues to be 
most prevalent amongst vulnerable households including those on low-incomes, households 
with children under the age of 16, households with disabilities or suffering from a long-term 
illness and households containing older people. The consequences of fuel poverty are also 
largely unchanged and range from psychological stress, worry and social isolation, to causing or 
exacerbating serious illness such as respiratory and circulatory conditions. 

The fuel-poor often also face the stark choice between spending what they need to heat their 
home adequately and either falling into debt or rationing their energy use and living in cold 
damp homes that are dangerous to their health. Others spend money on fuel and reduce their 
purchasing of other necessities, such as food or vice versa.

Table 1: Fuel poverty levels in the UK by country, 2011 (DECC)

Country Number of 
households 
(millions)

% of households Total households 
(millions)

England (10% definition) 3.2 15% 21.6
England (LIHC definition) 2.3 11% 21.6
Scotland 0.58 25% 2.3
Wales 0.27 29% 1.268
Northern Ireland 0.29 42% 0.701
UK (10% definition) 4.34 c.17% 25.86

The time lag in publication of official fuel poverty statistics, generally around two years between 
collection and publication, means that these estimates are not current. The table above is from 
the most recent estimates from the Westminster Government (DECC) that show that in 2011 
the number of fuel-poor households in the UK fell in 2011 and was estimated at around 4.34 
million, representing around 17 per cent of all UK households10. Fuel poverty levels in the UK 
in 2012 and 2013 have yet to be released and are still unclear. In the absence of actual official 
survey-based UK statistics11, fuel poverty researchers are reliant on modelling assumptions from 
other parties which extrapolates the incidence of fuel poverty from a combination of official 
statistics and subsequent movements in energy prices. These are only as reliable as the data that 
underpins them but these estimates for the last two years for Great Britain are included in the 
following table12.

10 Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC):  Annual Report on Fuel Poverty Statistics, May 2013. 
11 More current fuel poverty statistics at a national level have been made, either by the Department of Energy and Climate 
Change (DECC) or the respective national Governments. These updates are included where relevant in the country reports.    
12 In addition, the Association for the Conservation of Energy (ACE)’s Fuel Poverty 2014 update for the UK at the start of 
2014, estimated that 6.59 million households were in fuel poverty (under the 10% measures), almost exactly one in four UK 
households.

16
Tudalen y pecyn 51



Country Number of 
households 
(millions)

% of households Not fuel poor

England (10% definition) 5.10 23.7% 16,490,614
England (LIHC definition) 2.79 13.0% 18,800,197
Scotland 1.11 47.7% 1,218,425
Wales 0.52 41.0% 747,919
Great Britain (10% definition) 6.74 million c. 26% 18.45 million

Table 2: Fuel poverty levels by country in Great Britain in 2013 (CSE)

Whilst the lag between the official statistics reduced our ability to deduce the current official 
scale of fuel poverty across the UK and Great Britain, the increases presented between the two 
tables are alarming. As noted above, the second set of figures needs to be treated with some 
caution. One of the key factors driving the increases in fuel poverty based on the 10% definition 
is the continuing rise in the price of domestic energy. Whilst no UK-wide projections were 
released alongside the last set of UK-wide statistics, the Westminster Government estimated that 
price rises in the latter part of 2011 would have led to an increase of around 0.4m households 
in fuel poverty in 2012 in England. This results in 3,900,000 fuel-poor households in England in 
2012, 18.5% of all households.

According to the Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC)’s own figures, the average 
prices of gas and electricity paid by UK households have risen by around 18% and 9% (in real 
terms) respectively, since 2010 and by around 41% and 20% (in real terms) respectively, since 
200713. Further estimates of the increase of the average annual dual-fuel domestic energy bill  
and price differentials between payment methods in 2011 (the last year for which publicly 
available statistics on fuel poverty levels across the UK are available) and the present day 
are presented in tables below. As briefly highlighted above and explored further within the 
England section, under the new measurement of fuel poverty in England the overall headcount 
of fuel poverty is unlikely to be moved significantly by changes in energy prices. However, the 
‘fuel poverty gap’ is a new and integral part of the new official measurement of fuel poverty in 
England. Unlike the overall headcount measure under the LIHC definition, the fuel poverty gap 
indicates the impact energy prices have on the depth of the problem (for those households on 
the lowest incomes and with high energy costs). This can be summed for all households that 
have both low-incomes and high costs to give an aggregate fuel poverty gap.  

Both the aggregate and individual fuel poverty gap increases capture the impact of rising 
energy prices. For example, updated figures released by DECC in August 2013 illustrate that the 
aggregate and average fuel poverty gap is projected to increase in 2012 and 2013 (from £438 in 
2011 to £494 in 2013) and the aggregate gap is projected to increase from £1 billion in 2011, to 
£1.2 billion in 2013. This means that fuel-poor householders in England have to spend over £1 
billion  more a year compared to non-fuel-poor householders.  

13 These figures do not take into account the price increases announced in 2013 or the outcomes from the 2013 Autumn 
Statement. 

17
Tudalen y pecyn 52



Table 3: Highlighting average annual dual-fuel energy bill, 1 January 2005-1 January 
2014

Table 4: Price differentials between payment methods, 1 January 2005-1 January 2014. 
Big 6 energy suppliers

Payment 
method

Average annual dual fuel bill: Big 6 energy suppliers
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Monthly Direct 
Debit

£557 £640 £843 £752 £1,069 £1,012 £1,021 £1,195 £1,264 £1,190

Quarterly cash/
cheque

£595 £690 £903 £818 £1,153 £1,104 £1,110 £1,294 £1,355 £1,274

Prepayment 
meter

£628 £726 £955 £866 £1,157 £1,099 £1,093 £1,276 £1,349 £1,268

Overall average £594 £686 £900 £812 £1,126 £1,072 £1,075 £1,255 £1,322 £1,244

18
Tudalen y pecyn 53



The analysis in this section shows that the extent and depth of fuel poverty across the UK is 
growing and as the next section illustrates, energy prices are predicted to continue to rise 
beyond inflation across the United Kingdom for the foreseeable future. Whilst there are 
differences in the extent of divergence of this premise across the nations, based on current 
policies, the extent of current and future price increases will continue to contribute to an 
expected increase in fuel poverty levels (for those countries that have a definition based on the 
10% measurement, ie Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland) and the depth of fuel poverty in 
England under the new Low-income High Cost measurement without adequate action.

19
Tudalen y pecyn 54



SECTION THREE

The impact of levies on bills within Great 
Britain

According to the Government’s Fuel Poverty Advisory Group in England, since 2005, consumer 
gas prices have risen by over 120%, retail electricity prices have risen over 75%, and the cost of 
liquid heating fuels has more than doubled in the UK14. Against this backdrop the Government 
is seeking to secure an estimated £200bn of investment which is required to transform Great 
Britain’s energy infrastructure15. Final consumer bills are currently made up of wholesale energy 
commodity costs, transmission and distribution network costs, metering and other supply costs, 
supplier margins, VAT and the impacts of social, energy and climate change mitigation-related 
policies. In recent years, wholesale commodity prices have been cited as the principal reason for 
the extent of recent domestic price rises, however, on the 13 November 2013, the National Audit 
Office published a report entitled ‘Infrastructure investment: the impact on consumer bills’16. 
The report noted utility bills will continue to increase (above inflation) across GB over the next 
ten years to fund large-scale infrastructure spending. This is because the majority of the costs 
of the Government’s Electricity Market Reforms (EMR) are likely to be recovered through GB 
electricity bills17 . 

The Westminster Government has already confirmed that funding raised from levies on 
consumer energy bills, under the Levy Control Framework (LCF), will rise to £7.6bn in real 
terms in 2020/21 and could equate to £9.8bn a year when the final limit is set in nominal terms 
on revised ONS and OBR numbers. The LCF budget is currently circa £2.35 billion.  According 
to the Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC)’s own figures, the costs of energy and 
climate change policies are estimated to have contributed around 15% of the increases since 
2010 and by 2020 policy costs will make up a significantly higher proportion of the average 
domestic electricity bill. This will have undoubted impact on the realisation of current national 
fuel poverty aspirations or targets as within the same document the Government also noted that 
poorer households are typically hit hardest by rises in energy prices. 

However, the Government also claims that the ‘average impact’ of policies on household energy 
bills in 2020 is estimated to be an 11% reduction on what they would have been in 2020 without 
these policies. The table below notes the amounts various policies are assumed by Government 
to add to domestic energy bills now, in 2020 and in 2030. 

14 Fuel Poverty Advisory Group for England 11th Annual Report, December 2013. 
15 Ofgem, 2009, Project Discovery report
16 National Audit Office, Infrastructure investment: the impact on consumer bills, 13 November 2013. 
17 The UK Government has exempted Northern Ireland generators from the Carbon Price Floor. This is an important concession 
for generators in Northern Ireland to ensure they can compete on a level playing field with generators in the Republic of Ireland. 
The UK Government and the Northern Ireland Executive have also agreed that because the Single Electricity Market in Ireland 
(SEM) already uses a capacity mechanism, the Capacity Market will apply across Great Britain only.

20
Tudalen y pecyn 55



Table 5: Breakdown of estimated average impact of energy and climate change 
policies on average gas and electricity household energy bills (including VAT)18

The current situation has gained a high public profile after it was noted by the Prime Minister 
that in response to these issues (and a concern about soaring energy bills more generally) 
he wished to roll back some green charges that were adding to domestic energy bills19. This 
prompted a succession of meetings between the ‘Quad’, Treasury, Number 10 advisors and 
Energy Ministers which culminated in a ‘Green Levy Review’. The ‘Review’ did not set out any 
clear terms of reference or formally consult with stakeholders  and soon honed its focus to 
narrowly consider the Warm Homes Discount Scheme (which provides low-income pensioners 
with an automatic energy rebate) and the Energy Company Obligation. In the build up to the 
Statement, NEA noted to Government it was perverse that the focus of this investigation was 
directed exclusively on programmes that can support low-income households and help them 
directly reduce their energy bills (or simply keep warmer in their homes). On the 5th December, 
the Chancellor outlined the Government’s response.

The next section explores the full impact of the 2013 Autumn Statement on the existing 
dedicated support in ECO for low-income and vulnerable households, whereas the remainder 
of this section provides an overview of NEA’s own analysis investigating the extent to which 
domestic electricity consumers contribute to carbon taxes and VAT revenues. According to 
many authoritative commentators, these levies are currently recovered regressively and can 
exacerbate energy-related hardship without necessarily contributing to enhanced environmental 
(or social) goals.

18 Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC): Estimated impacts of energy and climate change policies on energy prices 
and bills, Annex F, March 2013. 
19 Hansard, Prime Minister’s Questions, October 23rd 2013.

21
Tudalen y pecyn 56



However, if these issues were properly addressed and these sources of funding were used to 
help lever additional revenue into national schemes, potentially helping to bring all UK housing 
occupied by low-income households up to the standard of a new home built today, we could 
substantially reduce domestic energy bills, fuel poverty and bring about major benefits to society 
(as well as presenting a key opportunity to create much needed jobs within the energy efficiency 
industry) across Great Britain. This would bring multiple benefits including more energy-
efficient homes, more affordable energy bills, carbon reduction, reduced health and care costs 
and economic growth through additional jobs created and increase money circulating in poorer 
communities. 

The aggregate revenue the Treasury will receive from domestic electricity consumers in Great 
Britain from the EU Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS) and the Carbon Price Floor (CPF) is 
therefore presented in the table below.

Table 6: Aggregate contribution by the average GB electricity consumer to revenue 
to the Treasury from the EU Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS) and the Carbon Price 
Floor (CPF)

2013 2020 2030
EU ETS (£m) 338.0 574.7 2,264.8
CPF (£m) 202.8 1,690.2 1,622.6
Total (£bn) 0.54 2.3 3.9

Whilst both these measures (the ETS and the Carbon Price Floor) will inevitably lift the market 
price for energy (and hence the consumer will almost certainly pay more in the short to medium 
term), it is important to note that the CPF does not contribute to overall carbon emission 
reductions across Great Britain. In addition, it must also be noted that approximately 10% of GB 
domestic electricity customers are reliant on electricity as their main heating fuel. 

This distinction has a dramatic effect on the amount of electricity used annually, thus the 
contribution these households will make towards these policies will be much higher than that 
of the average householder (and would also therefore increase the aggregate figures). It is also 
worth noting that a larger proportion of low-income households are reliant on electric central 
heating. 

On top of the carbon levies, the Treasury also receives 5% VAT on energy bills. Using the 
weighted average bill (i.e the median of three DECC scenarios on possible future domestic 
electricity prices), the contribution individual domestic electricity consumers make in VAT, and 
the overall aggregate tax receipts from domestic electricity customers are shown in tables 3 and 
4 respectively. VAT receipts have been calculated identically to the method for carbon levies. 

Table 7: Average VAT paid on domestic electricity bills per household (£)

2013 2020 2030
Low 31.50 36.47 39.58
Medium 31.50 41.44 44.97
High 31.50 45.38 49.53

22
Tudalen y pecyn 57



Table 8: Aggregate VAT receipts to Treasury paid on domestic electricity bills (£m)

2013 2020 2030
Low 965.03 1,117.41 1,212.64
Medium 965.03 1,269.78 1,377.71
High 965.03 1,390.41 1,517.39

The tables above help illustrate that on top of the aggregate contribution by the average 
electricity consumer to revenue accruing to the Treasury by carbon levies, the Treasury  also 
generated c. £965m in 2013 on VAT on domestic electricity bills, at £31.50 per household and 
this figure increases substantially in the future. However, these estimates are all based on the 
Government’s own assumptions regarding energy consumption and this includes an assumption 
that EU products policy will increase the domestic energy efficiency of electric appliances 
substantially. For example, DECC’s estimated impacts of energy and climate change policies 
on energy prices and bills report, on which our assumptions are based, assumes that tighter 
efficiency standards for household energy appliances are expected to deliver an average annual 
saving of around £158 per household in 2020 (including around £25 per household through 
more efficient TVs and set-top boxes, £25 through more efficient consumer electronics and 
around £20 through more efficient lighting). 

Many stakeholders have questioned the extent to which products policy will deliver these 
assumed savings, in particular the ability of low-income households to realise these savings, 
as they are unlikely to be able to afford to upgrade their appliances and white goods over 
this period without a capital grant, and are more likely to buy second-hand and more energy 
inefficient appliances. In addition, once again, if the effect of domestic electricity customers 
that are reliant on electricity as their main heating fuel was also included (and the higher 
contribution these households make, taken into account) this would also increase the aggregate 
figures. However, what the analysis does show, regardless of the impact of various assumptions, 
both carbon revenue and VAT receipts will increase substantially in the coming years and this 
will further strain the finances of particularly low-income households and will impact the 
attainment of national fuel poverty targets. 

The concluding piece of analysis investigates the impact of applying 5% of VAT to the bottom 
line of the energy bill, which means also applying VAT on top of the aforementioned carbon 
levies. Essentially, the current practice of applying 5% tax on top of another form of tax should 
be classed as double taxation as the domestic consumer is paying for two carbon policies (the 
EU ETS as well as the Carbon Floor Price) but is then being charged VAT on top of that figure. 
The quantum this yields has been calculated below, and the assumptions are based on the 
Westminster Government’s own analysis. 

This practice increases HM Treasury yields from VAT by £27.04m last year, up to £113.24m by 
2020 and an estimated £194.37m by 2030. Whilst the sums may not be staggeringly large, what 
is presented is just the VAT applied to carbon taxes from GB domestic electricity consumers (and 
this practice is also currently replicated across all consumer-funded levies and non-domestic 
consumers). The estimated impact of VAT being applied on top of EU ETS and CPF to other levies 
paid by all electricity consumers was £137.15m last year, £397.67m by 2020 and £464.52m 

23
Tudalen y pecyn 58



by 2030. In addition, the analysis is based on the conservative assumptions about electricity 
consumption noted above. 

We fully recognise the need to meet the requirements under the 2008 Climate Change Act to 
reduce greenhouse gases by 80 per cent by 2050 and the Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009. 
However the current approach to delivering these outcomes will transfer billions of pounds 
each year of GB domestic energy consumers’ money directly back into HM Treasury, adding 
a minimum of £67 to the average annual fuel bill per year, by 202020 . As has been noted, the 
current situation can be addressed, without sacrificing (and indeed enhancing) a commitment 
to environmental aspirations or targets but this requires enhanced political will and a potential 
recognition that the current suite of policies (either at a national or UK level) are not sufficient 
to protect households from rising energy costs and, in particular, protect the poorest households 
from living in fuel poverty.   

20 DECC, 2013, Estimated impacts of energy and climate change policies on energy prices and bills

24
Tudalen y pecyn 59



SECTION FOUR

Heating and insulation programmes in the UK

As noted in the introduction, National Energy Action (NEA), Energy Action Scotland (EAS), NEA 
Cymru and NEA Northern Ireland work to increase investment in energy efficiency to tackle fuel 
poverty in vulnerable households. We believe that radically improving the fabric and heating of 
homes represents the most cost effective long-term solution for tackling high domestic energy 
bills and eradicating fuel poverty. For many years, we have highlighted that rising fuel costs 
and stagnating or decreased incomes have been exacerbated by the United Kingdom’s woefully 
energy-inefficient housing stock. Despite these warnings, poor housing standards continue to 
impair the physical and psychological health of millions of UK households. 

As has been noted previously, heating and insulation standards are assumed to be primarily the 
responsibility of the devolved administrations and fundamentally different approaches now 
exist, with Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland continuing to support and develop their own 
nationally-funded heating and insulation programmes to prioritise assistance to low-income 
vulnerable households. 

The levels of resources directed at the different national energy efficiency programmes are 
illustrated within the country reports however it was also hoped that this could be illustrated 
by comparing the investment per pounds spent per household or domestic customer within 
the different nations. This assessment is not possible without making assumptions on the 
extent to which the GB-wide ECO programme currently defrays across the respective nations. 
The challenge of making an accurate prediction on this was highlighted in a response to a 
Parliamentary Question where it was stated that it was not possible to produce accurate 
estimates of expenditure under supplier-led energy efficiency schemes below Great Britain 
level, especially for the different elements of the ECO programme. This is also compounded by 
the likelihood of revisions to the policy noted below and a lack of standardisation of national 
reporting on the total budgets per year per national energy efficiency programme within the 
respective countries. No per household estimate has therefore been made. What is presented 
below consequently is a summary of existing national programmes without ECO along with 
information on the current budgets available for these programmes.    

25
Tudalen y pecyn 60



Table 9: Investment on energy efficiency programmes for low-income households 
or communities within the different nations (2013-14 - all figures given in £millions) 
without ECO

Energy efficiency programme England Scotland Wales Northern 
Ireland

Boiler replacement scheme investment £4.8m
Green Deal communities £80m
HEEPS: area based scheme £60m
HEEPS: energy assistance scheme £16m
Nest and Arbed £36m
Nest and Arbed (top up) £8m
Warm Homes fund £18.75m
Warm Homes investment £16m
Totals c. £80m c. £94.75m c. £44m c. £20.8m
Investment per domestic electricity 
consumer (£) £3.52 £36.48 £31.31 £27.55

*Note: Figures do not include contributions from ECO as there has been no target set to lever a target proportion 
of the ECO programme across all eligible countries. Where national incentives have been developed to 
encourage ECO leverage, these are commented upon within the respective country reports.

In England, the Treasury-funded Warm Front scheme closed in January 2013 and was replaced 
by the Westminster Government with the Energy Company Obligation (ECO). As well as 
intending to compensate for the loss of Warm Front in England (as well as the other previous 
GB-wide supplier-funded initiatives like the Carbon Emissions Reduction Target and the 
Community Energy Saving Programme21), the ECO is also disbursed across Scotland and Wales, 
with Northern Ireland remaining excluded from this programme22. The table below shows how 
expenditure to address fuel poverty through heating and insulation improvements at a GB-level 
has been reduced compared with previous funding levels in recent years.

Table 10: Nominal (not actual) expenditure on energy efficiency programmes 2010-
2011 and 2013-2014

GB wide programme 2010-2011 2013-2014
Community Energy Saving Programme £117 million N/A
Carbon Emissions Reduction Target (Priority Group23) £654 million N/A
Energy Company Obligation (AW and CSCO) N/A £540 million
Total expenditure £771 million £540 million

*Note: The actual spend may be lower or higher than Government impact assessments predicted as shown in the 
table above but this is deemed to be commercially sensitive information and not available.

21 According to the Association for the Conservation for Energy (ACE)’s Fuel Poverty 2014 update, funding for insulation under 
ECO, compared to CERT and CESP, has resulted in a 74% reduction in Cavity Wall Insulation, 90% reduction in Loft Insulation and 
a 68% reduction in Solid Wall Insulation.  
22 As noted in the country report, in Northern Ireland, the Northern Ireland Sustainable Energy Programme (NISEP) imposes a 
levy on electricity bills equivalent to around £7 per customer which is set to move to an Energy Efficiency Obligation made up of 
a levy across all fuels, including the non-regulated oil industry. 

26
Tudalen y pecyn 61



Given the increasing cost of energy facing UK households, and the pressing deadlines for Wales 
and Scotland to meet their national fuel poverty targets, these reductions were and still are a 
key source of concern. In addition, the reduced scale of the ECO in future years will continue to 
seriously exacerbate the problem.  The following section therefore attempts to highlight the main 
changes that are likely to be introduced to the Energy Company Obligation (from April 2014 
and/or March 2015 to the end of the current obligation in March 2017) and investigates their 
relevance to GB-wide delivery of energy efficiency. 

The ECO currently places an obligation on energy suppliers to deliver heating and energy 
efficiency measures to domestic energy users24. The current ECO consists of three separate 
targets which energy suppliers are required to meet by 31 March 201525:

•	 The Carbon Emissions Reduction Obligation (CERO) target (c.£760m p.a.): 20.9 MtCO2 
lifetime savings from the installation of Hard-to-treat Cavity Wall Insulation (HTT CWI) or 
Solid Wall Insulation (SWI), or other insulation measures packaged with these two primary 
measures26 

•	 The Carbon Saving Communities Obligation (CSCO) target (c. £190m p.a.): 6.8 MtCO2 
lifetime savings from installation of a wider list of insulation measures to low-income areas 
(households in the 15% lowest Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) areas 

•	 CSCO Rural Safeguard: at least 15 % of the CSCO target must be achieved by promoting 
measures to households on AW benefits in rural areas

•	 The Affordable Warmth (AW) or Heat Cost Reduction Obligation (HCRO) target (c. 
£350m p.a.): £4.2bn reduction in lifetime notional space and water heating costs through 
the installation of insulation measures or heating technologies. Only privately rented or 
owned households on certain benefits are eligible

Despite initial concerns expressed by the obligated parties that the Affordable Warmth element 
would present difficulties in terms of targeting and costs, the aggregate progress to meeting 
these targets is noted overleaf.   

23 Suppliers were required to meet 40% of their total target by delivering measures to a ‘Priority Group’ of vulnerable and low-
income households, including those in receipt of eligible benefits and pensioners over the age of 70 and 15% of the savings 
needed to be achieved in a subset of low-income households (a Super Priority Group) considered to be at high risk of fuel 
poverty. Under the scheme there was little incentive for the assessor/installer to log detailed financial and personal details of 
households that would identify them as SPG. In a piece of qualitative research NEA undertook over 7,872 households that had 
received energy efficiency measures between August 2010 and October 2012 under the Priority Group of the CERT programme, 
almost one in five (19.1%) respondents recalled having received the Cold Weather Payment in the last two years and NEA 
subsequently estimated a total of 18.4% of the sample met the SPG criteria.
24 Only suppliers that have more than 250,000 domestic customer accounts and supply more than certain specified amounts of 
electricity or gas are obligated to deliver the targets. The current ECO targets in legislation are for the period 1 January 2013 to 
31 March 2015. In introducing the original phase of ECO beginning from 1 January 2013, the Westminster Government noted it 
expected ECO to continue at a broadly similar level of ambition until at least the end of 2022.
25 These figures are based on the estimated annual cost to suppliers in 2011 prices, from the DECC ECO Impact Assessment, 
2012. 
26 A full list of the current primary and secondary measures under the ECO obligations is available on the Ofgem website.

27
Tudalen y pecyn 62



Table 11: Illustrates how suppliers are progressing towards their current obligations

Despite this progress, the interventions announced in the 2013 Autumn Statement have 
prompted the release of a consultation on the future of the ECO scheme27. Subject to the outcome 
of this consultation, the Government proposes to make the following changes to ECO in the 
current obligation period (ending March 2015):

•	 To reduce the March 2015 Carbon Emissions Reduction Obligation (CERO) target by 33 per 
cent. The March 2015 Carbon Saving Community Obligation (CSCO) and Affordable Warmth 
(also known as the Home Heating Cost Reduction Obligation (HHCRO) targets will remain 
the same. 

•	 Allow easy to treat cavity walls, loft insulation and district heating connections made from 1 
April 2014 to be included as an allowable primary measure under CERO.

•	 Enable obligated energy suppliers to carry forward a certain proportion of over delivery 
against their March 2015 targets to count towards their March 2017 targets.

•	 Enable obligated energy suppliers to deliver less than their share of the new 2015 CERO 
target, where this occurs the energy supplier would see its CERO obligation for March 2017 
increase by 1.1 times its shortfall in March 2015 (however this flexibility would not apply 
to the Affordable Warmth or CSCO targets, with both remaining enforceable compliance 
deadlines at 31 March 2015).

•	 Enable obligated companies that have delivered primary measures of more than 35 per 
cent of Phases 1 and 2 of their current CERO target, by the end of March 2014, to receive 
1.75 times the carbon score for primary measures delivered to that date (or to adjust these 
suppliers’ CERO targets to provide for the same effect). This uplift would only apply to 
primary measures under CERO and not to the other two ECO obligations.

27 Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC): The Future of the Energy Company Obligation, March 2014.

28
Tudalen y pecyn 63



•	 Extend the CSCO element of ECO from 15 per cent to the 25 per cent lowest areas on the 
Index of Multiple Deprivation. In addition, the qualifying criteria for the CSCO rural sub-
obligation would be simplified by allowing suppliers to deliver against this sub-target to any 
domestic property located in the poorest quarter of rural areas, as well as to people living in 
rural areas who are members of the Affordable Warmth Group. These changes are proposed 
to apply for measures installed from 1 April 2014.

Reduced resources for hard-to-treat homes  

The principal change overall is that total resources under the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) 
are reduced. As noted above, ECO resources were initially insufficient considering the scale and 
depth of fuel poverty across Great Britain and this situation is now even more acute. 

The 33 % reduction to CERO target will reduce the cost of delivering the target through directly 
reducing the amount of carbon abatement required. This change, coupled with uplifted scores for 
early CERO delivery and the ability of obligated energy suppliers to have increased flexibility for 
delivery of measures under CERO (by increasing the number of eligible measures that they have 
a choice to deliver in order to comply) and increased flexibility when they choose to deliver their 
obligations, will reduce the key role ECO resources currently play in supporting domestic energy 
efficiency schemes in Wales and Scotland, especially given the propensity of solid wall and hard-
to-treat properties within these countries28 and further undermine the sole programme to tackle 
fuel poverty through improved energy efficiency in England. The table below summarises the 
impact on hard-to-treat measures based on DECC’s recently released impact assessment:    

Table 12: Difference of hard-to-treat ECO measures installed (current vs. proposed 
targets)

Element of ECO Hard-to-treat measures - current ECO targets
1 Jan 2013-31 Mar 2015 1 Apr 2015-31 Mar 2017

Hard-to-treat cavity wall 602,000 612,000
Internal solid wall 26,000 63,000
External solid wall 44,000 28,000

Hard-to-treat measures - proposed ECO targets
1 Jan 2013-31 Mar 2015 1 Apr 2015-31 Mar 2017

Hard-to-treat cavity wall 251,000 354,000
Internal solid wall 16,000 40,000
External solid wall 41,000 25,000
Difference in numbers of hard-
to-treat measures

In total there are estimated to be 634,000 fewer hard-to-treat 
measures (608k HHT CWI, 7k ISW and 8k ESW)

27 Around 27,500 SWI measures were installed under ECO up to end of December 2013.

29
Tudalen y pecyn 64



Subject to the outcome of this consultation, the Government also proposes to make the following 
changes to ECO within the obligation period commencing on 1 April 2015.

•	 The Westminster Government has stated it is committed to maintaining the current level of 
support under Affordable Warmth and therefore proposes that there should be no change 
to the 2015 target for Affordable Warmth and that the target proposed for 2017 will not 
compromise the level of resources being directed to low-income and vulnerable households.

•	 To allow an uplifted Affordable Warmth score for measures delivered to households whose 
main fuel type is not natural gas.

•	 To provide that electric storage heaters, that are broken or not functioning efficiently, 
which are repaired or replaced under Affordable Warmth are scored in the same way as a 
“qualifying boiler” and in doing so, receive a higher notional bill saving.

•	 To require all boiler replacements delivered under Affordable Warmth to include a minimum 
warranty.

•	 To improve the transparency and availability of cost information relating to delivery of 
the ECO scheme, in particular, to investigate and potentially intervene on the extent of 
householder contributions being sought 

•	 The Government are also consulting on introducing an additional safeguard to ensure CERO 
measures are delivered to low-income households to address the distributional impact of 
ECO.

•	 Green Deal Advice Report (GDAR) required for all measures funded by ECO from 1 April 
201529 . The rationale for requiring that all measures funded through ECO should be 
recommended on the basis of a GDAR (except for in the exceptional case of blocks of flats) is 
to ensure that all ECO measures are installed by an appropriate professional and to ensure 
alignment with the Green Deal.

The on and off gas divide

Current delivery through Affordable Warmth has almost exclusively been delivered to low-
income households on the gas network. Whilst it is anticipated that this situation may improve 
with the changes proposed within the consultation, the table below notes the extent to which 
these proposals could potentially lead to a real step change in provision for low-income 
households off the gas network. 

Table 13: Percentage of ECO delivery to non-gas fuelled households within AW 
(current and proposed levels)

Fuel type Current Consultation scenario % change
Electricity 1% 7% +7%
Other 1% 5% +4%
Gas 98% 88% -108%

Note: The scenarios presented above are based on an assumption that the uplifts applied to Affordable Warmth 
scoring for measures delivered to households whose main fuel type is not natural gas are sufficient and that 
suppliers find it attractive to repair or replace electric storage heaters as a result of the proposed higher notional 
bill saving. 

29 Up to the end of September 2013 20 % of CSCO measures and 16 % of CERO measures were accompanied by a GDAR. The 
statistics indicate that less than 1 % of AW measures were delivered with a GDAR.92 This suggests that the change could impose 
a binding constraint in the real world and could therefore have an impact on ECO delivery costs.

30
Tudalen y pecyn 65



To date very few (under 100) measures have been installed within the rural safeguard, no 
affordable warmth eligible households have had solid wall insulation installed and 95 per cent of 
all ECO measures have been installed in gas-fuelled properties (with 4 per cent installed in those 
fuelled by electricity and 1 per cent installed in those fuelled by other fuels30). Looking at AW 
only, this percentage falls, with 98 per cent being delivered to households with gas and 1 per cent 
installed in those fuelled by electricity and 1 per cent installed in those fuelled by other fuels.31  
This is despite low-income households off the gas network potentially benefiting most from 
these measures (and fuel-poor properties in England with oil, solid fuel, LPG or electricity having 
individual fuel poverty gaps double the average, typically over £1000).

The primary reason cited for this was that off gas and rural properties often require more 
expensive interventions for space and water heating and thermal standards of dwellings are 
likely to be less attractive or cost-effective, compared to households with cavity walls. Very 
few insulation measures have therefore been provided to these households and whilst all fuel 
types are theoretically eligible under HHCRO scheme rules for boiler repair or replacement, 
ECO-obligated suppliers were (or are) not typically funding heating oil or LPG boiler repairs or 
replacements due to the higher costs and additional complexities of delivering these boilers or 
heating systems. 

This issue was also combined with one of the scoring rules used for the replacement of a 
“qualifying boiler”, which assumed that when a boiler (of any type) is broken or not functioning 
efficiently, and cannot be economically repaired, the household is using an electric room heater 
to heat their home throughout the lifetime of a new boiler. Consequently the notional bill savings 
that result from replacing a “qualifying boiler” with a gas fuelled boiler are particularly large. 

This scoring rule was adopted because the Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) does not have 
a means of calculating the heating bill of a household when a boiler is broken or not functioning 
efficiently and cannot be economically repaired. An assumption was therefore required about 
what technology households use to heat their homes. This, coupled with the increased cost of 
delivering heating measures to off gas households, has meant that heating measures have been 
delivered to gas fuelled households. 

The proposed changes outlined in the consultation to allow an uplifted Affordable Warmth score 
for measures delivered to households whose main fuel type is not natural gas may well help 
address the current absence of delivery for off gas households. However, it is also anticipated 
that, without maintaining or expanding the current reduction in lifetime notional space and 
water heating cost target (or introducing additional complementary resources) this could 
result in fewer heating measures being delivered within ECO. This concern is also partially 
mirrored by the proposal to require all boiler replacements delivered under Affordable Warmth 
to include a minimum warranty. Again, whilst this intervention is welcome (and low-income 
households receiving fully subsidised measures under the ECO should have the same standards 
and warranties available for consumers taking out a Green Deal plan), this additional cost could 
reduce the number of heating measures (or other insulation measures) being delivered within 
this element of ECO (if the estimated cost of the £350m p.a is to be met).   

30 DECC: The Future of the Energy Company Obligation: Assessment of Impacts, March 2014. 
31 ECO delivery statistics to the end of September 2013. 

31
Tudalen y pecyn 66



Rural Safeguards

The need to intervene to provide distributional equity for off gas and rural households was also 
partially recognised during the initial policy development before the policy went live. 15% of 
the Carbon Saving Communities target must be delivered on behalf of low-income vulnerable 
households in rural communities at an estimated cost of £25m a year. Currently, there are two 
ways in which a household may qualify to be eligible for activity in this section of the CSCO; if 
a household is within a settlement of fewer than 10,000 inhabitants and is in receipt of one of 
the qualifying benefits for the Affordable Warmth element of ECO or a household is within or 
adjoining one of the qualifying areas. From the outset of the ECO scheme concerns have been 
raised about the validity of the 10,000 inhabitant threshold. Whilst this number of inhabitants 
would be comparatively small for an urban settlement, this number of households could imply 
a community is still on-gas, potentially on the urban fringe. This will mean that the support that 
suppliers provide is unlikely to benefit deep rural areas which certainly won’t have access to the 
gas grid and therefore may be more reliant on comparatively expensive alternative heating fuels. 

These concerns are likely to be enhanced if the changes to the qualifying criteria for the CSCO 
rural sub-obligation allowed suppliers to deliver against this sub-target to any domestic property 
located in (or in the adjoining areas to) the rural IMD areas from 1 April 2014. This additional 
flexibility is anticipated to expand the number of eligible households from around 600,000 to 
around 1.3 million. 

Impact on the customer journey

It should be noted that the assessment above provides no investigation of the impact these 
changes will have on the potential accessibility of the ECO programme (or national schemes). For 
example, is the support provided free of charge or are contributions currently sought from the 
householder. The next section, individual country reports, investigates why this analysis has not 
been possible and also illustrates how the individuals’ energy efficiency customer journey may 
vary depending on these changes and to which country the householder belongs. For example, 
we have investigated how many different measures are available, what information is sought 
at the assessment stage and whether relevant advice is provided to the household. In turn, this 
helps highlight the differences between the approaches currently being taken across the UK 
and informs the potential barriers that inhibit these national (or GB-wide) programmes and 
culminates in a set of national recommendations at the end of each respective country report.

32
Tudalen y pecyn 67



SECTION FIVE

Country reports | England

As noted in the UK section, following the findings of the Independent Review of Fuel Poverty in 
England led by Professor John Hills, the Westminster Government has now confirmed that it will 
adopt a new and distinctive definition of fuel poverty compared to the other nations within the 
United Kingdom. The Low Income High Cost measurement of fuel poverty will now be used as 
the primary method of defining fuel poverty in England. The lLow Income High Cost  definition 
consists of two parts; the number of households that have both low incomes and high fuel costs 
and the depth of fuel poverty amongst these households. 

Whilst NEA stated that it has significant reservations about the threshold that will be used to 
determine whether a householder is considered to have high or reasonable energy costs32, by 
explicitly focusing on the overlap between low incomes and energy-inefficient properties (and 
reducing the impact increasing energy prices have to the headcount) this new approach has also 
heralded a continued commitment to tackle fuel poverty in England33. In the foreword to the Fuel 
Poverty: a Framework for Future Action which was presented to Parliament on July 10th 2013, 
the Secretary of State for Energy and Climate Change wrote:

	 “Fuel poverty is a real and serious problem faced by millions of households in the UK 		
	 today. It is a problem that leaves many facing difficult choices about where to spend their 	
	 limited income. It leaves many fearing for their health or the health of their children as they 	
	 live in a home seemingly impossible to heat. This Government is determined to act”34. 

The introduction of the new ‘fuel poverty gap’ also introduces a new dimension to investigate the 
depth of fuel poverty amongst affected households and represents the difference between the 
modelled fuel bill for each household, and the reasonable cost threshold for these households. 
As noted in the previous section investigating the impact of levies, this individual gap can also be 
summed for all households that have both low income and high costs to give an aggregate fuel 
poverty gap. 

Update on fuel poverty and policy 
framework in England

32 On the 29th July NEA welcomed the Energy and Climate Change Committee’s report into Energy Prices, Profits and Poverty. 
The report, which gathered evidence from a range of experts, including NEA, highlights many of the key risks with the current or 
planned approach to energy policy within the UK. The report noted that fuel costs can be below the median and yet still remain 
unaffordable and recommended to Government that it modified the new definition of fuel poverty to better reflect affordability.
33 The Bill received Royal Assent on 18 December, becoming the Energy Act 2013. 
34 More iinformation is available is available in Fuel Poverty: changing the framework for measurement Government response, 
Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC), July 2013.

33
Tudalen y pecyn 68



Whilst the overall headcount of fuel poverty is unlikely to be largely affected by changes in 
energy prices, the aggregate and individual fuel poverty gap does increase and largely captures 
the impact of increasing energy prices. For example, updated figures released by DECC in August 
2013 illustrate that the aggregate and average fuel poverty gap is projected to increase in 2012 
and 2013. The aggregate gap is projected to increase from £1 billion in 2011, to £1.2 billion in 
2013, and the average gap is projected to increase from £438 in 2011 to £494 in 2013.

The following table notes fuel poverty levels in England under both the previous 10% definition 
and the new measurement.  

Table 14: Fuel poverty in England from 2003-2013 under both definitions

Year 10% definition (000s) LIHC definition (000s) Fuel poverty gap (£m)
2003 1,222 2,441 606
2004 1,236 2,492 644
2005 1,529 2,428 752
2006 2,432 2,262 886
2007 2,823 2,357 904
2008 3,335 2,438 957
2009 3,964 2,486 1,060
2010 3,536 2,474 1,024
2011 3,202 2,390 1,047
2012 n/a n/a n/a
2013 5,109* 2,800* 1,200

*Note: Figures for 2012 and 2013 are not official fuel poverty figures and are based on the assumptions from 
other parties which extrapolates the incidence of fuel poverty from a combination of official statistics and 
subsequent movements in energy prices.

As noted above, the three main causes of fuel poverty or its depth are however largely unchanged 
and are well documented: poor energy efficiency of the housing stock; low income and high 
energy costs. These continued trends were illustrated when DECC released updated fuel poverty 
statistics in August 2013. The release of these statistics was the first time the Department had 
released comprehensive analysis and detailed breakdowns on households living in fuel poverty 
in England as well as sub-regional information under the new definition.  The analysis not only 
provides more detailed information regarding fuel poverty levels but also illustrates the depth of 
the problems facing some households, some of which have fuel poverty gaps more than double 
the size of the average fuel-poor household. Headline results include the following previously 
unknown information: 

•	 Households living in the most energy-inefficient dwellings (those with a SAP rating of E or 
below) are much more likely to be fuel-poor than those in more energy-efficient dwellings, 
and have higher fuel poverty gaps.

•	 Only 7 per cent of households with a condensing boiler are fuel-poor, making them less likely 
to be fuel-poor than households with other types, particularly back boilers. 

•	 Fuel-poor households that heat their properties with oil, solid fuel, LPG or electricity 
typically have individual fuel poverty gaps double the average, typically over £1000. 

34
Tudalen y pecyn 69



•	 Households with other non-cavity wall types (usually solid) are much more likely to be fuel-
poor than those with insulated cavity walls, and have much higher average fuel poverty gaps.

•	 Households in dwellings built before 1964 are more likely to be fuel-poor than those in more 
modern dwellings, and also tend to have the largest average fuel poverty gaps.

Whilst the change of definition may not have altered the underlying causes of fuel poverty, they 
do change the demographics of the ‘new fuel-poor’. Almost 1 million households with dependent 
children in England are now in fuel poverty (40% of all fuel-poor households), almost 1 in 5 lone 
parent households are in fuel poverty and there are 835,000 fuel-poor households containing 
someone with a long term illness or disability. However, whilst a lot of the commentary 
surrounding the new profile of who may be judged to be fuel-poor under the new measurement 
has been focused on the reduction of the number of low-income pensioner households being 
classed as fuel-poor, there continue to be 721,000 households in fuel poverty where the resident 
is 60 or over and this group also tends to have the highest fuel poverty gap, meaning that they 
would need to spend more than younger households to take them out of fuel poverty. 

Reforms set out in the Energy Act 2013 also require the Government to set an objective to 
address fuel poverty in England and to specify a date for achieving this. The Government must 
also publish a new strategy setting out how the new objective(s) will be realised. However, the 
Government’s legislation did not specify any specific targets in primary legislation and replaces 
the duty to eradicate fuel poverty with a new duty to simply address the situation of those 
households in fuel poverty. It also does not make clear the central role of energy efficiency in 
tackling fuel poverty. Instead, it leaves the objectives and strategies to ‘address’ fuel poverty 
to be set at a future date through a statutory instrument. Despite these flaws, as noted below, 
the changes mark a significant opportunity to establish a new primary objective for minimum 
energy efficiency targets for all fuel-poor households in England which are required to be met by 
specified dates. 

Since the changes were announced, NEA has been working with the End Fuel Poverty Coalition 
and the Government’s Fuel Poverty Advisory Group in England to propose a target of EPC band 
B by 2030 for all homes occupied by low-income households, and an interim target of EPC band 
D by 2020 and band C by 2025. EPC band B is the minimum standard for a home built today. 
Achieving the near-term target would have a huge impact on fuel poverty as more than 65% 
of fuel-poor households currently live in homes rated E, F or G (and these households are also 
responsible for circa 70% of the ‘aggregated fuel poverty gap’). 

Overview of current energy efficiency programmes  

Following the loss in January 2013 of the only publicly-funded energy efficiency scheme 
supporting fuel poverty, NEA has campaigned for the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) to be 
designed and adequately resourced to deliver a comprehensive energy efficiency programme for 
low-income households and communities. Regrettably, NEA believes that this has not proven to 
be the case. 

As the Energy and Climate Change Committee report into Energy Prices, Profits and Poverty 
noted; resources under the ECO are insufficient considering the scale and depth of fuel poverty 
and energy suppliers are not always the best delivery agents for fuel poverty policies. Supporting 

35
Tudalen y pecyn 70



the view of NEA in its witness statement, ECC also recommended that ECO expenditure should 
be primarily devoted to fuel-poor households and the Government also needed to reconsider 
the best way to incentivise take-up and funding of energy efficiency measures such as solid wall 
insulation. The Committee also recommended that more specialised resources are needed to 
tackle fuel poverty in rural areas, in particular to address the difficulties experienced by off-
gas grid customers. Critically, ECC also stated all of these aspects should be considered in the 
Government’s forthcoming fuel poverty strategy in England35 . 

The table below lists the historic resources provided to energy efficiency schemes targeted at 
low-income or fuel-poor households. The results reveal the extent to which resources in England 
have decreased since 2010. As the remainder of the section explores, the fundamental question 
of inadequate resources is also compounded by a range of other factors which comprise the 
suitability and efficiency of the current approach to adequately address the scale and depth of 
fuel poverty, however defined.      

35 The current approach has also been criticised by the Climate Change Committee (CCC) in its 5th progress report to 
Government on meeting the Carbon Budgets . The CCC highlighted the advantages of the new Scottish fuel poverty scheme 
which is tax funded and led by local authorities (HEEPs).
36 Delivered a range of thermal efficiency measures (new and replacement gas central heating and heating systems for off gas-
grid households). Measures were targeted at private tenure low-income and vulnerable households (households that are eligible 
to receive Cold Weather Payments) with a household SAP rating below 55.
37 Delivered a range of carbon saving measures, mainly insulation. Targeting of a ‘Super Priority Group’ was based on benefit 
receipt: Cold Weather Payment Group and Child Tax Credits where a householder has an income under £16k.
38 Suppliers were required to meet 40% of their total target by delivering measures to a ‘Priority Group’ of vulnerable and low-
income households, including those in receipt of eligible benefits and pensioners over the age of 70 and 15% of the savings 
needed to be achieved in a subset of low-income households (a Super Priority Group) considered to be at high risk of fuel 
poverty. Under the scheme there was little incentive for the assessor/installer to log detailed financial and personal details of 
households that would identify them as SPG. In a piece of qualitative research undertaken by NEA with 7,872 households that 
received energy efficiency measures under the Priority Group of the CERT programme between August 2010 and October 2012, 
almost one in five (19.1%) respondents recalled having received the Cold Weather Payment in the last two years. Consequently a 
total of 18.4% of the sample met the SPG criteria.
39 Community-based approach in partnership with local authorities to deliver insulation and heating measures (whole house 
approach incentivised). Targeted  using LSOA with high Index of Multiple Deprivation. 

Table 15: Resources directed towards energy efficiency schemes 2010 to present

Programme 2010 (£bn) 2011 (£bn) 2012 (£bn) 2013 to 
present (£bn)

Warm Front36 £0.36bn £0.11bn £0.10bn n/a
Carbon Emission Reduction 
Target CERT (Priority Group)37 
and 38  

£0.86bn
£0.654bn of 
which £0.19bn 
from SPG

C. £0.654bn of 
which £0.26bn 
from SPG

n/a

Community Energy Saving 
Programme (CESP)39 £0.11bn £0.11bn £0.11bn n/a

ECO (AW and CSCO) n/a n/a n/a £0.540bn
Totals £1.33bn £0.88bn £0.86bn £0.540bn

36
Tudalen y pecyn 71



Lack of effective resources 

As has been noted in the previous section, the extent to which the ECO programme currently 
defrays across the GB nations is largely unknown40. Therefore making a prediction on the extent 
to which the various strands of ECO will be delivered exclusively in England is hard to predict. 
Currently, an estimated 320,000 households are estimated to be supported under CSCO and 
a further 300,000 through AW up to the end of March 2015 across Great Britain. Under the 
Westminster Government’s scenarios for the revised policy, slightly fewer households (310,000) 
would continue to be supported through CSCO and the same number up to the end of March 
2015. 

As noted above, the Westminster Government has also announced that the scheme will be 
extended to March 2017. It is expected, should all the changes outlined in the previous section go 
ahead, the delivery from March 2015 to 2017 will again be broadly similar (290,000 supported 
through CSCO and 250,000 through AW)41.  

As a result of the limited impacts expected, the overall impact on fuel poverty alleviation is 
largely unchanged. It was previously estimated that the ECO (and any associated Green Deal 
measures) might remove between 125,000 and 250,000 households from fuel poverty over the 
period42 to 2023. As noted above, the Government has only modelled the impact of the proposed 
scenarios on the LIHC measure; this analysis shows that the proposed changes to ECO on fuel 
poverty (in England) by the end of 2016 (the original date for the eradication of fuel poverty) are 
to remove an additional 32,000 from fuel poverty, reduce the ‘aggregated fuel poverty gap’ by 
£18m and reduce the individual fuel poverty gap by only £143.

Barriers to accessibility and delivery of energy efficiency in England

Access to support under the Affordable Warmth element of ECO continues to be based on proxies 
to deliver assistance to low-income and vulnerable households. The following analysis illustrates 
the suitability of these current proxies to determine the vulnerability or susceptibility to fuel 
poverty or cold homes in England in light of their new definition in England. 

There are almost 2.9 million ECO-AW eligible households in England – representing 13.2% of all 
households. The proportion of properties occupied by an ECO-AW eligible household typically 
increases as the energy efficiency rating of dwellings worsens44. Almost half (48.8%) of all ECO-
AW eligible households live in properties with an energy efficiency rating band D. Indeed, almost 
90% (88.1%) of all ECO-AW eligible households live in properties rated D-G. However, despite 
this trend, just over a third (34.2%) of fuel-poor households are ECO-AW eligible – representing 
820,000 households all of which reside in properties rated C-G. Of the most energy efficient 
among these (band C) 30% are ECO-AW eligible compared to 28% of band G.  

41 DECC: The Future of the Energy Company Obligation: Assessment of Impacts, March 2014. 
42 Based on the previous 10% definition.
43 The principal reasons for these changes are that low-income households are estimated to make up a greater proportion of 
those receiving assistance through ECO under the Government’s preferred option, the AW would offer some additional support 
for low-income households off mains gas and the lower cost of delivery overall. The latter leads to a twin effect whereby the 
reduction in energy bills across all households, is countered by the benefits of the policy to the average fuel poverty gap, this 
means the average gap stays fairly constant between the two scenarios.
44 Of all G-rated properties, 18.8% of these are occupied by ECO-AW households whereas no A-rated property and just 2.2% of 
B-rated properties are occupied by such households.

37
Tudalen y pecyn 72



Given the poorer energy efficiency standards of the homes of this fuel-poor group one might 
expect the reverse to be true. Fuel-poor ECO-AW eligible households are more likely to live in an 
E-rated home than any other – 48.4%, whilst almost a third live in a D-rated property. A slightly 
higher proportion of fuel-poor households that do not qualify for ECO-AW live a home that is 
rated F or G than those that do qualify for assistance; 18.5% compared to 16.6% respectively.

TABLE 16: Energy efficiency rating band (SAP 2009) by Eligible for Affordable Warmth 
component of the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) compared to households in fuel 
poverty under the LIHC definition 

Eligible for 
Affordable Warmth 
component of the 
Energy Company 
Obligation (ECO)

TotalNo Yes
Energy Efficiency Rating C Count 40176 17195 57371

% within EE rating band 70.0% 30.0% 100.0%
% within Eligible ECO-AW 2.6% 2.1% 2.4%

D Count 517865 267985 785850
% within EE rating band 65.9% 34.1% 100.0%
% within Eligible ECO-AW 32.9% 32.8% 32.9%

E Count 723872 395625 1119497
% within EE rating band 64.7% 35.3% 100.0%
% within Eligible ECO-AW 46.0% 48.4% 46.8%

F Count 214041 105729 319770
% within EE rating band 66.9% 33.1% 100.0%
% within Eligible ECO-AW 13.6% 12.9% 13.4%

G Count 77431 30134 107565
% within EE rating band 72.0% 28.0% 100.0%
% within Eligible ECO-AW 4.9% 3.7% 4.5%

Total Count 1573385 816668 2390053
% within EE rating band 65.8% 34.2% 100.0%

% within Eligible ECO-AW 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

The analysis above highlights the poor match between current proxies to determine eligibility 
for ECO in light of the new definition in England.  

Supplier discretion to deliver energy efficiency improvements

As noted previously, even where eligible households exist, ECO-obligated energy suppliers have 
full discretion to determine the extent of support they (or their contractors/agents) provide to 
households and the measures they choose to install.  One of the main reasons for this concern 
is that suppliers may only provide a limited number of energy efficiency measures to eligible 
households, if at all. Where ECO contributions from suppliers are not sufficient to cover the 
full cost of heating systems (even to properties on the gas network), some basic insulation 
measures and certainly extensive insulation like solid wall, some fuel-poor households won’t 

38
Tudalen y pecyn 73



have any access to energy efficiency works (asides from the Green Deal Finance mechanism 
which the Government acknowledges is unsuitable for this group of households). Alternatively, 
HHCRO eligible households that have the work done will be asked for capital contributions 
that are variable and not subject to effective monitoring/scrutiny whilst some HHCRO eligible 
households will not be able to afford the contribution and will therefore miss out on assistance 
all together. 

Clearly, this issue is of paramount concern to the households themselves but equally under the 
current approach Local Authorities, Housing Associations and community-based organisations 
are increasingly being required to ‘cherry pick’ only relatively cost effective properties or 
projects on behalf of obligated suppliers (within or outside of a brokerage arrangement), 
regardless of whether a householder or the community (through CSCO) is eligible for support. 
This undermines the momentum of projects and complicates the communication of ‘the offer’ at 
a local or national level. 

The current approach in England has therefore been criticised by the Climate Change Committee 
(CCC) in its 5th progress report to Government on meeting the Carbon Budgets45. The CCC 
highlighted the advantages of the new Scottish fuel poverty scheme which is tax-funded and led 
by local authorities (HEEPs). As this report goes on to note, and this was equally highlighted by 
the CCC, one of the particular advantages of the scheme is that additional tax-funded support for 
local authorities in Scotland will help reduce delivery costs (and therefore suppliers will be able 
to fund the least costly measures but the ‘heavy lifting’ could be done by additional tax-funded 
resources) and therefore reduce the burden on energy consumers. 

These issues also link to an important consideration of the individuals’ customer journey and in 
particular what different measures are available. Whilst the number of gas heating systems has 
increased in ECO compared to the reduced scale and limited eligibility of the last years of the 
previous programme46, low-income householders in England are not benefiting from extensive 
measures like solid wall insulation or additional low cost measures alongside the primary 
measures that are being delivered. 

This contrasts with previous programmes like CESP which actively encouraged a whole-house 
approach and sought to maximise the affordability outcomes that could be realised in one 
household intervention. The lack of delivery of packages of measures is illustrated in the latest 
impact assessment which shows that the provisional number of measures delivered through 
Affordable Warmth up to the end of December was 239,456, with 202,348 individual or ’unique’ 
properties assisted. Once again, this undermines the potential to enhance the affordability or 
comfort outcomes associated with a household intervention and could undermine the ‘buy in’ or 
value that households place on energy efficiency overall47.  

45 Climate Change Committee (CCC), Meeting Carbon Budgets – 2013 Progress Report to Parliament, 26 June 2013.
46 Once again, the extent to which this comment applies to England specifically cannot accurately be deduced as a result of 
current reporting of the ECO scheme. 
47 This is because of the seeming requirement to return to the property at a later date to fit additional measures, either to meet 
carbon targets or to meet future minimum energy efficiency standards. 

39
Tudalen y pecyn 74



At the same time, local authorities and social housing providers are currently being encouraged 
to club together to negotiate directly with ECO providers or signpost the ECO (HHCRO and 
possibly CSCO) to the Energy Saving Advice Service (ESAS). Once referred into ESAS, the 
householder is asked a series of questions to determine whether they are likely to be eligible 
for the HHCRO or CSCO. The operational detail about this process has not been made publicly 
available, however, one key issue that is apparent is the need for a suitable protocol for where 
a local authority could be running Green Deal or ECO projects in their area (or alternative 
schemes) but this is not made clear to the caller (and therefore they may be unaware that 
the local scheme could offer a greater level of assistance or different or further energy saving 
measures). This issue highlights a broader challenge about the extent to which low-income 
householders are currently being effectively signposted for assistance.

The most critical tenure where this issue needs to be addressed is the private rented sector. 
From April 2016, domestic landlords in England and Wales should not be able to unreasonably 
refuse requests from their tenants for consent to energy efficiency improvements, where 
financial support is available from national or local schemes. It is also expected that from April 
2018, all private rented properties (domestic and non-domestic) should be brought up to a 
minimum energy efficiency standard rating, likely to be set at EPC rating “E”. It has been stated 
by the Government that this requirement will be subject to there being no upfront financial cost 
to landlords and therefore, until recently, it was assumed the tenant would have to rely on either 
the Green Deal and/or the Energy Company Obligation (ECO). 

Given the challenges to low-income households accessing the ECO programme (noted within 
this section or elsewhere), and the significant concern that the Green Deal is not an appropriate 
mechanism, there was a concern that compliance with these future regulations would fall on 
the tenant instead of the landlord or additional forms of public funding. However, in the 2013 
Pre-Budget Statement, a new energy efficiency grant to support private landlords to increase the 
energy-efficiency of their properties was announced which will improve around 15,000 of the 
least energy efficient rental properties each year for 3 years. Whilst details of the scheme have 
yet to be announced, it is hoped that the regulations will be drafted in a way which effectively 
and actively signpost this assistance and the resources overall will prioritise the needs of low-
income households. The need for this further intervention in Private sector housing couldn’t be 
more acute as this tenure continues to represent the least energy-efficient housing stock and 
contain a higher proportion of fuel-poor households. 

Table 17: Fuel Poverty by Tenure in England (LIHC measurement)

Tenure Number of 
households in 
fuel poverty 
(thousands)

Total number 
of households 
(thousands)

% of households in this 
group that are in fuel 
poverty

Owner occupied 2,081 14,368 14.5
Private rented 632 3,716 17.0
Local authority 262 1,816 14.4
Housing association 228 2,018 11.3
Total 3,202 21,918 14.6

40
Tudalen y pecyn 75



NEA believes that the Housing Health and Safety Rating System represents a precise and effective 
method of addressing cold, damp housing in the private rented sector. The key attribute is that 
landlords have the responsibility for ensuring the dwelling is fit for habitation and not perilous. 
However, local authority enforcement action has been minimal mainly as a result of limited 
resources and competing pressures on local authority Environmental Health Officers. 

In terms of improvements to social housing, the Decent Homes Standard (DHS) was originally 
devised as a means of improving housing in the social rented sector. Local authorities and 
Registered Social Landlords were set a target to achieve the standard across their entire housing 
stock by 2010. A key element of the Decent Homes Standard was the Thermal Comfort Criteria 
which specified energy efficiency standards that a property should meet to comply with the DHS; 
this included effective thermal insulation and efficient and controllable central heating. However, 
whilst the minimal specifications of the Decent Homes Standard increased energy efficiency 
standards compared to other tenures, the initial progress and investment by CLG failed to be 
sustained. 

The inevitable time lag in publishing official data means that the picture of progress towards 
compliance with the Decent Homes Standard is not completely accurate. However, the table 
below shows the incidence of inadequately heated and insulated dwellings in England in 2011, 
as measured by the Thermal Comfort element of the Decent Homes Standard. 

Table 18: Homes failing Decent Homes Standard on Thermal Comfort in England 2011

Tenure Number of homes % of homes
Owner-occupied 1,127,000 7.6%
Private rented 611,000 15.2%
Local authority 88,000 4.7%
Housing association 157,000 7.5%
All tenures 1,984,000 8.7%

The analysis of energy efficiency standards shows that a significant proportion of the stock is 
so poor that it failed even the extremely modest Thermal Comfort element of the Decent Home 
Standard. In percentage terms the highest incidence of properties failing on thermal comfort is 
once again to be found in the private rented sector and this tenure also has by far the highest 
proportion of properties where inadequate heating and insulation standards present hazardous 
living conditions. 

In recent years, as a result of a lack of adequate resources for heating and insulation 
improvement programmes within social housing, standard, social housing providers have 
sought to use ECO to continue to fund energy efficiency improvements within this sector. Once 
again, these investment plans have been badly affected by the hiatus and direct impacts caused 
by the changes to the ECO programme. Responses from an online survey conducted by the 
industry newsletter, Inside Housing, found two thirds, (70 per cent) of a sample of 47 housing 
associations in England said the changes to ECO would negatively impact their current retrofit 
plans either ‘dramatically’ or ‘significantly’. It found that 38 per cent predicted they would invest 
less money into hard-to-treat measures such as solid wall insulation as a result of the cuts to 
ECO. The survey also provided anecdotal evidence of the amount of time and money that has 
been wasted on securing ECO deals. Before the policy change was announced, 83 per cent of 
respondents had ECO deals in the pipeline - but just 40 per cent had completed any deals to date. 
The remaining projects are now under threat.

41
Tudalen y pecyn 76



Table 19: Other potential sources of funding for energy efficiency or emerging models

Health Sector 
•	 The public health function has now moved into local authorities as part of the Public 

Health Outcomes Framework. NEA is working to ensure Health and Wellbeing Boards 
(HWBs) and Public Health England (PHE) recognise fuel poverty reduction and the 
health impacts of cold homes as a priority issue and understand the opportunities and 
support provided by energy efficiency schemes. As well as supporting PHE and the Local 
Government Association to showcase innovative roles for local GPs to refer vulnerable 
patients into energy efficiency assistance programmes (and help them show how this 
form of intervention could complement their attempts to improve public health more 
generally) NEA is seeking to support attempts to create a joint fund across Government 
(DoH, DECC and CLG) to offer recurrent funding for public health initiatives that exploit 
the synergy between positive health outcomes and local or national attempts to reduce 
carbon emissions and fuel poverty. 

Involvement of Network Operators
•	 Ofgem have stated that DNOs have a key role to play in identifying fuel-poor and 

vulnerable customers and delivering solutions (either themselves or by partnering with 
others). They note that this will require a major cultural and behavioural shift and have 
set relevant outputs on DNOs new social obligations. DNO business plan submissions will 
need to demonstrate their strategy for realising this objective. The type of support a DNO 
provides may be in the form of direct assistance however, there may be opportunities 
for a DNO to signpost the services provided by third parties or refer customers directly 
to other agencies. In some instances Ofgem state that these activities may reveal 
benefits for the broader base of network users. For instance, measures enabling more 
efficient use of energy for fuel-poor households (through alternate heating technologies 
or in-home measures) which could offset the need for wider network reinforcement. 
Alternatively Ofgem state that a DNO may identify off-gas grid fuel-poor customers and 
could help in the delivery of additional assistance. This could involve liaising with a gas 
network to enable a connection to the gas grid, or helping to identify alternative electric 
heat technologies or household efficiency improvements and linking in with government 
schemes/other forms of assistance that could support their delivery. NEA welcomes the 
shape of future developments of industry practice in this area.  

•	 Gas distribution network companies are incentivised to connect fuel-poor households 
to the gas network following an economic assessment model and it is anticipated that 
80,000 households will have access to this cheaper heating fuel over the next 8 years. 
There is a need to link up this work with that of the DNOs and suppliers under ECO to 
provide a more holistic service

42
Tudalen y pecyn 77



Planning Consents and Low Carbon Development  
•	 A further opportunity is the potential for ‘allowable solutions’ from zero carbon 

developments that could boost energy efficiency retrofits for local authorities. CLG 
recently sought views on the sorts of measures which could be counted as Allowable 
Solutions. The consultation did not suggest a list of prescribed measures; however, 
indicative types of Allowable Solutions projects/measures have been identified. These 
could include the creation or expansion of sustainable energy infrastructure (eg district 
heating schemes) or retro-fitting of low carbon technologies in existing buildings, 
such as hard-to-treat solid wall insulation in existing housing, retro-fitting of existing 
communal buildings and non-domestic buildings. NEA therefore believe that there is 
an opportunity for allowable solutions (or Section 106 and CIL contributions) to help 
lever ECO or other sources of finance into tackling the least efficient homes, occupied 
by the poorest households.   

Both the lack of adequate resources and current piecemeal delivery of energy efficiency mean 
that there continues to be inadequate support and a lack of equal access for low-income and 
vulnerable households in England. The Westminster Government will shortly set out an objective 
to address fuel poverty in England and to specify a date for achieving this. The Government will 
also publish a new strategy setting out how the new objective(s) will be realised. It is not yet 
clear how the current ECO programme can be aligned to deliver ambitious minimum energy 
efficiency standards (of EPC band B by 2030 for all homes occupied by low-income households, 
and an interim target of EPC band D by 2020). 

Whilst the current proposals to reform the ECO may help address some underlying failures of 
the present scheme, the extent of the issues presented above underline why the UK Government 
must increase investment and expand resources directed to this area, especially for low-income 
households living in the worst properties and deprived areas. There are however some ‘quick fix’ 
solutions that we believe could address some of the issues highlighted within this country report 
(as part of the upcoming consultation and before the next election).

At a minimum, any households receiving support through ECO should know which supplier 
has originally funded that measure or work (within or outside of a brokerage arrangement). 
In addition, if Affordable Warmth eligible householders are being required to make capital 
contributions, the Government must take full responsibility for ensuring there is effective 
monitoring and scrutiny of exactly what contributions are being sought from households for 
different energy efficiency measures. This requirement could easily be incorporated into the 
existing sign off processes which must be undertaken once the measures are installed.    The 
Government should also look to intervene to provide a facility to ‘top up’ ECO to enable 
households who can’t make the relevant contributions to still benefit from the programme. 
Finally, the Government should activate existing powers which enable the Secretary of State 
to focus the delivery of energy efficiency programmes on specific types of people or specific 

England country report conclusions and 
recommendations

43
Tudalen y pecyn 78



geographical areas through secondary legislation. These powers would require the energy 
companies to follow up ‘mandated referrals’ with guaranteed assistance being provided to the 
specific householders. 

These reforms would in turn give far greater confidence to individuals and build much needed 
trust in the national scheme with local authorities and community based organisations to 
refer households for assistance or help carry out work themselves. However, whilst there are 
potential adjustments that can be made to the current policy, ECO resources would continue to 
be insufficient considering the scale and depth of fuel poverty and despite constrained public 
finances there is a need to dramatically enhance and supplement existing programmes and 
consider the most suitable delivery agents for these polices.  

It is important to stress that, even in times of public sector cuts, it is imperative that local 
authorities fulfil their current duties in relation to housing standards and actively enforce the 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) and act on guidance produced under the 
Home Energy Conservation Act (HECA). However, deep cuts to Council funding is making it more 
challenging for councils to maintain past levels of investment and support to help tackle fuel 
poverty and reduce domestic carbon emissions48. This is despite the obvious importance of them 
tackling (and fulfilling) their current duties. 

Whilst NEA has previously welcomed DECC’s Local Authority Competition, the Cheaper Energy 
Together scheme and the further funding for DECC’s Core Cities programme, none of these 
programmes is providing reliable recurrent funding arrangements to help local authorities or 
community groups. Given the increasingly recognised role of these key intermediaries to not only 
help build trust in community-based energy initiatives but also help reduce the costs of delivery 
and leverage local employment benefits, NEA would urge DECC to move beyond competition- 
based, non-recurrent funding models to galvanise local activity. The current method of funding 
currently discourages local authorities to invest in on going capacity and local supply chains 
(which undermines the potential to optimise delivery, help reduce the cost of delivery and fails to 
provide the signal to invest in community groups or local job opportunities).

In the longer term, as a minimum, NEA believes that DECC and the Department for Communities 
and Local Government (CLG) should develop a binding duty, which is well resourced, to 
ensure all Upper Tier Authorities play their key part in addressing fuel poverty, reducing 
domestic carbon emissions and supporting and facilitating emerging relevant public health 
responsibilities.

48 A survey undertaken by Consumer Focus of councils in 2012 revealed that the 21 councils who responded plan to spend £27 
million on energy efficiency from 2008 to 2012. Since this is not a statutory service, it has subsequently been noted that this can 
expect to reduce by much more than the headline 40% reduction in grants to local government.

44
Tudalen y pecyn 79



Key national recommendations 

1.	 The Westminster Government must set a target of EPC band B by 2030 for all homes 
occupied by low-income households, and an interim target of EPC band D by 2020 and 
band C by 2025. 

2.	 Public funding for heating and insulation measures for low-income and vulnerable 
households in England should be reinstated. The Warm Front programme terminated 
at the end of January 2013. England continues to be the only UK nation providing no 
direct financial support to enable vulnerable and financially disadvantaged households to 
improve heating and insulation standards in their homes. Scotland, Wales and Northern 
Ireland have all continued to maintain or even expand their tax-funded energy efficiency 
programmes. 

3.	 Any households receiving support through ECO should know which supplier has 
originally funded that measure or work (within or outside of a brokerage arrangement).  

4.	 The Westminster Government must take full responsibility for ensuring there is effective 
monitoring and scrutiny of exactly what contributions are being sought from AW 
households for different energy efficiency measures.  

5.	 The Westminster Government should look to intervene to provide a facility to ‘top up’ 
ECO to enable households who can’t make the relevant contributions.  

6.	 The Westminster Government should activate existing powers to provide guaranteed 
assistance to specific householders.  

7.	 The Westminster Government must ensure local authorities fulfil their current duties 
in relation to housing standards and move beyond competition-based, non-recurrent 
funding models to galvanise local activity.  

8.	 DECC must recognise and act on Electricity Distribution Network Operators’ ability to 
support a new form of area-based electricity demand reduction initiative that could 
potentially play a key role within the UK energy system and encourage collaborations 
between DNOs, GDNs and energy suppliers to bring more holistic community-scale 
solutions. 

9.	 There needs to be a clearly identified mechanism to make ESAS aware of these local 
schemes and in turn households can be referred directly to the local programme. This is 
a key issue to address in order to secure the co-operation of local authorities and other 
local intermediaries.  

10.	 In the longer term, DECC and the Department for Communities and Local Government 
(CLG) should develop a binding duty, which is well resourced, to ensure all Upper Tier 
Authorities play their key part in addressing fuel poverty, reducing domestic carbon 
emissions and supporting and facilitating emerging public health responsibilities.

45
Tudalen y pecyn 80



Country reports | Scotland

Update on fuel poverty and policy framework 
in Scotland

The Scottish Government has the remit to address the energy efficiency of Scotland’s homes49. 
It also has anti-poverty strategies in place that can help tackle low incomes which are a main 
contributing factor to fuel poverty. Under the Housing (Scotland) Act 2001, the Scottish 
Government has a statutory duty to end fuel poverty, as far as is practicable, by 2016.  Local 
authorities are expected to assist in meeting this target. The Scottish Fuel Poverty Forum is the 
body of stakeholders that has the core task to monitor and advise Scottish Ministers on progress 
towards the 2016 target for the eradication of fuel poverty.  The Forum is currently reviewing the 
Scottish Government’s fuel poverty strategy and its final report is expected in Spring 2014. 

The Scottish House Condition Survey (SHCS) for 2012, published at the end of 2013, shows that:

•	 Fuel poverty in Scotland in 2012 was 647,000 households or 27.1%
•	 The 2012 figure represented a fall of around 74,000 households, or 3.4 percentage points, 

from the figure in October 2011 of 721,000 (30.5%)
•	 The level of extreme fuel poverty recorded in 2012 was 170,000 households or 7.1%.  This 

figure was slightly lower than that in October 2011 of 190,000 households or 8%50.

According to the Scottish Government, improved energy efficiency in the housing stock 
contributed two-thirds of the fall in fuel poverty between October 2011 and 2012, with increases 
in household income contributing a further third. Fuel prices also decreased in this period, 
however they note that this had little impact on the fuel poverty rate (around 0.3 percentage 
points)51. 

In 2013, the main activity in Scotland was the introduction of the successor to the Energy 
Assistance Package and the Universal Home Insulation Scheme.  This was done following 
discussions with the Fuel Poverty Forum and wider consultation.  An area-based programme 
was to have the lion’s share of the funding and was to focus on the most fuel-poor areas first.  
However, Energy Action Scotland and others had argued the case for the retention of a reactive 
programme for individuals who required assistance but would not be covered by the area based 
approach in the near future.  This case was accepted by Scottish Ministers. The replacement is 
called Home Energy Efficiency Programmes for Scotland (HEEPS). 

49 As noted throughout the report, broader energy policy and matters such as tax and benefits are the remit of the UK 
Government.
50 The SHCS revised its methodology in 2013 which has resulted in a change to reported levels of fuel poverty in Scotland going 
back a number of years.
51 Directorate of Housing, Regeneration and Welfare: Scottish House Condition Survey (SHCS) 2013

46
Tudalen y pecyn 81



Following consultation and the recommendations of a specialist advisory group, the Scottish 
Government published its Sustainable Housing Strategy.  The strategy sets out the Government’s 
vision for warm, high quality, affordable, low carbon homes.  It also sets out what the Scottish 
Government will do to meet its targets on fuel poverty and emissions reduction.  The strategy 
includes a route-map to 2030.  Part of the strategy is the improvement of home energy efficiency 
and as noted below this will primarily be delivered through the new HEEPS programmes. The 
strategy’s objectives are to:

•	 Deliver a step-change in provision of energy efficient homes to 2030 through retrofit and 
new build, as promised in the Infrastructure Investment Plan;

•	 Ensure that no-one in Scotland has to live in fuel poverty, as far as practicable, by 2016;
•	 Make a full contribution to the Climate Change Act targets, as set out in the Report on 

Proposals and Policies; and
•	 Enable the refurbishment and house-building sectors to contribute to and benefit from 

Scotland’s low carbon economy and to drive Scotland’s future economic prosperity.

In addition, the Energy Efficiency Standard for Social Housing has been consulted on with the 
aim to improve the energy efficiency of social housing in Scotland.  It will build on the Scottish 
Housing Quality Standard, which social housing providers are required to meet by 2015.  It aims 
to help reduce energy consumption, fuel poverty and the emission of greenhouse gases. 
The EESSH sets the minimum energy efficiency standard for social housing. It has been 
developed by the Scottish Government following consultation with social landlords and tenants. 
Landlords must ensure that all social housing meets this new standard by December 2020. 

The EESSH sets the minimum energy efficiency standard for social housing. It is being developed 
by the Scottish Government following consultation with social landlords and tenants. Landlords 
must ensure that all social housing meets this new standard by December 2020. The new 
standard is based on minimum energy efficiency ratings as found on Energy Performance 
Certificates (EPCs). The ratings which social homes will be expected to meet are shown in the 
table below. The rating which applies depends on the type of fuel used in the property.  The 
Scottish Government has stated that, whilst it is at the discretion of social landlords to set rent 
levels, it is not envisaged that the implementation of EESSH will result in increased rents. It 
is however noted that the wider context of the UK Government’s welfare changes and their 
possible impact on rents in the social housing sector poses a challenge for social landlords. 

Table 20: Energy Efficiency Standard for Social Housing (EESSH). 

Dwelling type Gas Electricity
Flats 69 65
Four in a block 65 65
Houses (non-detached) 69 65
Houses (detached) 60 60

Source: Tenants Guide, Scottish Government

*Note: For properties with other fuels, the Social landlords are already working towards meeting the 
requirements of the Scottish Housing Quality Standard (SHQS). 

In terms of the private rented sector, the Sustainable Housing Strategy also laid out the Scottish 
Government’s commitment to consult by 2015 on draft regulations that would set minimum 

47
Tudalen y pecyn 82



energy efficiency standards for private sector dwellings.  Consequently, it has set up a working 
group to consider the issues surrounding such regulation. Energy Action Scotland has expressed 
disappointment that potential regulation of the private rented sector in particular is not being 
considered sooner, as in the social rented sector and was expected to be the case in England.

Overview of current energy efficiency programmes

HEEPS is the umbrella name for Scottish Government initiatives to tackle fuel poverty and 
increase energy efficiency in homes.  The first programmes under HEEPS were launched in April 
2013.  They replaced the Energy Assistance Package, the Universal Home Insulation Scheme and 
the Boiler Scrappage Scheme. HEEPS is a cluster of programmes currently including:

•	 Affordable Warmth 
•	 Area-based schemes
•	 Energy Assistance Scheme
•	 Warm Homes Fund

HEEPS Affordable Warmth is offered to households who are vulnerable to fuel poverty as 
defined by the UK Government’s affordable warmth group, i.e. the Home Heating Cost Reduction 
Obligation (HHCRO) of the GB-wide Energy Companies Obligation (ECO). As a result, they 
must be the homeowner or else the tenant of a private sector landlord and must be in receipt 
of qualifying benefits. Affordable Warmth energy efficiency measures are then installed and 
funded via the energy supply companies through their ECO obligations. The Scottish Government 
has set itself a target to lever in £120 million a year in total to Scotland via ECO.  It designed its 
area-based scheme, HEEPS: ABS, in a way that was intended to help make ECO expenditure in 
Scotland attractive.

HEEPS: Area Based Schemes (ABS) was known in development stage as the National Retrofit 
Programme. It follows an area-based approach with an initial focus on the most deprived 
areas. Local authorities are expected to target areas of fuel poverty and work with Housing 
Associations, energy companies, installers, owner-occupiers and private rented landlords to 
ensure all households in that area receive an offer to have the energy efficiency of their home 
improved. Schemes draw on a range of data for targeting including the Scottish Index of Multiple 
Deprivation (SIMD), child poverty, the Scottish House Condition Survey and heat mapping. 
HEEPS: ABS is intended to cover all homes in Scotland in 10 years. 

The responsibility for programme delivery for ABS falls to local authorities, who are considered 
best placed through their Local Housing Strategies to understand the nature of housing provision 
and to coordinate a local supply-chain. The measures that are available are dependent on the 
schemes developed by each local authority and are generally free to the householder.  Schemes 
opened in principle in summer 2013, although procurement has meant some delay to start-up 
in practice. HEEPS: ABS is funded by the Scottish Government with £60 million for 2013-14.  
All Scottish local authorities received an allocation of approximately half of this funding, with 
the remaining half providing them with the opportunity to bid for more in order to address 
fuel poverty.  ABS schemes are expected to work in tandem with the CERO [Carbon Emissions 
Reduction Obligation] and CSCO [Carbon Savings Community Obligation] strands of ECO.

48
Tudalen y pecyn 83



The HEEPS Energy Assistance Scheme is available to households who are most vulnerable to 
fuel poverty but are not eligible for Affordable Warmth and do not live in a current HEEPS: ABS 
area.  It is in effect a continuation of Stage 4 of the previous Energy Assistance Package but with 
reduced format and eligibility (particularly for the over 75s). Grants of up to £4,000 (sometimes 
£6,500) are available to home owners and tenants of private sector landlords for insulation and 
heating measures. Householders must be aged 60 or over and have no central heating in their 
home or live in energy-inefficient homes and be in receipt of a qualifying benefit. The Energy 
Assistance Scheme is being delivered under contract for two years from 2013 by Scottish Gas.  
The scheme has funding of £16 million in 2013-14 from the Scottish Government. 

In addition, the Warm Homes Fund is a £50 million initiative from the Scottish Government and 
is managed by the Energy Saving Trust in Scotland.  It provides unsecured loan funding and 
development grants for projects to support householders and communities in fuel poverty.   It 
aims to do this through the development and implementation of renewables-based energy-
generation schemes which will reduce fuel poverty by improving the energy efficiency of houses 
and/or by providing affordable warmth. 

Funding is provided to Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) and local authorities, as well as 
energy services companies set up by these bodies.  Development grants of up to £10,000 can 
be provided for feasibility studies and options appraisals, and up to £20,000 for development 
strategy work.  Low interest unsecured loans with no arrangement or administration fees of 
up to £5 million are available for capital measures. Projects funded so far include solar PV in 
sheltered housing, biomass district heating in new build and retrofit housing, strategy work 
for wind biomass and multi-storeys – along with detailed feasibility studies looking at revenue 
generation projects for wind turbines and hydro. The Scottish Government made available 
£3.25 million for financial year 2012-13 and £18.75 million for financial year 2013-14 with the 
remaining funding being allocated in 2014-15.  It has been indicated that this final year may see 
a rise in budget to £31.25 million. 

The Energy Saving Trust in Scotland manages delivery of HEEPS (with the exception of HEEPS: 
ABS) and other energy-related programmes and grants through the Home Energy Scotland 
advice line.  It does this on behalf of the Scottish Government and in partnership with a range of 
advice providers and the energy companies. Home Energy Scotland also offers energy efficiency 
advice, information on low-cost energy tariffs and advice on income maximisation, as well as 
information on a wide range of energy efficiency measures. 

Barriers to accessibility and delivery of energy efficiency in Scotland 

The Scottish Government continues to fund its own fuel poverty programmes, which is welcome, 
although the budget levels have wavered over a few years.  At present, the budget forecasts 
are in the upwards direction; however, there has been underspend in the last two years and 
consequently a reallocation of funds to other, albeit anti-poverty, areas and this is a cause for 
concern.

Scottish-specific programmes were designed to work in close partnership with the new GB-
wide Energy Companies Obligation (ECO).  Indeed, the intention was to attract as much ECO 
expenditure as possible to Scotland, and at least to achieve funds pro rata as per population 

49
Tudalen y pecyn 84



levels.  ECO expenditure in Scotland is not ring-fenced and the rate of activity here not guaranteed, 
hence the ambition to make the most of funding that Scottish consumers have paid for in terms of 
levies on their energy bills.

The energy efficiency measures available under the various schemes have been noted above and 
there is in principle help available for all insulation types. However, some dwelling construction 
types - such as traditionally-built houses with rooms in the roof and solid walls which are not 
uncommon across Scotland - are difficult and expensive to insulate. Room in the roof insulation 
is very much the poor cousin of all of the insulation measures available; however for certain 
property types, it is the one measure that can make a considerable difference to the energy 
efficiency of the home. Properties of this type are certainly not confined to the rural housing 
market. The costs and challenges for this type of work are not unlike those experienced for 
internal wall insulation particularly in the rural housing market. External wall insulation has 
been a big success in a very short space of time and with good customer feedback.  However, it 
is expensive to establish a supply chain for this, and start-up costs are quite prohibitive due to 
training and the necessary accreditation of operatives and of organisations. 

The proposed ECO cap on external wall insulation will impact on the continuity of the supply 
chain and the danger is that if this is not made a priority measure then the investment made in 
the supply chain could be wasted.  External wall insulation must be driven by targets with a view 
to ring-fenced activity in the rural market as the increased cost of delivery in this area can make 
it difficult to attract funding. If cavity wall insulation and loft insulation are to become allowable 
primary measures under CERO, then these particular activities should have much greater scrutiny 
applied to them to ensure quality assurance and to retain an acceptable level of confidence in the 
programme’s integrity. There are also some concerns about the very rigid definitions employed to 
identify those that are eligible for HHCRO measures.  The affordable warmth group is not flexible 
enough to allow leeway in the identification of eligible households.

The complexities of ECO and the announcement of potential changes early on in the programme’s 
lifetime have also caused major difficulties and have resulted in some works being delayed or 
stopped altogether.  This means on the one hand, that Scottish consumers may be facing delays 
in receiving assistance from ECO or indeed have had their eligibility for ECO thrown into doubt.  
On the other hand, the link to HEEPS: ABS means that the changes to ECO are having a knock-on 
effect on the delivery of the Scottish programmes. 

Even before the changes to ECO were announced, it was apparent that there was a problem, 
particularly in off-gas grid areas.  Under ECO, the client contribution asked of those with oil 
systems can be £2,500 and in a number of cases the householder cannot afford to pay this 
amount.  Where the householder has electric heating, or even no heating system, there can be 
no support available at all in practice.  This is due to the complexity of ECO rules and the over-
riding concern to save carbon.  A key problem is where a customer is technically eligible for ECO 
but no energy supplier is currently willing to offer assistance of the kind required – for example, 
where the carbon score is not deemed to be high enough to be worthwhile.  Because of their ECO 
eligibility, the customer is then blocked from receiving assistance under HEEPS, even though they 
end up with nothing. Householders in off-grid areas can therefore find themselves in a situation 
where they have the highest energy prices in the UK and, therefore, are contributing more 
towards government levies, but are excluded from schemes funded by these very levies.  These 
disconnects between ECO and HEEPs needs to be addressed as a matter of urgency.  

50
Tudalen y pecyn 85



In terms of the customer journey, it is clear from both the commercial side of the process and 
from householders that the current programmes are far too complex, require far too much 
administration and result in multiple client visits.  This leads to delays, customers dropping out 
of the process and expenditure on administration rather than on physical measures. One estimate 
gives up to 55 validation requirements before a measure can be signed off as complete, with a 
similar requirement for additional measures in the same house, and with the potential for yet 
more information requests in order to meet auditing requirements. In addition, one installer 
company recently reported having to make insulation staff redundant due to lack of activity, but 
having to recruit more administration staff. It was also recently noted by one housing agency that 
the ability to say with confidence to a client ‘yes, we can help you’ has been lost.  They find that 
even after four visits have been made to clients’ homes, it is by no means certain that they will 
receive any assistance. 

Scotland country report conclusions and 
recommendations

In total, Scottish Government funding for 2014-15 and 2015-16 has been set at £79 million for 
each year.  The Warm Homes Fund is to be boosted to £31.25 million for 2014-15. The figure of 
£79 million is welcome, with the budget having risen from £65 million for each of the years 2012-
13 and 2013-14 and having originally been set at £66.25 million for 2014-15. However, the budget 
headlines must be viewed with a strong note of caution.  In 2013-14, £60 million was originally 
allocated to HEEPS: ABS.  In September 2013, the Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Employment and 
Sustainable Growth announced in the Scottish Budget statement that funding from that year’s 
budget was being transferred away from fuel poverty programmes to other budget areas. The 
Finance Secretary stated that there had been an underspend on home energy efficiency from 
within the fuel poverty budget in both the current year and in the last year which was being 
reallocated with immediate effect52.

The reasons for the underspend are currently being investigated. It is essential that the reasons 
for any underspend are understood and addressed so that a further reallocation of fuel poverty 
funds does not occur. Budget headlines at the start of a financial year lose their value if they are 
subsequently not spent as intended.

The Scottish Government has also designed its own fuel poverty programmes with the stated 
intention of levering in as much Energy Companies Obligation (ECO) funding to Scotland as 
possible and certainly to the level of £120 million per annum.  It is the Scottish Government’s 
target that total expenditure on alleviating fuel poverty in Scotland will be £200 million per year.  
This was the figure recommended by a range of bodies, including Energy Action Scotland some 
time ago, as being the minimum amount required to have sufficient impact on fuel poverty.  Again, 
a note of caution must be raised, however, in that even if this level of funding is achieved, it will 
have to be sustained over a number of years and most likely beyond 2016, which is now only two 
years away.

52 In total, £10 million was reallocated of which £5 million was from the current  HEEPS: ABS budget.

51
Tudalen y pecyn 86



While EAS can applaud the intention to ensure that Scotland receives its pro rata share of ECO 
expenditure and the Scottish Government’s endeavours to make Scotland an attractive market 
for this programme, we are however concerned as to whether this aim can in fact be achieved.  
For example, it is understood that the HEEPS: ABS programme was designed on the assumption 
of a 3:1 ratio, i.e. that for every £1 of local authority/Scottish Government money, a further £3 
would be secured from ECO.  There appears to be some concern as to whether this ratio is in fact 
achievable and so may be the cause of local authorities being perhaps reluctant to take on more 
HEEPS: ABS commitments.  EAS would suggest this is an area requiring some clarification or 
monitoring.

Monitoring and transparency of the current schemes, and in particular, monitoring what 
contribution current programmes make to current targets is also a key issue. Despite monthly 
reporting by DECC on ECO activity, the statistics on the progress of CERO and CSCO do not help to 
inform and fine tune the targeting of measures.  There is too much of a time-lag in reporting and 
the detail of measures is limited, in particular, on the geographic location of the work. 
An illustration of these concerns was noted at a recent seminar held early in 2014 in Scotland, 
with the purpose of gathering the views of a range of stakeholders on reaching the 2016 target.  
One of its key findings was that people did not feel that they had sufficient knowledge of the 
performance of past and present programmes.  More detailed and frequent public reporting 
would, they believed, assist in being ‘smarter’ when fine tuning current programmes and in the 
making of plans for the next stage of activity.

Data verification takes time and creates a bottle-neck in the reporting of statistics.  In addition, 
the impact of the allowable carry-over from the previous supplier obligation (CERT) is not 
known. In response, Energy Action Scotland and the Fuel Poverty Forum are pressing the 
Scottish Government for more frequent and consistent reporting of Scottish Government-funded 
programmes.  In particular, Energy Action Scotland would like to see the reinstatement of annual 
reports, as were published for previous programmes such as the Warm Deal and Central Heating 
Programme which ran a number of years ago.

52
Tudalen y pecyn 87



Key national recommendations 

1.	 Scottish Government budgets for fuel poverty programmes must be sustained and given 
time to be delivered. Further underspend must be avoided. 

2.	 The UK Government must avoid disruptive change to ECO and must maintain its 
ambitions to effect real improvements in energy efficiency and affordable warmth. 

3.	 The disconnect and unintended consequences arising from the coupling of ECO and 
HEEPS need to be addressed urgently. 

4.	 Harder to treat measures must be supported well in programmes in order to achieve the 
results required. 

5.	 Rural and off-gas grid areas need to be better served by the main national and GB 
programmes. 

6.	 Public reporting of the main programmes, including geographic activity needs to improve 
if lessons are to be learned and progress tracked. 

7.	 The Scottish Government should bring forward its plans to introduce energy efficiency 
regulation in the Private Rented Sector to stop it lagging behind both the social rented 
sector and similar moves in England.

53
Tudalen y pecyn 88



Country reports | Wales

Update on fuel poverty and policy framework 
in Wales

In April 2013, the Welsh Government released a ‘Fuel Poverty Projection Tool’, which modelled 
existing data to estimate updated levels of fuel poverty in Wales.  It reported that 30% of 
households in Wales (386,000 households) were likely to be in fuel poverty in 2012, equivalent 
to 54,000 more households since the last figures, in 2008.  It claimed that relative levels of fuel 
poverty in Wales are lower than Northern Ireland, similar to Scotland, and higher than England. 

Table 21: Assessments of historic fuel poverty levels in Wales (since 1996)

Year Number of 
households in fuel 
poverty

Percentage of 
Welsh households 
in fuel poverty

Basis of estimate

1998 220,000 17% 1997-98 Welsh House Condition Survey
2004 134,000 10% Living in Wales 2004
2005 166,000 13% Living in Wales 2004
2006 240,000 18% Living in Wales 2004
2008 332,000 26% Living in Wales 2008
2010 332,000 26% Living in Wales 2008
2011 365,000 29% Living in Wales 2008
2012 386,000 30% Living in Wales 2008

Note: The 1998 figure is an estimate of the number of households who would have met the HEES 
eligibility criteria.  All other figures are an estimate of the number of households who would meet the 
full income definition of fuel poverty.

The Fuel Poverty Projection Tool also calculated the number of households in Wales in fuel 
poverty using the Hills definition.  Under this, the number of fuel-poor households would be 
projected to have risen from 139,000 (11%) in 2008 to 146,000 (12%) in 2011 and the average 
fuel gap from £583 to £658.  In 2012, the level of fuel poverty under the Hills Review LIHC 
definition remained stable at 11% (144,000 households) and the average fuel gap had risen 
slightly from £658 in 2011 to £688 in 201253. 

These projections were based on a combination of projected changes in income, fuel prices and 
energy efficiency installations. The report noted that energy efficiency measures installed in 
Wales over the time period had reduced the projected number of households in fuel poverty 
in 2012 by 3 percentage points or 36,000 as 422,000 households (33%) would have been 
calculated as in fuel poverty without these measures.

53 Wales Fuel Poverty Projection Tool: 2011/2012 report, Welsh Government, April 2013

54
Tudalen y pecyn 89



On 3rd December 2012, First Minister Carwyn Jones stated categorically that the Welsh 
Government will not be following the Westminster Coalition Government in redefining fuel 
poverty.

In May 2013, the Energy Wales Strategic Delivery Group was created, to provide a forum for 
the First Minister to engage with senior leaders in the energy industry.  The purpose of the 
group is to provide strategic level collaboration and communication on important issues and 
policy; inform the evidence used to reach decisions when developing policy; remove barriers to 
development and the delivery of benefits for Wales from the transition to low carbon; and enable 
rapid response to changes in the energy landscape.  The Commissioner for Sustainable Futures 
has called on the group to incorporate progress on fuel poverty as part of its agenda.  

The Fuel Poverty Coalition Cymru continues to be the main campaigning group on fuel poverty 
in Wales.  The coalition was founded by NEA Cymru and Consumer Focus Wales in 2009 and acts 
as a sister organisation to the End Fuel Poverty Coalition in England.  Resource restrictions have 
limited the coalition’s capacity to drive the fuel poverty agenda forward in Wales, by acting as an 
independent voice to support the Government in its work to tackle fuel poverty, helping identify 
best practice and solutions and examining and reviewing the effectiveness of current Welsh 
Government policies in delivering reductions in fuel poverty.  There is no other mechanism 
in Wales to pull together the different sectors in Wales with an interest in fuel poverty to 
collectively call for changes and there is no longer a Ministerial Advisory Group with a specific 
remit on fuel poverty.

Overview of current energy efficiency programmes  

In terms of progress on the energy efficiency of social housing, the Welsh Government’s report 
on the Welsh Housing Quality Standard released in March 2013, showed that 77.8% of all social 
housing met the standard in terms of having a SAP rating of at least 65 and 88.1% met the 
central heating system standard (ie. the heating system was appropriately sized and reasonably 
economic to run and programmable, so that a resident can control the temperature and timing). 
In March 2013, the Welsh Government announced a package of funding of £2.3m provided by 
themselves, DECC, social landlords and through ECO to provide 540 Welsh homes on 13 social 
housing estates with energy efficiency improvements by July 2013. Some of the properties are to 
be used as demonstration homes, to show people how they could make similar improvements to 
their own home.

Nest and Arbed remain the Welsh Government’s two main tools for tackling fuel poverty.  Nest 
is a demand-led scheme for individual owner-occupiers and private rental tenants, while Arbed 
is an area-based scheme available to all tenures within a project area.   In addition, the Welsh 
Government has announced extra funding for schemes to bring in energy supplier funding. 
In October 2013, the Minister announced £70m funding - £35m for 2014/15 and £35m for 
2015/16 – to incentivise energy companies to invest ECO in Wales.  It is envisaged that area-
based schemes run through local authorities will be a key recipient of this funding. 

55
Tudalen y pecyn 90



Table 22: Assessments of historic number of installations per year (per national EE 
programme since 2008-09 to present) and number of households assisted

Year Programme Number of measures Number of 
households receiving 
measures

2008-09 HEES54 27,91155 15,199
2009-10 HEES56 28,84757 15,952
2010-11 HEES58 Not reported Not reported
2011-12 Nest 4,37159 3,600
2009-11 Arbed phase 160 6,70061 6,000+

2011-12 Arbed phase 1 extension Not reported 1,50062

Nest released its second annual report for the year 2012-13.  This highlighted that Nest’s 
priorities in the second year of the scheme had been to further the partner referral network 
and improve the householder experience.  They had sought to achieve this by increasing the 
number of Partner Development Managers to strengthen local relationships and build new 
referral routes; develop a new referral route with the Mid & West Wales Fire and Rescue Service 
to incorporate fire safety advice in the help received by Nest applicants; developing a portal 
and referral network online; and commissioning NEA to establish a stakeholder board to help 
identify and target vulnerable and hard to reach households and give advice and support to 
further improve delivery of services.  In 2012-13, Nest provided over 21,500 households with 
advice and over 4,900 of these also received a package of home energy improvement measures.

A six month update circulated by the Minister in December stated that 3,500 households 
had received an energy improvement package through Welsh Government energy efficiency 
programmes that year, projected to rise to around 8000 by the end of March 2014.  2,650 
of these received their energy improvement package through Nest while 852 received their 
improvements through Arbed.  The Minister anticipated that approximately 2,900 homes would 
be improved by Arbed by the end of March 2014.  Arbed Phase 2 aims to improve the energy 
efficiency of a minimum of 4,800 existing homes in Wales between April 2012 and the end of 
2015.  

54 Figures come from HEES Annual Report 2008/09
55 4849 heating, 5060 heating repair, 12,474 insulation, 296 new gas supply, 1226 security, 4006 smoke alarms
56 Figures come from HEES Annual Report 2009/10
57 5754 heating, 4935 heating repair, 12,656 insulation, 233 new gas supply, 978 security, 3630 smoke alarms
58 Figures  come from Nest Annual Report 2011/12
59  3608 central heating, 140 standard insulation, 605 enhanced insulation, 18 solar
60  Arbed phase 1 – post installation review, Welsh Government, October 2011
61  4000+  solid wall insulation,  1800+ solar PV, 1080 solar hot water, 1000 fuel switching, 100+ heat pumps
62  Information provided to NEA by Welsh Government

56
Tudalen y pecyn 91



Table 23: Total budget per year (since 2008-09 if possible to present) per national EE 
programme

Year HEES Nest Arbed Other
2008-09 £22.7m N/A N/A N/A

2009-10 £23.7m N/A 2009-12 
see below N/A

2010-11 £18.5m N/A 2009-12 
see below N/A

2011-12 £1.5m Legacy £17m 2009-12 
see below N/A

2012-13 N/A £19.5m 2012-2015 
see below

£8.92m (additional 
Arbed funding – see 
below)

2013-14 N/A Not reported 
separately

2012-2015 
see below

£8m (additional Nest 
and Arbed funding – 
see below)

In a statement, the Minister envisaged that 8000 households will be helped through Nest and 
Arbed in 2013/14.  The Welsh Government’s document ‘Building Resilient Communities: Taking 
Forward the Tackling Poverty Action Plan’ states “we have set ourselves a target of improving at 
least 6,000 homes under Nest and Arbed in 2013/14 and 2014/15.”  

Arbed Phase 2 aims to improve the energy efficiency of a minimum of 4,800 existing homes in 
Wales between April 2012 and the end of 2015.  It will end in 2015 as it is European funded.  
Nest is currently funded up until the end of March 2016, although it could be extended.  At 
its current rate, between 3,600 and 4,900 households are likely to receive energy efficiency 
measures installations per year through Nest.  It is not known how many households are likely to 
receive measures through the £35m announced per year to incentivise ECO investment in Wales 
in 2014-15 and 2015-16.

Table 24: Total Arbed investment  

Welsh 
Government 
investment

Leveraged 
from social 
housing 
providers 
and local 
authorities

Leveraged 
from energy 
companies 
through CERT 
and CESP

ERDF Match 
Funding

Total Budget 
including 
Leveraged 
External 
Investment

Arbed Phase 1 
(2009-12) £36.6m £20m+ £10m N/A £68m+

Arbed Phase 2 
(2012-15) £12m N/A N/A £33m £45m

Table 25: Nest Investment 2011-12

Year Nest measures HEES legacy Total
2011/12 £15m £1.5m £18.5m

57
Tudalen y pecyn 92



Table 26: Nest and Arbed Investment 2012/13 and 2013/14

Year Nest Arbed Total
2012-13 £19.5m Not reported separately £30m
2013-14 Not reported separately £36m

Impacts

In 2011-12, 55% of households receiving a home energy improvement package through Nest 
were fuel-poor (or severely fuel-poor).  No equivalent figure has been published for 2012-13 
although the proportion of households in fuel poverty referred to Nest has increased from 62% 
in 2011-12 to 87% in 2012-13.  In 2012-13, 49% of enquirers were in severe fuel poverty.
In both years of the Nest scheme, properties had to receive an F or G SAP rating to qualify for 
an energy improvement package, and Nest had a target to raise those properties to a C rating, 
where practical and cost effective to do so.  Almost 80% were improved to D or higher, following 
installation of measures.  It should be noted that in some cases, the SAP rating was lowered 
where solid fuel was installed in place of oil or LPG at the request of the householder as they had 
access to a free or cheap fuel source.  

In 2011-12, 69.7% receiving a home energy improvement package through Nest had a SAP 
rating of G, while the remaining 30.3% were F-rated.  Following the installation of a combination 
of measures, 2.1% remained a G rating, 4.6% were F-rated, 13.8% were E-rated, 41.4% were 
D-rated, 37.8% were C-rated and 0.2% were B-rated. In 2012-13, 47% of households receiving 
a home energy improvement package through Nest had a SAP rating of G, while the remaining 
53% were rated F.  The measures installed by Nest resulted in 2% remaining a G rating, 5% were 
F-rated, 13% E-rated, 49% D-rated and 31% C-rated.  

Arbed phase 1 also carried out a broad SAP analysis based on basic information about 
property type, construction, main heating fuel and measures installed for around 4,400 of the 
improved properties, resulting in EPC rating estimates for around 2,000 properties. Before the 
improvements made as part of arbed phase 1 the majority of these properties were thought to be 
F rated (88%) whereas after improvements the majority were C-rated (91%).

Table 27: Delivery rate by Tenure (since 2008-09 to present)

Year Programme Owner 
occupied

Privately 
rented

Housing 
association

Local 
authority

2008-09 HEES Information not available

2009-10 HEES 25,897 
measures

2,299 
measures 146 measures 272 measures

2010-11 HEES Information not available

2009-11 Arbed63 21% of households privately 
owned or rented

79% of households social 
housing

2011-12 Nest 84.8% of 
households

15.2% of 
households N/A N/A

2012-13 Nest 74% of 
households

26% of 
households N/A N/A

2011-present Arbed Not reported

63 Data available for 79% of properties improved

58
Tudalen y pecyn 93



Overall the Welsh Government estimate that energy efficiency measures installed between 
2008-2011 reduced the projected number of households in fuel poverty in 2012 from 33% of all 
households (422,000 households) to 30% of all households (386,000 households) – a reduction 
of 36,000 households. 

Table 28: Other non-recurrent funding in Wales

Date Amount invested 
by WG

Purpose Amount 
leveraged 
from external 
investment

Number of 
households 
receiving 
measures

Autumn 2012 £2.56m Arbed CESP - to 
take advantage 
of closing 
stages of CESP 
and maximise 
energy company 
investment in 
Wales

£6.21m 
(match funding 
from energy 
companies, 
local authorities 
and housing 
associations)

875

January 2013 £2.89m Arbed ECO - 
additional Arbed 
funding in relation 
to change from 
CESP to ECO

£2.87m 
(from energy 
companies, 
local authorities 
and housing 
associations)

999

February 2013 £3.47m Arbed Green 
Deal – additional 
Arbed funding 
aimed at RSLs to 
provide grants to 
create a network 
of Green Deal 
Demonstration 
Homes/Schemes

£650,000 received 
from DECC.  
£3.8m leveraged 
from energy 
companies and 
RSLs

531

2013 -14 £5m Additional capital 
for Nest and 
Arbed

N/A 800 (estimated)

2013-14 £3m Additional Nest 
funding

N/A Not yet known

2014-15 £5m Additional capital 
for Nest and 
Arbed

N/A 800 (estimated)

2014-15 £35m Incentive 
to energy  
companies to 
spend ECO in 
Wales

Not yet known Not yet known

2015-16 £35m Incentive 
to energy  
companies to 
spend ECO in 
Wales

Not yet known Not yet known

59
Tudalen y pecyn 94



Barriers to accessibility and delivery of energy efficiency in Wales 

An energy improvement package through Nest is provided free of charge to households who 
meet all of the following conditions: applicants must own or privately rent their home or live in 
a shared ownership property; the property must have a SAP rating of F or G; and someone living 
in the property must be in receipt of a means-tested benefit.  Those who do not meet all these 
critieria can still receive advice and may be referred to an alternative scheme, where eligible.  

In 2012-13, 794 householders were referred to CERT by Nest and 284 used CERT funding.  3100 
householders were referred for a benefits entitlement check, with 271 found to be eligible for 
new or additional benefits.  2668 were referred to the Warm Homes Discount scheme and 174 
received a Warm Homes Discount.  All of these services would be received free of charge.  A small 
number of households are eligible for a partial grant voucher from Nest.  These are available to 
vulnerable households where the applicant is aged 60 or over, or is disabled or chronically ill, or 
occupies the dwelling with a child under 5.  Generally CERT offers were more attractive than the 
partial grant but 73 householders took it up in 2012-13, with 83% using it towards cavity wall 
insulation and 17% using it towards loft insulation.  

As social housing is not eligible to receive a package of measures through Nest, these properties 
are expected to be improved through the requirements of the Welsh Housing Quality Standard 
and the Arbed programme, which also includes privately owned and rented properties.  Arbed is 
an area-based programme, which aims to deliver 50 programmes throughout Wales in its second 
phase of delivery (2012-15), targeting 5000 homes with at least 50% of these being privately 
owned.  Selection of scheme areas is based on consideration of six criteria, namely; the ranking 
within the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation column for income; the proportion of homes 
off the mains gas network or which are hard to heat; the proportion of households with hard-
to-treat cavity or solid walls; whether the area is in a regeneration area or a Communities First 
area; and the percentage of privately rented properties.

Members of the public can access Nest directly by calling the Energy Saving Trust on a dedicated 
number for Nest, which is free to call from mobiles as well as landlines.  Callers are asked a 
series of questions to ascertain their tenure, benefits uptake, and to help the advisor calculate 
an approximate SAP rating of the property, all of which enables the Nest advisors to assess 
eligibility for a package of energy improvement measures.  

Those who are judged likely to be eligible for an energy improvement package from Nest are 
referred to British Gas and assigned a ‘Personal Customer Manager’.  They will contact the 
customer within 5 working days to arrange a visit for a whole house assessment.  This visit 
should take place within 14 days of the application date.  If consent is given, the resident will 
be contacted with an install date for a Nest-approved contractor to visit the home and complete 
the work.  An inspection is arranged within 15 days of the installation, which should check the 
quality of the work and allow the resident to ask any questions.  There is a further service visit 
on the first year anniversary of the work.

In terms of the monitoring, the Nest scheme managers report annually on the scheme, giving 
data around areas such as enquiry levels, referrals, demographic breakdowns of those receiving 
an energy improvement package, average SAP improvements, and customer satisfaction.  

60
Tudalen y pecyn 95



However, the data is not very detailed and does not invite external scrutiny of the scheme.  
Although the first report gave figures for the number of households receiving measures who 
were in fuel poverty, the second report did not give a similar figure to allow comparison.  It is 
also unclear as to the level of expenditure on measures and why so many fewer households 
receive an energy improvement package under Nest than did under HEES.

In addition, there has been no reporting on areas related to the vulnerable households fuel 
poverty target, such as the number of households receiving support containing dependent 
children or people with a disability or chronic illness although the report does give an age 
profile, which shows that 44% of households receiving an energy improvement package were 
aged 60 or over.  The reports do show however the number of properties in each SAP band 
before and after receiving improvements, but not the average improvement per property, the 
number of measures received by qualifying households or the number of households turned 
down for measures which would have benefited them but were not considered cost-effective, 
such as solid wall insulation.  

There is also little detail as to the nature of the advice provided to callers and what follow up 
takes place to ensure householders are able to receive the help they have been referred or 
signposted to. The figures indicate a high level of drop out between those referred a benefits 
entitlement check or to the Warm Homes Discount scheme and those who actually receive 
additional benefits (only 8% of those referred go on to receive new benefits) or the Warm Homes 
Discount (only 6.5% of those referred are reported as going to receive the discount). Although 
the Warm Homes Discount discrepancy is explained by poor supplier reporting (only 2 energy 
suppliers returned figures to Nest) no explanation is given as why so few of those referred 
receive new or additional benefits.  

There is also little reporting on the customer journey, such as the average time customers wait 
to receive an energy improvement package after their initial call, the number of households who 
are initially put forward for an assessment but found not to qualify after a home visit, or drop-
out rates and reasons.  The scheme reports also have not mentioned how many households have 
been offered emergency heating and whether they went on to receive a full package of measures.  

In terms of the transparency and reporting on the Arbed programme, two evaluation 
reports have been published for Arbed phase 1.  The first, published in October 2011 by the 
Welsh Government summarises the key achievements of phase 1 and lessons learned.  The 
second report, published in October 2012, was produced by Eco Centre Wales for the Welsh 
Government, and researches the impacts of the Arbed scheme on a sample of householders who 
had benefited from it.  There has been no reporting on the numbers of households benefiting 
from Arbed who were in fuel poverty before and after receiving measures64.  

64  In response to an oral question in the Senedd, the Minister for Natural Resources and Food circulated a six month update on 
Nest and Arbed to Assembly Members in December 2013.  This showed that 2,650 households had received measures through 
Nest and 852 had received measures through Arbed in the first six months of 2013/14.  The Minister anticipated that around 
8000 households would receive measures through the two schemes by the end of March 2014.

61
Tudalen y pecyn 96



Wales country report conclusions and 
recommendations
The Welsh Government had interim targets to eradicate fuel poverty among vulnerable 
households by 2010 and in social housing by 2012, as far as was reasonably practicable.  These 
targets have long passed and yet these areas are still awaiting the urgency which they deserve. 

A report by the Energy Saving Trust has estimated that the cost to take 95% of fuel-poor 
households out of fuel poverty in Wales by improving the performance of their homes (i.e. 
not looking at increasing income or reducing energy prices) would cost £2.4billion at 2008 
prices.65   As the budget for fuel poverty or energy efficiency programmes in Wales is nowhere 
near this; and energy prices have risen since 2008, clearly the level of resource is not adequate. 
It is therefore extremely concerning that the number of households receiving energy efficiency 
measures through the Welsh Government’s main fuel poverty scheme has dropped from an 
average 15,000 households a year under HEES to fewer than 5000 households in the second year 
under Nest. At a time when around 386,000 households were estimated to be in fuel poverty in 
Wales in 2012, this drop in the number of households receiving help makes the 2018 target seem 
less achievable than ever.  

Although Nest also provides help in the form of advice, this is a service the Energy Saving Trust 
provided previously so it is difficult to quantify how many households counted as receiving 
advice through Nest would have received the same sort of help from EST when HEES was 
running.  Further to this, in 2011-12, only 55% of those receiving a home energy improvement 
package through Nest were fuel-poor before receiving the measures, with no equivalent figure 
published for 2012-13, and no reporting done on whether these households were removed from 
fuel poverty by the help they received.

As has historically always been a problem with fuel poverty programmes, fuel-poor households 
whose income level takes them just above the threshold for benefits entitlement do not qualify 
for Nest improvements and are unlikely to find financial help with energy improvements unless 
they live in an area targeted by Arbed.  Similarly, households whose property receives a SAP 
rating just above F may struggle to receive help.  Although Nest offers a whole house approach, 
using whatever technologies are necessary to achieve a target SAP rating of C where practical 
and cost effective to do so, many households with solid walls have been told their home cannot 
be insulated as the measures would not be cost effective.

Finally, one of the most prominent issues affecting the success of fuel poverty policy in Wales is 
the lack of annual reporting on fuel poverty levels and engagement by the Welsh Government 
with external stakeholders. The absence of a Ministerial Advisory Group on fuel poverty means 
that the Welsh Government is unable to benefit from the pooled expertise of stakeholders. 
This reporting and liaison is critical as the meetings enable stakeholders to effectively suggest 
improvements to the national schemes and hold the Welsh Government to account. 

65 Energy Saving Trust, 2013, ‘Costs and benefits of tackling fuel poverty by improving energy efficiency in Wales in 2008’

62
Tudalen y pecyn 97



Key national recommendations

1.	 There is currently no action plan for eradicating fuel poverty in Wales.  The Welsh 
Government should evaluate the lessons learnt from the failure to make progress against 
its interim targets and outline how it intends to prioritise vulnerable households and 
those in social housing.  It should also outline how many households it expects to lift 
from fuel poverty each year to the target date of 2018 from its existing policies. 

2.	 The National Assembly for Wales’ Environment and Sustainability Committee should 
undertake an inquiry into the Welsh Government’s measures to tackle fuel poverty 
and examine the 2010 Fuel Poverty Strategy and whether it is fit for purpose given the 
challenging landscape and unmet targets. 

3.	 The Welsh Government should re-establish the Ministerial Advisory Group on Fuel 
Poverty with representation from the public, private and voluntary sectors.  This group 
should be responsible for the areas listed in the Fuel Poverty Strategy 2010, namely; 
considering and reporting on the Fuel Poverty Strategy, examining the effectiveness of 
current Welsh Government policies in delivering reductions in fuel poverty; identifying 
areas in which the Welsh Government could commission research into fuel poverty.  The 
group should link into the Tackling Poverty External Advisory Group but it should be 
recognised as its own entity. 

4.	 The Welsh Government should update the housing stock information within the Living 
in Wales Survey 2008 and introduce annual reporting of fuel poverty levels. The Welsh 
Government should also report consistently and regularly on Nest and Arbed to allow 
monitoring of progress against fuel poverty targets and enable civil society to hold these 
publicly-funded schemes to account.   

5.	 Although the Welsh Government is taking positive steps to investigate the role of 
health services and their links to tacking fuel poverty, this work should be prioritised, 
culminating in a clear statement setting out what actions are being taken to protect the 
most vulnerable households from the extremes of cold weather in winter. 

6.	 The Welsh Government should re-develop links with stakeholders and help support 
participation and work more closely with the fuel poverty coalition and support an 
annual fuel poverty conference for Wales.

Despite these clear gaps in activity, it must be acknowledged that the Welsh Government has 
maintained a government-funded energy efficiency and fuel poverty scheme; has retained fuel 
poverty as a key aim of the Arbed scheme and is investing to attract further supplier funding to 
Wales.   

63
Tudalen y pecyn 98



Country reports | Northern 
Ireland
Update on fuel poverty and policy framework 
in Northern Ireland

As highlighted elsewhere in the report, there is currently no statutory target for the eradication 
of fuel poverty in Northern Ireland. However, the Department for Enterprise, Trade and 
Investment are tasked with developing a clear framework for the protection of vulnerable 
customers due to the requirements set out in Article 3.7 of the European Directive 2009/72/
EC, which highlights the need for Member States to provide adequate safeguards to protect 
vulnerable customers66.  

Between 2001 and 2004, progress was made in reducing fuel poverty in Northern Ireland (from 
27% of households to 23%) but by 2006 the rate of fuel poverty had increased to 34%, largely 
as a result of very significant increases in the price of fuel. The most recent Northern Ireland 
House Condition Survey report 2011, states that some 42% of households in Northern Ireland 
were in fuel poverty. The House Condition Survey, 2011, indicated the differing levels of fuel 
poverty in each of the housing tenures in Northern Ireland showing that 40% of households 
living in owner-occupied accommodation are in fuel poverty; compared to an alarming 49% 
of households living in private rented accommodation and 39% in social housing. Whilst the 
concentration of fuel poverty within the owner occupied sector is relatively higher, these 
statistics also reveal that even the comparatively demanding energy efficiency standards of 
energy efficiency within social housing are currently being outstepped by increased energy 
prices67. 

Northern Ireland has a range of energy efficiency initiatives within the owner-occupied sector 
with the main programme being the Warm Homes Scheme. In 2011, the Department for Social 
Development (DSD) noted the key recommendations of Professor Christine Liddell’s Preliminary 
Review ‘Defining Fuel Poverty in Northern Ireland’ which highlighted the need for a robust 
mechanism for targeting energy efficiency more effectively.  As a consequence the University of 
Ulster secured funding from the Office of the First Minister and Deputy First Minister (OFMDFM) 
to enable a pilot project to get underway in 2012.

66 This is a requirement across the respective countries and in Great Britain compliance is the shared responsibility of the 
Westminster Government and the Office for Gas and Electricity (OFGEM). 
67 The Decent Homes Standard was introduced in June 2004 to promote measurable improvements to housing in Northern 
Ireland. As a result of this intervention social housing in Northern Ireland attains the highest standard at an average of SAP 68 
across that tenure category.

64
Tudalen y pecyn 99



The Affordable Warmth pilot engaged with 19 local councils and assessed 2,145 households 
using an area-based approach.  Weighted multi-dimensional algorithms were used to identify 
fuel poverty in clusters of 125 households.  The results were positive in that whilst the regional 
fuel poverty rate at the time was 42%, the maps identified areas which averaged 78% of fuel 
poverty prevalence. This pilot was completed in April 2013 and a further Affordable Warmth 
pilot, working with four councils to refine the process was commissioned in 2013/14 the 
outcomes of which have yet to be reported.

The affordable warmth pilots provide an opportunity to inform a new model of delivery which 
will be agreed following a public consultation in Spring 2014 which (according to Minister 
McCausland DSD) will: 

	 “Seek views on the eligibility criteria, measures available and delivery model of a new 		
	 Affordable Warmth Scheme. The responses to this public consultation will be analysed 		
	 and used in an Economic Appraisal and Business Case which will assess the options 		
	 for the future delivery of energy efficiency improvements to low-income households. My 	
	 Department has a rigorous process in place before an Economic Appraisal and Business 	
	 Case is approved, including a thorough examination by the Department’s Economist and 	
	 the Department of Finance and Personnel.”  14th February 2014.

Whilst NEA Northern Ireland has embraced the fresh approach to targeting and the opportunity 
to inform a new model of delivery, there is concern that there may be some challenges with the 
operational delivery of moving from two organisations currently managing the Warm Home 
Scheme for the whole of Northern Ireland to eleven local councils.  An additional concern is the 
timing of this move which takes place under the reform of local government and will see the 
reduction of twenty-six councils to the aforementioned eleven, a process which will aim to be 
completed by April 2015.

These concerns include the potential for weighty administrative costs leading to a less efficient 
scheme and the need to ensure that there is uniformity of delivery across councils.  It is critical 
these changes lead to no loss of access to the level of support provided under existing schemes as 
these changes are taking place against a backdrop of extreme levels of fuel poverty where 68% of 
households are reliant on home heating oil. 

Including the Warm Homes Scheme there are currently three main energy efficiency 
programmes in Northern Ireland and a brief overview and the resources allocated to each 
programme, measures installed and households receiving assistance are noted below.

Warm Homes Scheme 

The Northern Ireland Assembly’s main programme to tackle fuel poverty is the Warm Homes 
Scheme. It operates alongside the aforementioned pilots and is delivered by two scheme 
managers, Bryson Energy and H & A Mechanical; the contract is set to end in June 2014.  Since its 
inception the Warm Homes Scheme has made energy efficiency improvements to almost 120,000 
low-income households at a cost of circa £150 million. Applicants must be in receipt of one of the 
qualifying benefits listed on page 66 in order to benefit from the scheme. 

65
Tudalen y pecyn 100



Table 29: Warm Homes – eligibility criteria

Warm Homes – eligibility criteria Measures available
Householder of any age in receipt of one or more 
of the following benefits:
•	 Income Support
•	 Income-related Employment & Support 

Allowance
•	 Income-based Job Seeker’s Allowance
•	 Pension Credit
•	 Child Tax Credit (with relevant income less 

than £15,910)
•	 Working Tax Credit
•	 Disability Living Allowance
•	 Attendance Allowance
•	 Housing Benefit

Cavity wall insulation

Loft insulation

Hot-water-tank jacket

Benefit entitlement check

Energy advice

Warm Homes Plus

The assessment process within Warm Homes can identify households where additional 
measures, such as heating or more complex insulation, are required. These households can be 
passported to Warm Homes Plus.

Table 30: Warm Homes Plus – eligibility criteria

Warm Homes Plus – eligibility criteria Measures available

Householder of any age in receipt of one or more 
of the following benefits:
•	 Housing Benefit
•	 Income Support
•	 Income Related Employment Support 

Allowance
•	 Income Based Job Seeker’s Allowance
•	 Pension Credit
•	 Working Text Credit

Installation of a fully controlled energy-efficient oil 
or gas central heating system where no system 
currently exists.

Conversion of an existing bottled gas (LPG), 
solid fuel or Economy 7 heating system to oil or 
natural gas.

*If you live in an area where Natural Gas is 
available then that will be the fuel of choice.

Warm Homes Investment

Since the first year of operation of Warm Homes in 2001:

•	 Approximately £150m has been spent on energy efficiency measures;
•	 Insulation has been provided for almost 120,000 households; and
•	 The target of increasing energy consumption of at least 15 per cent in 9,000 fuel-poor 

households per annum has been exceeded in each year of the scheme’s operation.

In her report, The Impact of Fuel Poverty on Children (2009), Professor Liddell states that of 
the £109 million invested through the Northern Ireland Fuel Poverty Strategy, Warm Homes, 
between 2001 and 2008, the savings to the NHS as fewer children needed treatment was £13 
million. This meant that 12% of the Warm Homes investment could be recovered through 
improvements to child health.  She went on to state that if the health improvements for adults 

66
Tudalen y pecyn 101



was added in, around 42% of the investment could be recovered.  Then, taking into account 
carbon offset, another 100% of the initial investment could be included over the lifetime of the 
energy efficiency measures68.

Table 31: Installations per year69

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13
Warm Homes 11,781 7,621 10,381 10,975 10,002

Table 32: Investment each year70

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13
Warm Homes 11,781 7,621 10,381 10,975 10,002

Table 33: Delivery rate by tenure71

Private rented Owner occupied
2008-09 10,624 1,157
2009-10 6,329 1,094
2010-11 8,317 2,064
2011-12 7,657 3,318
2012-13 6,333 3,669

Northern Ireland Sustainable Energy Programme

The Northern Ireland Sustainable Energy Programme (NISEP) is funded through a levy on 
both domestic and commercial electricity customers in Northern Ireland. The average NISEP 
customer contribution was £8.61 per electricity customer across approximately 840,800 
domestic and business customers; resulting in an overall fund of £7,235,413. The NISEP 
maintained its focus on vulnerable customers, defined as domestic customers on lower incomes 
and in or at risk of fuel poverty. 80% of the total funding is ring-fenced for this social purpose. 
The remaining 20% is available for non-priority domestic and also commercial schemes. The 
main aim of NISEP, for the domestic customer, is to reduce energy consumption in the least 
energy-efficient housing stock. 

68 Cost-benefit Analysis Applied to Energy. Environmental Studies Series. Dublin: University College Dublin). Professor Liddell’s 
paper is available at - http://eprints.ulster.ac.uk/14646/
69 Source: DSD Warm Homes Scheme
70 Source: DSD Warm Homes Scheme
71 Source: DSD Warm Homes Scheme

67
Tudalen y pecyn 102



Table 35: NISEP Energy Saver Homes

Table 34: NISEP Free Insulation

Eligibility criteria Measures available
•	 Homeowner or Private Rented
•	 A single household earning less than £18k 

gross per year
•	 A couple or a single parent family earning 

less than £25k gross per year
•	 A single person household or a couple, over 

70, earning less than £30k gross per year

Cavity wall insulation

Loft insulation

Hot-water-tank jacket

*Note: For the over 70 couple household, at least one person from the couple must be over 70.  The 
annual income allowance is gross income.

Eligibility criteria Measures available
To qualify for ESH, the householder must also 
have:
•	 Solid fuel
•	 Economy 7
•	 No central heating system
•	 A broken beyond repair oil system which 

is over 15 years old and whereby the 
householder has a letter from a heating 
engineer to confirm it cannot be fixed.

Installation of a fully controlled energy-efficient 
gas or oil central heating system.

Table 36: Summary of EEL and NISEP annual budgets, costs and expenditure 2005 – 
201272

Total funding Incentives Total 
underspend % 
of total funding

Administration 
and indirect 
costs (EST 
and scheme 
managers % of 
total funding)

Priority 
schemes % of 
total spend

2005-06 £3,964,522 £783,387 N/A Not available 74%
2006-07 £4,132,016 £1,385,926 N/A Not available 77%
2007-08 £5,645,850 £955,908 0.29% Not available 79%
2008-09 £5,908,613 £1,445,523 3% 8% 81%
2009-10 £6,183,559 £1,722,277 10% 7% 82%
2010-11 £7,338,148 £471,447 16% 9% 93%
2011-12 £7,479,775 £245,517 8% 8% 83%
2005-2012 £40,652,483 £7,009,985 N/A Not available 82%

72 Source: CCNI Saving Energy Report

68
Tudalen y pecyn 103



Table 37: Summary of priority measures installed 2010 – 2011 and 2011 – 201273

2010-2011 2011-2012 Annual variation %
Loft Insulation 7,383 6,299 -15%
Cavity and solid wall insulation 2,654 2,844 7%
Low energy lighting 22,928 41,390 81%
Hot water cylinder jacket 2,135 1,627 -24%
Standby controls 1,000 732 -27%
“Shower smart” systems 76 N/A N/A
Heating replacements 1,389 1,769 27%
Total 37,565 54,661 46%

73 Source: CCNI Saving Energy Report
74 Source: Utility Regulator for Northern Ireland

Table 38: Installations per year74

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13
Priority Measures (including small measures 
such as light bulbs, energy monitors and 
standby controls)

N/A 37,565 35,029 Not yet 
released

Whole House Solution (Heating and 
Insulation) 2,193 1,389 1,704 Not yet 

released

Insulation (Loft, Cavity, Solid Wall) 1,448 10,037 7,325 Not yet 
released

Boiler Replacement Scheme

The Boiler Replacement Allowance, launched in 2010 is a statutory scheme designed to replace 
old and inefficient boilers. The Boiler Replacement Allowance is for owner occupiers whose total 
gross income is less than £40,000 and is to help with the cost of replacing boilers which are 15 
years or older with new boilers. Householders may also wish to convert from oil to gas or to a 
wood pellet boiler.

•	 The amount payable will depend on your total income, with those earning less than £20,000 
receiving £700 for replacing their boiler rising to £1,000 if controls are also being installed. 

•	 For those earning £20,000 or more but less than £40,000 the grant is £400 for replacing their 
boiler, rising to £500 if controls are also being installed.

Building control inspection and fee is compulsory for this scheme and the cost of the fee is not 
included in the grant.  Householders are free to use an installer of their choice as long as they 
are “gas safe” registered for gas installations.  Retrospective approval will not be given for this 
scheme.  

69
Tudalen y pecyn 104



Table 39: Boiler Replacement Scheme investment

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 target
BRS spend (£) £2m £2.5m £4.8m YTD
Boilers replaced 1,300 3,500 7,000

Table 40: Boiler Replacement Scheme figures (up to 5 April 2013)75

Enquiries received 31,180
Application forms issued 29,348
Application forms received 13,592
Boiler installer forms issued 13,486
Boiler installer forms received 8,158
Approval issued 7,408
Boilers installed 3,892
Payments authorised 2,907

Table 41: National Housing Executive Stock intervention

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 target
Heating/boiler 
replacements 1,726 2,709 3,802 5,926 4,054 5,750 (planned)

Windows (double 
glazing)

No 
contract

No 
contract

No 
contract

No 
contract 8,204 No contract

75 Source: CCNI Saving Energy Report

The Department of Agriculture and Rural Development (DARD) also provided £1,56m to DSD’s 
Warm Homes Scheme. This funding was mainly to support top-up allowances for rural hard-to-
treat homes through Maximising Access to Rural Areas Project.  A further £614k was provided 
to Power NI to support various energy efficiency measures through the NISEP for free insulation 
for low-income families in rural areas bringing the total investment of £1.72m. The Public Health 
Agency (PHA) also funds a range of initiatives to tackle fuel poverty including NEA’s Northern 
Exposure project.

Barriers to accessibility and delivery of energy efficiency in Northern Ireland 

As outlined there is a range of fuel poverty programmes and significant resources allocated 
and yet the delivery of the schemes is not integrated and as a result there are significant gaps 
in provision in terms of eligibility criteria and measures required to tackle the extent of fuel 
poverty within Northern Ireland. 

Warm Homes Scheme

The customer journey for the Warm Homes Scheme involves a customer being visited up to 10 
times, with an average job receiving in the region of five visits to the applicant’s home as shown 
below:

70
Tudalen y pecyn 105



•	 Initial assessment by the scheme assessor
•	 Pre-survey visit by allocated contractor (in some cases this may not be necessary)
•	 Visit to install measures (generally one day for insulation measures and up to three days for 

heating installations)
•	 Quality inspection visit by the scheme inspector
•	 EPC assessment visit by the scheme manager

Certain jobs with specific issues may require an additional technical visit by the scheme manager 
(perhaps accompanied by NIHE staff) and other jobs may be selected for quality inspection by 
NIHE. During the assessment the following details are collected:

•	 Confirmation of personal details of applicant
•	 Proof of eligibility for assistance under scheme (proof of ownership/tenancy agreement  and 

proof of qualifying benefit)
•	 Technical information pertaining to the house to establish measures required
•	 Financial information to allow benefit entitlement check to be carried out (if requested).

In addition, a benefit check is offered to all customers and data to allow this to be carried out 
is gathered at assessment stage. At the same time advice is provided by the scheme assessor 
and the installing contractor on how measures function and how to gain the maximum energy 
efficiency benefits from them. In addition, generic energy advice (but tailored as appropriate to 
individual houses) is given during assessment verbally and backed up with an information sheet 
left with each customer. When the household income data is gathered at assessment it is then 
processed and written confirmation is sent to each customer confirming if they are potentially 
eligible for any additional benefits which they are not claiming at present.  This advice is 
accompanied by names and telephone numbers of appropriate organisations who need to be 
contacted to claim any additional benefits identified. If a householder is proven to be eligible for 
the scheme, assuming that there is no technical reason discovered at survey or installation stage 
as to why measures cannot be installed, then as long as sufficient annual scheme budget remains 
work will go ahead.

Northern Ireland conclusions and 
recommendations
The analysis above highlights how the myriad of schemes in operation in Northern Ireland have 
little coordinated oversight.  At the time of writing the DSD has issued a public consultation 
‘From Fuel Poverty to Achieving Affordable Warmth’ - February 2014 which opens the debate on 
the future direction of fuel poverty policy. It has therefore never been more timely to develop a 
strategy to ensure that there is a single department responsible for the delivery of these energy 
efficiency schemes with a single entry point for customers. 

These schemes also need to provide value for money and be delivered in a clear and transparent 
fashion, with information on administrative costs and incentives paid to suppliers made 
available.  The limited resources should be targeted to those most in need to ensure that 
spending on fuel poverty is used smartly and efficiently.

71
Tudalen y pecyn 106



In order to ensure transparency it should be a requirement that a common framework is 
developed for reporting purposes across all schemes. This should include the investment, 
household type and tenure, measures installed and dropout rates.  Further analysis of these 
reports should inform policy development.  Such reporting would highlight the current lack of 
provision for replacing broken oil heating systems and obsolescent natural gas systems. The 
Northern Exposure project, coordinated by NEA Northern Ireland, highlights that this policy is 
having dire consequences for low-income householders who are left with no source of heating or 
an extremely inefficient heating system which is constantly breaking down.  

There needs to be due regard for households who cannot afford to pay any short fall in the 
funding for measures that should be installed.

Work is underway by the Department of Enterprise Trade and Investment (DETI) to develop 
the Energy Efficiency Obligation (EEO) which will replace the NISEP in Northern Ireland.  When 
this EEO is implemented it will have the potential as with NISEP to facilitate a progressive 
mechanism to support specified energy efficiency standards within fuel-poor households.  
However, this outcome is by no means guaranteed and it will be imperative that NEA Northern 
Ireland campaigns to shape this investment against the backdrop of other existing energy 
efficiency programmes. 

Key national recommendations:

1.	 A single department must be responsible for the delivery of energy efficiency schemes 
with a single entry point for customers.  

2.	 National schemes need to provide value for money and be delivered in a clear and 
transparent fashion, with information on administrative costs and incentives paid to 
suppliers made available.   

3.	 Current resources should be targeted to those most in need. 

4.	 The Energy Efficiency Obligation must support specified energy efficiency standards 
within fuel-poor households and the 80% ring-fence for fuel poverty currently 
embedded within the NISEP, needs to be retained.  

5.	 There needs to be smooth transition from the current Warm Homes Scheme to any 
new scheme which can ensure that there is uniformity of delivery across local councils. 

6.	 Adequate fully-funded provision needs to be introduced for broken and obsolete oil 
heating systems and the Warm Homes Scheme (or its successor) should fund heating 
controls.  

72
Tudalen y pecyn 107



Summary of key UK-wide findings and 
recommendations

SECTION SIX

As illustrated in sections two and three, the extent and depth of fuel poverty across the UK is 
growing and energy prices are predicted to continue to rise beyond inflation across the United 
Kingdom for the foreseeable future. This is now one of the most prominent public policy issues 
across the UK. Whilst the Governments of Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland have responded 
by maintaining or increasing tax-funded support for their domestic energy efficiency schemes 
targeted on fuel-poor households, across all nations, based on existing policies, it is likely there 
will continue to be an expected increase in fuel poverty levels where the 10% fuel poverty 
definition is retained and an increase in the depth of fuel poverty in England under the new Low 
Income High Cost measurement. 

The report has noted that a UK-wide approach to eradicating fuel poverty has never been such 
a distant prospect and there is currently no UK-wide approach to enhance the UK’s aging and 
thermally inefficient housing stock for the poorest households. An illustration of the limited 
coordination across the nations on these areas was explored in section four which highlighted 
the recent changes that were made to resources under the Energy Company Obligation (ECO). 
As reported in this chapter, initially these were insufficient considering the scale and depth 
of fuel poverty across Great Britain and this situation is now even more acute. This has made 
the realisation of current national fuel poverty aspirations or targets unlikely to be met (or 
altogether redundant), without urgently evaluating the contribution all energy efficiency policies 
(domestic schemes and ECO)  are assumed to make to these national targets, now and in the 
future. 
 
The respective country reports highlight how ECO resources play a key role in supporting 
publicly funded energy efficiency schemes in Wales and Scotland, given the propensity of solid 
wall and hard-to-treat properties within these countries. England continues to be wholly reliant 
on this policy to meet its future fuel poverty targets. The interventions announced in the 2013 
Autumn Statement have led to many projects now being re-profiled or stopped altogether. The 
country reports also show how within Great Britain, different approaches to energy efficiency 
by the devolved administrations will also affect where suppliers target their roll-out for the 
remainder of the ECO programme. The report has noted ECO is not ring-fenced nationally and 
therefore it is unknown to what extent ECO will be delivered within the different nations. Once 
again, this is especially a concern in England, given that ECO is the principal policy to enable 
low-income and vulnerable households in England to benefit from energy efficiency measures 
and suppliers are likely to respond to the positive impact of the introduction of recurrent 
funding that has been allocated to all Scottish local authorities to support ECO delivery and the 
reinvigorated Nest and Arbed programmes in Wales. 

The Scottish and Welsh country reports also note the progress that is being made to adopt a 
holistic community-based approach to deliver energy efficiency improvements in a cost-effective 
and efficient manner. Northern Ireland is also piloting this model and is focusing delivery on 
smaller census output areas with positive results. In Northern Ireland, the Northern Ireland 
Sustainable Energy Programme (NISEP) which is managed by the Northern Ireland Utility 

73
Tudalen y pecyn 108



Regulatory Authority imposes a levy on electricity bills which is set to move to an Energy 
Efficiency Obligation made up of a levy across all fuels, including the non-regulated oil industry.  
Whilst the EEO has the potential to be a progressive mechanism to support specified energy 
efficiency standards within fuel-poor households, this outcome is by no means guaranteed at 
the present time and there is a need to ensure there is a smooth transition between existing 
schemes. Despite the area-based model also receiving some support from the Westminster 
Government, the country report for England noted that there continues to be no recurrent 
funding (or binding duty), which ensures upper tier local authorities in England play their key 
part in addressing fuel poverty, reducing domestic carbon emissions and support and facilitate 
emerging relevant public health responsibilities. 

By comparing the different national customer journeys for energy efficiency, there are 
also perceptible inconsistent requirements across the UK to specify the level which energy 
efficiency interventions need to reach within fuel-poor households. This has led to a significant 
disparity between the affordability outcomes that can be achieved within the different energy 
efficiency programmes within the UK. In England, even where eligible households exist, ECO-
obligated energy suppliers have full discretion to determine the extent of support they (or their 
contractors/agents) provide to households and the measures they choose to install and suppliers 
may only provide a limited number of energy efficiency measures to eligible households, if at 
all. Whilst there has been movement towards a whole house approach in Wales and Northern 
Ireland and an area-based approach in Scotland, this is not universally applied across schemes 
and this outcome is often hard to monitor. National reporting on which measures are installed 
to what types of household across the devolved nations (and at a GB-level through reporting 
on ECO) is also mixed and, as noted above, it is very hard to see what aggregated contribution 
energy efficiency policies are assumed to make to current national fuel poverty aspirations or 
targets. Once again, this makes it more unlikely these targets will ultimately be met. 

The country reports also illustrate progress across tenures; both Scottish and Welsh 
Governments continue to work towards improvements in the social-rented stock of these 
countries. Whilst Northern Ireland Housing Executive has achieved comparatively demanding 
standards across social housing, there is a fear that this progress could be outstripped by 
the soaring cost of energy. Whilst England has made some limited progress to go beyond the 
previous Government’s Decent Homes Standard requirements, the aforementioned changes to 
ECO have now left many social housing projects being re-profiled or stopped altogether. 
Within the private rented sector, there continues to be a disappointing penetration of energy 
efficiency interventions. This is not only due to the historical split incentive (the problem that 
landlords don’t want to pay for energy efficiency measures when tenants reap the benefits) 
but equally a lack of enforcement of existing landlord regulations. The noticeable delay by the 
Westminster Government to introduce ambitious mandatory targets to improve housing in 
this sector has also had a knock-on effect, resulting in disagreement on the extent to which 
compliance with these future regulations should fall on the tenant or, through the Energy 
Company Obligation, on energy consumers (instead of the landlord or additional forms of 
public funding). Emerging models could provide much needed additional investment in energy 
efficiency, however, at the present time they are not being developed at scale and receive little or 
no support from the Westminster Government. 

74
Tudalen y pecyn 109



Finally, we hope to have illustrated the extent to which GB domestic electricity consumers 
are contributing significant sums to HM Treasury through carbon taxes, and VAT (including 
additional VAT applied to levies on electricity bills). 

The current situation can be addressed, without sacrificing (and indeed enhancing) a 
commitment to environmental aspirations but this will require enhanced political will and 
a potential recognition that the current suite of policies (either at a national or UK level) are 
not sufficient to protect households from rising energy costs and contribute to fuel poverty 
reduction targets, through leveraging this additional revenue into national schemes to bring all 
UK housing occupied by low-income households up to the standard of a new home built today. 
This would result in multiple benefits including more energy-efficient homes, more affordable 
energy bills, carbon reduction, reduced health and care costs and economic growth through 
additional jobs created and increase money circulating in poorer communities. 

75

Key UK-wide recommendations 
 
i	 Cutting or dramatically modifying existing energy efficiency programmes was the 
	 wrong short term solution within the 2013 Autumn Statement. The UK Government 
	 should massively expand resources directed towards energy efficiency more generally, 
	 but especially for low-income households living in the worst properties and most 
	 deprived areas. Resources fall short of the level required to protect the health and 
	 welfare of these households and meet national fuel poverty targets. 

ii.	 The UK Government must recognise the impact that energy policy set in Westminster 	
	 has on the whole of the UK and must quantify the impacts on fuel poverty across 
	 the UK before making significant policy decisions. Embedding this requirement into 
	 the standard impact assesment proforma within the Department of Energy and 
	 Climate Change (DECC) is a priority.

iii.	 HM Treasury must not directly benefit from any schemes that effectively increase the 
	 cost of energy.  Any revenues derived from  levies and the cost of policies designed to 
	 reduce carbon should be spent on helping to end the misery and suffering caused 
	 by Britain’s cold homes, supported by a long-term goal to bring all UK housing 
	 occupied by low-income households up to the standard of a new home built today. The 
	 Treasury should also pledge to cut or recycle all VAT revenue which is currently paid 
	 on all energy consumer-funded levies across the UK.

iv.	 There is a need for greater and more transparent coordination across the Westminster 	
	 and devolved governments on all consumer energy issues. A formal working group 
	 of relevant departments from the different administrations and the respective 
	 regulators and consumer groups should be established to tackle the three main drivers 
	 of fuel poverty: improving energy efficiency standards across the UK and promoting 
	 policies to maximise incomes and mitigate high energy prices, and report on their 
	 actions.

Tudalen y pecyn 110



Summary of key national recommendations

ANNEX A

Key national recommendations for England

1.	 The Westminster Government must set a target of EPC band B by 2030 for all homes 
occupied by low-income households, and an interim target of EPC band D by 2020 and band 
C by 2025. 

2.	 The most critical area that NEA believes needs to urgently be addressed is that public 
funding for heating and insulation measures for low-income and vulnerable households 
in England (the Warm Front programme) terminated at the end of January 2013. England 
continues to be the only UK nation providing no direct financial support to enable vulnerable 
and financially disadvantaged households to improve heating and insulation standards in 
their homes. Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland have all continued to maintain or even 
expand their tax-funded energy efficiency programmes. 

3.	 Any households receiving support through ECO should know which supplier has originally 
funded that measure or work (within or outside of a brokerage arrangement).  

4.	 The Westminster Government must take full responsibility for ensuring there is effective 
monitoring and scrutiny of exactly what contributions are being sought from AW households 
for different energy efficiency measures.  

5.	 The Westminster Government should look to intervene to provide a facility to ‘top up’ ECO to 
enable households who can’t make the relevant contributions.  

6.	 The Westminster Government should activate existing powers to provide guaranteed 
assistance to specified householders.  

7.	 The Westminster Government must ensure local authorities fulfil their current duties in 
relation to housing standards and move beyond competition based, non-recurrent funding 
models to galvanise local activity.  

8.	 DECC must recognise and act on Electricity Distribution Network Operators’ ability to 
support a new form of area-based electricity demand reduction initiative that could 
potentially play a key role within the UK energy system.  

9.	 There needs to be a clearly identified mechanism to make ESAS aware of these local schemes 
and in turn households can be referred directly to the local programme. This is a key issue to 
address in order to secure the cooperation of local authorities and other local intermediaries.  

10.	 In the longer term, DECC and the Department for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) should develop a binding duty, which is well resourced, to ensure all upper tier 
local authorities play their key part in addressing fuel poverty, reducing domestic carbon 
emissions and supporting and facilitating emerging public health responsibilities.

76
Tudalen y pecyn 111



Key national recommendations for Scotland 

1.	 Scottish Government budgets for fuel poverty programmes must be sustained and given time 
to be delivered. Further underspend must be avoided. 

2.	 The UK Government must avoid disruptive change to ECO and must maintain its ambitions to 
effect real improvements in energy efficiency and affordable warmth. 

3.	 The disconnect and unintended consequences arising from the coupling of ECO and HEEPS 
need to be addressed urgently. 

4.	 Harder to treat measures must be supported well in programmes in order to achieve the 
results required. 

5.	 Rural and off-gas grid areas need to be better served by the main national and GB 
programmes. 

6.	 Public reporting of the main programmes, including geographic activity needs to improve if 
lessons are to be learned and progress tracked. 

7.	 The Scottish Government should bring forward its plans to introduce energy efficiency 
regulation in the Private Rented Sector to stop it lagging behind both the social rented sector 
and similar moves in England.

Key national recommendations for Wales

1.	 There is currently no action plan for eradicating fuel poverty in Wales.  The Welsh 
Government should evaluate the lessons learnt from the failure to make progress against 
its interim targets and outline how it intends to prioritise vulnerable households and those 
in social housing.  It should also outline how many households it expects to lift from fuel 
poverty each year to the target date of 2018 from its existing policies. 

2.	 The National Assembly for Wales’ Environment and Sustainability Committee should 
undertake an inquiry into the Welsh Government’s measures to tackle fuel poverty 
and examine the 2010 Fuel Poverty Strategy and whether it is fit for purpose given the 
challenging landscape and unmet targets. 

3.	 The Welsh Government should re-establish the Ministerial Advisory Group on Fuel Poverty 
with representation from the public, private and voluntary sectors.  This group should be 
responsible for the areas listed in the Fuel Poverty Strategy 2010, namely; considering 
and reporting on the Fuel Poverty Strategy, examining the effectiveness of current Welsh 
Government policies in delivering reductions in fuel poverty; identifying areas in which the 
Welsh Government could commission research into fuel poverty.  The group should link into 
the Tackling Poverty External Advisory Group but it should be recognised as its own entity. 

77
Tudalen y pecyn 112



4.	 The Welsh Government should update the housing stock information within the Living 
in Wales Survey 2008 and introduce annual reporting of fuel poverty levels. The Welsh 
Government should also report consistently and regularly on Nest and Arbed to allow 
monitoring of progress against fuel poverty targets to enable civil society to hold these 
publicly funded schemes to account.   

5.	 Although the Welsh Government is taking positive steps to investigate the role of health 
services and their links to tacking fuel poverty, this work should be prioritised, culminating 
in a clear statement setting out what actions are being taken to protect the most vulnerable 
households from the extremes of cold weather in winter. 

6.	 The Welsh Government should redevelop links with stakeholders and help support 
participation and work more closely with the fuel poverty coalition and support an annual 
fuel poverty conference for Wales.

Key national recommendations for Northern Ireland

1.	 A single department must be responsible for the delivery of energy efficiency schemes with a 
single entry point for customers.  

2.	 National schemes need to provide value for money and be delivered in a clear and 
transparent fashion, with information on administrative costs and incentives paid to 
suppliers made available.   

3.	 Current resources should be targeted to those most in need. 

4.	 EEO must support a specified energy efficiency standard within fuel-poor households and 
the 80% ring-fence for fuel poverty currently embedded within the NISEP needs to be 
retained.  

5.	 There needs to be a smooth transition between existing schemes and ensure that there is 
uniformity of delivery across councils.  

6.	 Adequate fully-funded provision needs to be introduced for broken oil heating systems and 
the Warm Homes Scheme (or its successor) should fund heating controls.  

78
Tudalen y pecyn 113



79

List of tables

ANNEX B

Page
16 Table 1: Fuel poverty levels in the UK by country, 2011 (DECC)

17 Table 2: Fuel poverty levels by country in Great Britain in 2013 (CSE)

18 Table 3: Highlighting average annual dual-fuel energy bill, 1 Jan 2005-1 Jan 2014

Table 4: Price differentials between payment methods, 1 Jan 2005-1 Jan 2014

21 Table 5: Breakdown of estimated average impact of energy and  climate change policies on average gas and 
electricity household energy bills

22 Table 6: Aggregate contribution by the average GB electricity consumer to revenue to the Treasury from the EU 
Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS) and the Carbon Price Floor (CPF)

Table 7: Average VAT paid on domestic electricity bills per household

23 Table 8: Aggregate VAT receipts to Treasury paid on domestic electricity bills

26 Table 9: Investment on energy efficiency programmes for low-income households or communities within the 
different nations (2013-14)

Table 10: Nominal (not actual) expenditure on energy efficiency programmes 2010-2011 and 2013-2014

28 Table 11: Illustrates how suppliers are progressing towards their current obligations

29 Table 12: Difference of hard-to-treat ECO measures installed (current vs proposed targets)

30 Table 13: Percentage of ECO delivery to non-gas fuelled households within AW (current and proposed levels)

34 Table 14: Fuel poverty in England since 2003 to 2013 under both definitions

36 Table 15: Resources directed towards energy efficiency schemes 2010 to present

38 Table 16: Energy efficiency rating band (SAP 2009) by Eligible for Affordable Warmth component of ECO compared 
to households in fuel poverty under LIHC definition

40 Table 17: Fuel poverty by tenure in England (LIHC measurement)

41 Table 18: Homes failing Decent Homes Standard on Thermal Comfort in England 2011

42 Table 19: Other potential sources of funding for energy efficiency or emerging models

47 Table 20: Energy Efficiency Standard for Social Housing (EESSH)

54 Table 21: Assessments of historic fuel poverty levels in Wales (since 1996)

56 Table 22: Assessments of historic number of installations per year (per national EE programme since 2008-09 to 
present) and number of households assisted

57 Table 23: Total budget per year (since 2008-09 if possible to present) per national EE programme

Table 24: Total Arbed investment

Table 25: Nest investment 2011-12

58 Table 26: Nest and Arbed investment 2012-13 and 2013-14

Table 27: Delivery rate by tenure (since 2008-09 to present)

59 Table 28: Other non-recurrent funding in Wales

66 Table 29: Warm Homes - eligibility criteria

Table 30: Warm Homes Plus - eligibility criteria

67 Table 31: Installations per year

Table 32: Investment each year

Table 33: Delivery rate by tenure

68 Table 34: NISEP free insulation

Table 35: NISEP Energy Saver Homes

Table 36: Summary of EEL and NISEP annual budgets, costs and expenditure 2005-2012

69 Table 37: Summaryof priority measures installed 2010-2011 and 2011-2012

Table 38: Installations per year

70 Table 39: Boiler Replacement Scheme investment

Table 40: Boiler Replacement Scheme figures (up to 5 April 2013)

Table 41: National Housing Executive stock intervention

Tudalen y pecyn 114



NEA and EAS acknowledge the invaluable support of
 Consumer Futures in the preparation and publication of

the UK Fuel Poverty Monitor

National Energy Action
Level 6, West One

Forth Banks
Newcastle upon Tyne NE1 3PA

Telephone: 0191 261 5677
Email: first.last@nea.org.uk

Charity No. 290511
Company limited by guarantee

Registered in England No. 1853927

Energy Action Scotland
Suite 4a, Ingram House

227 Ingram Street
Glagsow G1 1DA

Telephone: 0141 226 3064
Email: eas@eas.org.uk

Charity No. SCO 09280
Company limited by guarantee

Registered in Scotland No. 101660

Tudalen y pecyn 115



National Assembly for Wales 

Environment and Sustainability Committee 

EEFP 05  

Inquiry into Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty  

Response from: Age Cymru 
 

1 
       
 

 

 
Consultation Response 

 
Inquiry into Fuel Poverty and Energy Efficiency in Wales 

 
June 2014 

1. Introduction 

 
1.1 Age Cymru is the leading national charity working to improve the lives of all older people 

in Wales. We believe older people should be able to lead healthy and fulfilled lives, have 
adequate income, access to high quality services and the opportunity to shape their own 
future. We seek to provide a strong voice for all older people in Wales and to raise 
awareness of the issues of importance to them. 

 
1.2 We are pleased to respond to the Environment and Sustainability Committee’s inquiry into 

fuel poverty and energy efficiency in Wales.  

2. Context 

 
2.1 Fuel poverty is a significant problem for many older people in Wales. Around 386,000 

households were estimated to be in fuel poverty in 2012, equivalent to around 30% of all 
households in Wales.1 Older people are most likely to suffer fuel poverty. The latest 
detailed figures published show that 42% of pensioner households were in fuel poverty 
compared with an average of 26% of all households in Wales.2 The static and persistently 
low incomes of older people who are reliant on the State Pension or other state benefits is 
a factor, as is the fact that older people tend to live in older, energy inefficient properties 
and are more likely to live in rural areas or off of the main gas network. 
 

2.2 Fuel poverty is a significant cause of excess winter deaths and in winter 2012/13 there 
were 1,900 excess winter deaths in Wales. This was a 32% fall from the previous winter, 
which had seen the highest number since 1999/2000, but still above the 10 year average. 
89% of these deaths involved people aged 65 or over, with the highest rate amongst 
those over 85 who constituted nearly 60% of the total.3 

                                            
1
 Wales Fuel Poverty Projection Tool, Welsh Government, 

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/fuelpoverty/researchreports/?lang=en (accessed 9
th
 

June 2014) 
2
 Living in Wales 2008: Fuel Poverty, Welsh Government, November 2010 

3
 Excess Winter Deaths in England and Wales 2012/13 (provisional), Office for National Statistics, 2013 

Tudalen y pecyn 116

Eitem 3

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/fuelpoverty/researchreports/?lang=en


2 
       

 
2.3 A recent report by Age Cymru into poverty in later life, Life on a low income,4 found that 

energy bills were the aspect of household finances of greatest concern to older people. 
57% of respondents stated that they were worried about how to afford gas and electricity 
bills. In addition, 35% of retired households reported cutting back on the amount of 
heating or electricity they use over recent years as a result of their financial 
circumstances. Major concerns over energy bills were shared across all age groups, 
indicating that this is a significant issue for many in society.5 
 

3. Welsh Government strategy 
 
3.1 The Welsh Government has targets to eradicate fuel poverty which were set out in the first 

Welsh Fuel Poverty Strategy in 2003 and reiterated by the Fuel Poverty Strategy 2010.  
Unfortunately the first two targets – to eradicate fuel poverty amongst all vulnerable 
households in Wales by 2010 and in social housing by 2012 – were missed and there is 
no realistic prospect of achieving the final target of eradicating fuel poverty completely by 
2018. 

 
3.2 In addition, many of the mechanisms and measures contained within the 2010 Fuel 

Poverty Strategy are out of date or no longer applicable. The Welsh Government’s more 
recent Tackling Poverty Action Plan simply states that it intends to “build on 
complementary strategies such as the Fuel Poverty Strategy” but is not intended to take 
its place. In light of changes since 2010 and the increasing numbers of households in fuel 
poverty, we believe that the Welsh Government needs to set out a credible evidence base 
and clear programme describing how and when it intends to reduce levels of fuel poverty, 
supported by reasonable timescales. We note that the UK Government is due to deliver its 
own refreshed Fuel Poverty Strategy by November 2014, as required by the Energy Bill 
2013. 
 

3.3 Despite good intentions and some positive action in Wales, most notably through the fuel 
poverty schemes Nest and Arbed, progress to tackle the issue remains slow overall. In 
fact, despite the existence of these schemes, the impact of rising energy prices (which are 
out of the control of the Welsh Government) mean that fuel poverty is very likely to still be 
rising in Wales. Unfortunately it is not easily possible to quantify this because of a lack of 
up-to-date Wales-specific data, while the data which is available is only based on 
estimates and is not detailed enough to enable specific targeting of schemes or 
measures. 
 

3.4 Given the weaknesses in Welsh data on fuel poverty it is regrettable that the Welsh 
Government decided to disband the Ministerial Advisory Group on Fuel Poverty, which 
provided a forum for issues to be discussed and possible interventions to be targeted. It 
also enabled the Welsh Government to receive advice from a range of sectors, including 
energy providers, household representatives and local government. A broader Tackling 
Poverty Expert Advisory Group has been set up but it is not in a position to provide the 
kind of detailed and specific advice which could help the Welsh Government to target its 
interventions in this area. 

                                            
4
 Life on a low income, Age Cymru, 2014 

5
 ICM Opinion Poll for Age Cymru, February 2014 (sample: 1000 adults 18+ in Wales). 

Tudalen y pecyn 117



3 
       

4. Energy efficiency programmes 

 
4.1 Of the main factors which determine whether or not a household will be in fuel poverty, the 

Welsh Government only exerts control over one: the energy efficiency of homes. The 
other areas, household income and energy prices, remain Westminster’s domain. 
Nevertheless, improving energy efficiency is an important remedy so the Welsh 
Government can have an impact on the scale and severity of fuel poverty. 
 

4.2 Nest is the Welsh Government’s flagship fuel poverty programme. Following criticism of 
the targeting of the predecessor Home Energy Efficiency Scheme (HEES), Nest operates 
a tight eligibility criteria with improvement measures available only to households in 
receipt of certain means-tested benefits and living in very inefficient homes (equivalent to 
an EPC rating of F or G). Non-qualifying households are able to access advice, 
information and referrals to other schemes and organisations. Nest statistics show that 
44% of householders receiving an energy improvement package through Nest in 2012/13 
were aged 60 and above, with half of those over 75.6 Over 3000 households have also 
been referred for benefits entitlement checks from other organisations, such as local Age 
Cymru organisations, following an initial enquiry to Nest. 
 

4.3 Nest also appears to be relatively successful in materially improving the energy efficiency 
of the homes in which measures are installed. In 2013/14, 47% or households had a SAP 
rating of G and 53% had a SAP rating of F prior to measures being installed, with the 
majority being improved to D (49%) or C (31%) afterwards.7 

 
4.4 The Welsh Government estimates that the impact of energy efficiency measures installed 

between 2010 and 2012 has reduced the number of households in fuel poverty by 3 
percentage points, equivalent to 36,000 households.8 
 

4.5 The Welsh Government should be commended for continuing to fund and promote an 
energy efficiency scheme which is specifically targeted towards reducing fuel poverty. 
This stands in contrast to the situation in England where the Green Deal, which is 
inappropriate for many households in fuel poverty due to its reliance on loans repaid 
through future energy bills, is the only scheme currently running. However, the relatively 
small size of the Nest annual budget (£18m in 2013-14) means that the overall reach of 
the scheme is small. The Energy Saving Trust has estimated that taking 95% of fuel poor 
households out of fuel poverty by improving the energy efficiency of their homes (and not 
tackling income or energy prices) would cost £2.4bn at 2008 prices.9 

 
4.6 Age Cymru has supported calls from the Energy Bill Revolution campaign for the UK 

Government to invest the new receipts it will receive from carbon taxes (estimated to be 
worth £63bn between 2011 and 2027) in a major programme to improve the energy 

                                            
6
 Nest Annual Report April 2012 – March 2013, http://www.nestwales.org.uk/Resources  

7
 UK Fuel Poverty Monitor 2013-14, NEA, Consumer Futures and Energy Action Scotland, 2014 

8
 Wales Fuel Poverty Projection Tool, Welsh Government, 

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/fuelpoverty/researchreports/?lang=en (accessed 9
th
 

June 2014) 
9
 Costs and benefits of tackling fuel poverty by improving energy efficiency in Wales in 2008, Energy Saving 

Trust, 2013 

Tudalen y pecyn 118

http://www.nestwales.org.uk/Resources
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/fuelpoverty/researchreports/?lang=en


4 
       

efficiency of homes. This would likely result in significant new money being available to 
the Welsh Government for it to expand the scope and scale of its own energy efficiency 
improvements. Overall however, progress will only be made if basic incomes are 
improved and energy prices are controlled at the same time as energy efficiency 
improvements are realised. 
 

4.7 Nest is currently supplemented by the Arbed programme in Wales, which uses an area-
based approach to target multiple households for energy efficiency improvements. Phase 
2 of Arbed is currently running and will invest £45m by 2015 to install improvements in a 
minimum of 4800 homes. This is in addition to 7500 homes which received funded 
measures under phase 1 of the programme.10 In a statement, the Minister envisaged that 
8000 households would be helped through Nest and Arbed in 2013/14, though the 
published target for each year is 6,000 homes in 2013/14 and 2014/15.11 
 

4.8 The UK Government’s main programme is currently the Green Deal which can provide 
funding for householders to improve the energy efficiency of their properties in the form of 
loans, which are subsequently repaid through energy bills. Loans are available over long 
terms (up to 25 years) but the level of the loan is limited to ensure the repayment of the 
loan is no greater than the savings on the energy bill that will come from installing the 
measures. This means it is unlikely that people living in hard to heat homes, particularly 
those with solid walls will qualify for Green Deal because the measures for these types of 
home are considerably more expensive than this criteria allows for. Recently announced 
changes by the UK Government are seeking to address this, as well as improve take-up 
of the Green Deal overall. Overall, however, the Green Deal has struggled to gather 
support from householders, with only 626 finance packages taken out across the UK 
during 2013.12 

5. The Energy Company Obligation (ECO) 

 
5.1 Support is also available from energy suppliers as a result of the Energy Company 

Obligation (ECO). This includes an Affordable Warmth element which can provide heating 
and insulation improvements for low-income and vulnerable households, subject to 
eligibility criteria. This is arguably the only UK Government-sanctioned scheme targeted 
specifically at those in fuel poverty. Regrettably it is this element of ECO which has been 
reduced in scope by UK Government attempts to limit the impact of increases on energy 
bills following public and media pressure. 
 

5.2 The Welsh Government has sought to maximise the amount of ECO money invested in 
Wales. In October 2013, the Minister announced £70m funding (£35m for 2014/15 and 
£35m for 2015/16) for this, which should make Wales an attractive place for energy 
companies to spend their ECO money and achieve targets, though it is not yet known how 
many households will receive measures through this route. 

                                            
10

 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/efficiency/arbed/?lang=en (accessed 9
th
 June 2014) 

11
 Building Resilient Communities: Taking Forward the Tackling Poverty Action Plan, Welsh Government, 2013. 

12
 House of Commons Library note on The Green Deal, 6

th
 February 2014 http://www.parliament.uk/briefing-

papers/SN05763/the-green-deal  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 119

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/efficiency/arbed/?lang=en
http://www.parliament.uk/briefing-papers/SN05763/the-green-deal
http://www.parliament.uk/briefing-papers/SN05763/the-green-deal


5 
       

 
5.3 It remains to be seen what impact the changes to the ECO programme made by the UK 

Government have on the number of households helped, and the success that the Welsh 
Government will therefore have in seeking to attract ECO money to Wales. 

 
6. Other issues 

 
6.1 Overall, none of the energy efficiency programmes currently in existence is designed to 

react quickly in the event of a household experiencing a heating breakdown. Some energy 
suppliers have the facility to provide emergency electric heaters, and support can 
sometimes also be provided by third sector organisations, but this is variable dependent 
upon demand and geography.  

 
6.2 We believe that the Welsh Government could help tackle excess winter deaths and cold 

related illness by developing a Cold Weather Plan to deliver crisis support and funding for 
emergency heating during severe weather. As part of this we believe that it should give 
consideration to establishing a separate emergency crisis fund, or building such provision 
into the future re-tendering of the Nest scheme, to help people in situations where a 
breakdown of heating risks damaging their health. 

 
6.3 We hope this information is helpful to the Committee in its consideration of this important 

issue and would be happy to provide further information as required. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 120



Ymchwiliad Pwyllgor Amgylchedd a  

Chynaliadwyedd Cynulliad Cenedlaethol  

EEFP 16 

Ymchwiliad i effeithlonrwydd ynni a thlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru 

Ymateb gan: Comisiynydd Pobl Hŷn Cymru 

 

 

 

Ymateb gan                                            

Gomisiynydd Pobl Hŷn Cymru 

i 

Ymchwiliad                                                   

Pwyllgor Amgylchedd a Chynaliadwyedd 

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru                                

i Effeithlonrwydd Ynni a Thlodi Tanwydd 

yng Nghymru  

 

Mehefin 2014 

 

 
I gael rhagor o wybodaeth am yr ymateb hwn, cysylltwch â: 

Comisiynydd Pobl Hŷn Cymru, 
Adeiladau Cambrian, 
Sgwâr Mount Stuart, 
Caerdydd, CF10 5FL 
08442 640670 

Tudalen y pecyn 121



 
 

2 

 

 

 
 

Am y Comisiynydd  

 

Mae Comisiynydd Pobl Hŷn Cymru yn llais ac yn hyrwyddwr annibynnol 

ar ran pobl hŷn ledled Cymru, gan sefyll a siarad drostynt ac ar eu rhan. 

Mae’n gweithio i sicrhau bod pawb sy’n agored i niwed ac yn wynebu 

risg yn cael eu cadw’n ddiogel, ac yn sicrhau bod llais pob person hŷn 

yn cael ei glywed. Mae hefyd yn sicrhau eu bod yn cael ymarfer dewis a 

rheolaeth, heb deimlo’n ynysig na theimlo bod gwahaniaethu yn eu 

herbyn, a’u bod yn derbyn y gefnogaeth a’r gwasanaethau y mae arnynt 

eu hangen. Sbardunir gwaith y Comisiynydd gan yr hyn y mae pobl hŷn 

yn ei ddweud sydd bwysicaf iddynt hwy ac mae eu llais wrth galon 

popeth mae’n ei wneud. Mae’r Comisiynydd yn gweithio i wneud 

Cymru’n lle da i bobl dyfu’n hŷn ynddo - nid dim ond i rai, ond i bawb.        

 
Mae’r Comisiynydd Pobl Hŷn yn cyflawni’r canlynol: 

 

 Hybu ymwybyddiaeth o hawliau a buddiannau pobl hŷn yng 

Nghymru. 

 
 Herio gwahaniaethu yn erbyn pobl hŷn yng Nghymru.  

 
 Annog arferion gorau wrth drin pobl hŷn yng Nghymru.  

 

 Adolygu’r gyfraith sy’n effeithio ar fuddiannau pobl hŷn yng 

Nghymru. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 122



 
 

3 

 

 

 

Ymchwiliad i Effeithlonrwydd Ynni a Thlodi Tanwydd yng 

Nghymru 

1. Fel Comisiynydd Pobl Hŷn Cymru, rwyf yn croesawu’r cyfle i 

ymateb i Ymchwiliad Pwyllgor Amgylchedd a Chynaliadwyedd 

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru i Effeithlonrwydd Ynni a Thlodi 

Tanwydd yng Nghymru 1.  

 

2. Cyflwynaf rai sylwadau ar y materion allweddol, fel yr amlinellir yn 

y Cylch Gorchwyl.             

Cynnydd tuag at gyrraedd targedau statudol Llywodraeth Cymru ar 

gyfer dileu tlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru erbyn 2018 

3. Ni ddylai pobl hŷn gael eu heffeithio’n annheg gan dlodi tanwydd 

yng Nghymru. Fodd bynnag, mae tlodi tanwydd wedi cynyddu 

ledled y DU yn ystod y flwyddyn ddiwethaf2, ac mae’n broblem 

fawr sy’n wynebu llawer o bobl hŷn yng Nghymru. Mae’r gaeafau 

hynod oer yn ystod y blynyddoedd diwethaf wedi gwneud pethau’n 

waeth, a hefyd y cynnydd cyson mewn prisiau ynni a 

chymhlethdod newid cyflenwyr ynni er mwyn arbed arian. Yn 

gyffredinol, mae oddeutu 386,000 o deuluoedd yng Nghymru 

(30%) yn profi tlodi tanwydd3. Mae amcangyfrif o 140,000 o 

deuluoedd o bobl hŷn yn byw mewn tlodi tanwydd, gan effeithio ar 

ryw 360,000 o bobl hŷn4.  

 

4. Mae ffigurau tlodi tanwydd Cymru a’r DU yn achos pryder 

gwirioneddol. Ledled y gweinyddiaethau datganoledig, mae tlodi 

tanwydd wedi cynyddu 43% ers 2011 ac, ar ôl Gogledd Iwerddon, 

yng Nghymru mae’r gyfran fwyaf o deuluoedd sy’n wynebu tlodi 

                                                      
1
 http://www.senedd.assemblywales.org/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=127&RPID=1503821414&cp=yes  

2
 http://www.ukace.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/ACE-and-EBR-fact-file-2014-02-Fuel-Poverty-update-

2014.pdf  
3
http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSIT

E%20COPY).pdf  
4
 http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dhss/publications/130521olderpeoplestrategyen.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 123

http://www.senedd.assemblywales.org/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=127&RPID=1503821414&cp=yes
http://www.ukace.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/ACE-and-EBR-fact-file-2014-02-Fuel-Poverty-update-2014.pdf
http://www.ukace.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/ACE-and-EBR-fact-file-2014-02-Fuel-Poverty-update-2014.pdf
http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSITE%20COPY).pdf
http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSITE%20COPY).pdf
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dhss/publications/130521olderpeoplestrategyen.pdf


 
 

4 

 

tanwydd5. Yng Nghymru hefyd y mae’r ganran uchaf o gartrefi 

sydd â waliau solet o gymharu â Lloegr a’r Alban (mae waliau solet 

yn gadael dwywaith cymaint o wres drwodd â waliau ceudod)6 , ac 

mae gan Gymru nifer is o deuluoedd sy’n cael nwy o’r prif 

gyflenwad o gymharu â Lloegr (mae ffurfiau eraill o danwydd yn 

ddrytach)7. Hefyd, mae’r DU yn un o’r Aelod-wladwriaethau sy’n 

perfformio waethaf yn yr UE o ran effeithlonrwydd gwres gwael y 

stoc dai, sydd hefyd yn cyfrannu at ffigurau tlodi tanwydd8. Mae 

pobl hŷn sy’n byw mewn cartrefi ‘anodd eu trin’ yn fwy agored i 

niwed o ran tlodi tanwydd, gan eu bod yn byw ar incwm sefydlog 

ac oherwydd cost cynhesu cartrefi gydag olew a thanwydd solet9. 

 

5. Rydw i’n pryderu’n benodol am y ffaith bod tlodi tanwydd yn 

effeithio ar gyfran uwch o bobl hŷn yng Nghymru nag yng 

ngweddill y DU: defnyddiodd 26% o bobl hŷn lai o wres yn ystod 

gaeaf 2012/13 o gymharu â chyfartaledd y DU o 21%10. I lawer o 

bobl hŷn sy’n byw mewn tlodi, mae misoedd hir y gaeaf yn golygu 

dilema na ellir ei osgoi o ran cynhesu’r cartref neu fwyta, gyda 

25% o bobl hŷn yn prynu bwyd rhatach neu lai o fwyd11. Hefyd, 

mae teuluoedd yng Nghymru’n talu 5% yn fwy am eu trydan na 

gweddill y DU12. Mae biliau ynni teuluoedd wedi cynyddu 33% ar 

gyfartaledd yn ystod y flwyddyn ddiwethaf, i fod yn fwy na £1200 y 

flwyddyn a dwywaith y bil bum mlynedd yn ôl ar gyfartaledd 13. 

 

6. Mae oblygiadau niferus i dlodi tanwydd (asthma, trawiad ar y galon 

a strôc, mwy o godymau oherwydd bod cryd cymalau’n 

gwaethygu, straen a phroblemau iechyd meddwl) ac mae’n 

cyfrannu at farwolaethau ychwanegol y gaeaf fel ffactor endemig. 

Roedd 1700 o farwolaethau ychwanegol y gaeaf yng Nghymru yn 

                                                      
5
 http://www.e3g.org/docs/ACE_and_EBR_fact_file_(2014-02)_Fuel_Poverty_update_2014.pdf  

6
 http://www.boilerjuice.com/blog/fuel-poverty-big-issue-wales/  

7
 http://www.boilerjuice.com/blog/fuel-poverty-big-issue-wales/  

8
 http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmhansrd/cm140211/halltext/140211h0002.htm  

9
 http://chcymru.org.uk/uploads/general/CHC_Consultation_reponse_-

_The_future_of_the_Energy_Company_Obligation.pdf  
10

 http://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/age-cymru-warns-pensioner-cutbacks-3567028  
11

 http://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/latest-news/archive/welsh-pensioners-cut-back-on-heating-and-eating/  
12

 http://www.fuelpovertycharterwales.org.uk/fuel-poverty-in-wales/  
13

 http://www.fuelpovertycharterwales.org.uk/fuel-poverty-in-wales/  

Tudalen y pecyn 124

http://www.e3g.org/docs/ACE_and_EBR_fact_file_(2014-02)_Fuel_Poverty_update_2014.pdf
http://www.boilerjuice.com/blog/fuel-poverty-big-issue-wales/
http://www.boilerjuice.com/blog/fuel-poverty-big-issue-wales/
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmhansrd/cm140211/halltext/140211h0002.htm
http://chcymru.org.uk/uploads/general/CHC_Consultation_reponse_-_The_future_of_the_Energy_Company_Obligation.pdf
http://chcymru.org.uk/uploads/general/CHC_Consultation_reponse_-_The_future_of_the_Energy_Company_Obligation.pdf
http://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/age-cymru-warns-pensioner-cutbacks-3567028
http://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/latest-news/archive/welsh-pensioners-cut-back-on-heating-and-eating/
http://www.fuelpovertycharterwales.org.uk/fuel-poverty-in-wales/
http://www.fuelpovertycharterwales.org.uk/fuel-poverty-in-wales/


 
 

5 

 

2012/1314. Ledled Cymru a Lloegr, roedd 87% o farwolaethau 

ychwanegol y gaeaf yn cynnwys pobl 75 oed a hŷn15. Gall mynd i’r 

afael â thlodi tanwydd helpu i achub bywydau, atal salwch a lleihau 

nifer y bobl sy’n gorfod mynd i’r ysbyty. Felly, gall lleihau’r 

achosion o dlodi tanwydd helpu i leihau costau statudol i ofal 

iechyd a chymdeithasol.        

 

7. O ystyried yr ystadegau hyn a’r amserlen gyfyngedig, mae’n 

afrealistig y bydd Llywodraeth Cymru yn cyrraedd ei tharged 

uchelgeisiol o ddileu tlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru erbyn 2018. Gan 

fod achosion o dlodi tanwydd yn gyfrifoldeb i Lywodraeth y DU 

(incwm, prisiau ynni) a Llywodraeth Cymru (effeithlonrwydd ynni 

cartrefi), mae’n hanfodol bod y ddwy Lywodraeth yn cydweithio’n 

agos ac yn effeithiol i roi sylw i’r mater allweddol hwn. 

 

8. Rhaid gweithredu ar frys a gwneud pob ymdrech i sicrhau nad yw 

pobl hŷn yng Nghymru’n cael eu heffeithio’n annheg gan gyfuniad 

o amgylchiadau anffafriol: tlodi tanwydd yn sgil cartrefi wedi’u 

hinswleiddio’n wael, prisiau tanwydd yn codi, incwm isel a gallu 

cyfyngedig i sicrhau’r tariffau tanwydd rhataf a gorau.   

 

9. O ystyried y ffigurau tlodi tanwydd a’r ‘tirlun’ ynni sy’n newid yn 

hynod gyflym, rwyf yn galw am ddiweddariad o Strategaeth Tlodi 

Tanwydd 2010 Llywodraeth Cymru16; er enghraifft, cynllun 

gweithredu a ategir gan adroddiadau blynyddol i amlinellu 

cynnydd, gan fanylu ar sut mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn bwriadu 

cyrraedd ei darged tlodi tanwydd erbyn 2018.  

 

10. Mae angen rhagor o fanylion i adeiladu ar y cyfeiriadau at 

dlodi tanwydd yng Nghynllun Gweithredu Trechu Tlodi Llywodraeth 

Cymru 17 a’r Strategaeth ar gyfer Pobl Hŷn (Cam 3)18. Dylid edrych 

hefyd ar y gwerth ychwanegol sydd i’w gael o lunio Cynllun 

                                                      
14

 http://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/latest-news/archive/ams-discuss-fuel-poverty-among-older-people-in-
wales/  
15

 http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/mobile/uk-wales-11458648  
16

 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/fuelpoverty/strategy/?lang=en  
17

 http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/en/relateddocuments/publications/communitiesfirst/tackling-poverty-action-
plan.pdf  
18

 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/publications/socialcare/strategies/older/?lang=en  

Tudalen y pecyn 125

http://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/latest-news/archive/ams-discuss-fuel-poverty-among-older-people-in-wales/
http://www.ageuk.org.uk/cymru/latest-news/archive/ams-discuss-fuel-poverty-among-older-people-in-wales/
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/mobile/uk-wales-11458648
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/fuelpoverty/strategy/?lang=en
http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/en/relateddocuments/publications/communitiesfirst/tackling-poverty-action-plan.pdf
http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/en/relateddocuments/publications/communitiesfirst/tackling-poverty-action-plan.pdf
http://wales.gov.uk/topics/health/publications/socialcare/strategies/older/?lang=en


 
 

6 

 

Tywydd Oer Llywodraeth Cymru (defnyddir cynllun tebyg yn 

Lloegr19) a sut gallai helpu i leihau tlodi tanwydd ymhlith pobl hŷn. 

Effaith rhaglenni effeithlonrwydd ynni presennol Llywodraeth 

Cymru a mentrau Llywodraeth y DU, fel y Fargen Werdd                       

11. Fel y crybwyllwyd eisoes, mae cyswllt effeithiol rhwng 

Llywodraethau’r DU a Chymru yn hanfodol er mwyn dileu  tlodi 

tanwydd cyn gynted â phosib. Mae’n hanfodol bod cynllun Bargen 

Werdd20  Llywodraeth y DU yn plethu gyda chynlluniau ynni 

effeithlon Llywodraeth Cymru, sef Nyth ac Arbed. Mae’r ddau 

gynllun wedi helpu i ostwng biliau oddeutu 8000 o gartrefi yn ystod 

2013/1421. Rwyf i’n croesawu cefnogaeth Nyth yn benodol i bobl 

hŷn sy’n cael credyd pensiwn, a’i ymrwymiad i sefydlu bwrdd 

rhanddeiliaid i adnabod a thargedu teuluoedd agored i niwed ac 

anodd eu cyrraedd (gan gynnwys pobl hŷn), a rhoi cyngor a 

chefnogaeth. Hefyd, mae gwir angen gwelliannau effeithlonrwydd 

ynni i bobl hŷn sy’n byw yn rhai o’r ardaloedd mwyaf difreintiedig 

yng Nghymru, drwy Arbed. 

 

12. Mae rhoi gwybod i bobl hŷn sut mae arbed costau ynni, a 

sicrhau gwell gwasanaethau gwybodaeth a chyngor, yn elfen 

hanfodol o fynd i’r afael â thlodi tanwydd. Rwyf yn croesawu 

sesiynau galw i mewn Nyth a’r cymorthfeydd stryd sy’n gweithio 

gyda phobl hŷn ac yn rhoi iddynt wybodaeth a chyngor hawdd eu 

deall am bob agwedd ar wasanaethau tanwydd, costau ac 

asesiadau tai cyfan22. 

 

13. Mae Nyth ac Arbed yn helpu i leihau ffigurau tlodi tanwydd 

yng Nghymru: mae 36,000 o deuluoedd wedi elwa o fesurau 

effeithlonrwydd ynni rhwng 2008 a 201123. Hefyd, mae’r ddau 

gynllun yn helpu pobl hŷn: amlinellodd adroddiad gan Nyth bod 

                                                      
19

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cold-weather-plan-for-england-2013  
20

 https://www.gov.uk/green-deal-energy-saving-measures/overview  
21

http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSI
TE%20COPY).pdf  
22

 http://nestwales.org.uk/Resources  
23

http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSI
TE%20COPY).pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 126

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cold-weather-plan-for-england-2013
https://www.gov.uk/green-deal-energy-saving-measures/overview
http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSITE%20COPY).pdf
http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSITE%20COPY).pdf
http://nestwales.org.uk/Resources
http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSITE%20COPY).pdf
http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSITE%20COPY).pdf


 
 

7 

 

44% o’r teuluoedd a oedd yn derbyn pecyn gwella ynni yn 60 oed 

neu’n hŷn 24.  

 

14. Fodd bynnag, mae angen cefnogaeth ariannol bellach gan 

Lywodraeth y DU a Llywodraeth Cymru er mwyn gwella’n 

sylweddol nifer y teuluoedd sy’n cael cefnogaeth tlodi tanwydd. 

Amcangyfrifir mai dim ond 1% i 2% o’r teuluoedd sy’n wynebu tlodi 

tanwydd yng Nghymru y mae Nyth ac Arbed yn eu cyrraedd, ac 

mae Nyth (yn ei ail flwyddyn) yn helpu rhyw 10,000 yn llai o 

deuluoedd o gymharu â’r Cynllun Effeithlonrwydd Ynni Cartrefi 

blaenorol25.  

 

15. Er ein bod yn croesawu ymrwymiad ariannol parhaus 

Llywodraeth Cymru i dlodi tanwydd (£70m tan 2015/1626), o 

ystyried yr heriau allweddol perthnasol i’r newid yn yr hinsawdd, y 

costau ynni sy’n codi, a’r newid demograffig, rwyf yn bryderus bod 

cyfanswm gwariant Llywodraeth y DU ar dlodi tanwydd wedi 

gostwng 25% o gymharu â 201027. Mae’r cyllid presennol i fynd i’r 

afael â thlodi tanwydd yn bryderus o brin o ystyried y gyllideb o 

£2.4 biliwn sydd ei hangen er mwyn sicrhau bod mwyafrif helaeth y 

teuluoedd sy’n wynebu tlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru yn dod allan o’r 

tlodi hwnnw28. 

Gwaith y prif gyflenwyr ynni hyd yma ar weithredu Rhwymedigaeth 

y Cwmnïau Ynni a mesurau eraill i leddfu tlodi tanwydd yng 

Nghymru 

16. Rwyf yn bryderus bod Llywodraeth y DU eisiau newid 

Rhwymedigaeth y Cwmnïau Ynni, sy’n golygu y gallai 400,000 o 

gartrefi sydd wedi’u hinswleiddio’n wael golli cymorth gyda lleihau 

eu biliau 2930. Gall y Rhwymedigaeth helpu pobl ar incwm isel i 

                                                      
24

http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSI
TE%20COPY).pdf  
25

http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSI
TE%20COPY).pdf  
26

 http://wales.gov.uk/newsroom/environmentandcountryside/2013/131011fuelpoverty/?lang=en  
27

 http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmhansrd/cm140211/halltext/140211h0001.htm  
28

http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSI
TE%20COPY).pdf  
29

 http://www.carbonbrief.org/blog/2013/12/whats-new-about-the-governments-energy-efficiency-
announcements/  

Tudalen y pecyn 127

http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSITE%20COPY).pdf
http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSITE%20COPY).pdf
http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSITE%20COPY).pdf
http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSITE%20COPY).pdf
http://wales.gov.uk/newsroom/environmentandcountryside/2013/131011fuelpoverty/?lang=en
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmhansrd/cm140211/halltext/140211h0001.htm
http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSITE%20COPY).pdf
http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSITE%20COPY).pdf
http://www.carbonbrief.org/blog/2013/12/whats-new-about-the-governments-energy-efficiency-announcements/
http://www.carbonbrief.org/blog/2013/12/whats-new-about-the-governments-energy-efficiency-announcements/


 
 

8 

 

wneud gwelliannau effeithlonrwydd, ond bydd lleihau cwmpas ei 

thargedau - er enghraifft, lleihau’r targed Inswleiddio Waliau Solet 

ar gyfer 2017 i ddim ond 100,000 o eiddo ledled y DU - yn golygu y 

bydd llai o bobl hŷn yng Nghymru yn elwa.  

 

17. Mae’n rhaid i gynlluniau fel Rhwymedigaeth y Cwmnïau Ynni 

weithio gyda phobl hŷn mewn ffordd syml a chyfeillgar, oherwydd 

mae llawer o bobl hŷn yn teimlo bod y cynlluniau hyn yn cymryd 

llawer o amser ac yn gymhleth ac, o ganlyniad, maent yn colli 

cymorth y mae arnynt ei wir angen31. Hefyd, mae’n rhaid i’r 

Rhwymedigaeth ddatblygu partneriaethau effeithiol gyda 

sefydliadau allweddol yng Nghymru, er enghraifft, asiantaethau 

Gofal a Thrwsio sy’n cefnogi pobl hŷn ac yn cyfrannu llawer at godi 

pobl hŷn allan o dlodi tanwydd32. 

Materion eraill  
 

18. Mae pobl hŷn sy’n byw mewn ardaloedd gwledig yn cael eu 

heffeithio’n arbennig gan dlodi tanwydd. Mae pobl hŷn sy’n byw 

mewn ardaloedd gwledig yn fwy tebygol o brofi tlodi tanwydd na’r 

rhai sy’n byw mewn ardaloedd trefol (42% o gymharu a 22%)33. 

Rhaid ystyried pob datrysiad e.e. clybiau prynu tanwydd, nwy oddi 

ar y grid, ac ymestyn y brif bibell nwy, a gweithredu arnynt er 

mwyn sicrhau bod pobl hŷn, yn enwedig y rhai sy’n byw mewn 

ardaloedd anghysbell heb lawer o boblogaeth a heb wasanaethau 

allweddol, ffrindiau na theulu wrth law yn hwylus, yn byw mewn 

cartrefi cynnes ac ynni effeithlon.                                 

 

19. Mae’n bwysig peidio â ‘datgyplu’ tlodi tanwydd yn ormodol 

oddi wrth broblem ehangach tlodi ymhlith pobl hŷn. Amcangyfrifir 

                                                                                                                                                                     
30

 http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2014/mar/13/green-deal-eco-cuts-homes-insulation-energy-
bills  
31

 http://www.acenet.co.uk/older-and-disabled-people-being-put-off-energy-efficiency-
initiatives/1410/6/1/25  
32

 http://chcymru.org.uk/uploads/general/CHC_Consultation_reponse_-
_The_future_of_the_Energy_Company_Obligation.pdf  
33

http://www.theclaymoreproject.com/uploads/associate/365/file/EAS%20Publications/Monitor%202011%20
Final%20_2_.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 128

http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2014/mar/13/green-deal-eco-cuts-homes-insulation-energy-bills
http://www.theguardian.com/environment/2014/mar/13/green-deal-eco-cuts-homes-insulation-energy-bills
http://www.acenet.co.uk/older-and-disabled-people-being-put-off-energy-efficiency-initiatives/1410/6/1/25
http://www.acenet.co.uk/older-and-disabled-people-being-put-off-energy-efficiency-initiatives/1410/6/1/25
http://chcymru.org.uk/uploads/general/CHC_Consultation_reponse_-_The_future_of_the_Energy_Company_Obligation.pdf
http://chcymru.org.uk/uploads/general/CHC_Consultation_reponse_-_The_future_of_the_Energy_Company_Obligation.pdf
http://www.theclaymoreproject.com/uploads/associate/365/file/EAS%20Publications/Monitor%202011%20Final%20_2_.pdf
http://www.theclaymoreproject.com/uploads/associate/365/file/EAS%20Publications/Monitor%202011%20Final%20_2_.pdf


 
 

9 

 

bod 84,000 o bobl hŷn yn byw mewn tlodi yng Nghymru34. Mae 

cynyddu incwm yn ffactor allweddol er mwyn atal tlodi tanwydd ac 

mae’n hanfodol bod pobl hŷn yn gwbl ymwybodol o’r holl 

hawliadau ariannol maent yn gymwys i’w gwneud e.e. credyd 

pensiwn, ac yn cael eu hannog i fanteisio ar y rhain. Gallant 

helpu’n sylweddol gyda biliau’r cartref, gan gynnwys costau ynni.    

 

20. Mae Taliad Tanwydd y Gaeaf35 yn ‘ychwanegiad’ y mae ei 

wir angen ar lawer o bobl hŷn ac, ochr yn ochr â’r Cynllun 

Gostyngiad Cartref Cynnes a’r Taliadau Tywydd Oer, gall wneud 

byd o wahaniaeth i’w bywydau. O ran budd-daliadau sydd heb eu 

hawlio, gallai pobl hŷn yng Nghymru fod yn colli £600 miliwn. 

Gallai cymryd y budd-daliadau cysylltiedig ag incwm yn llawn 

arwain at draean yn llai o dlodi ymhlith pobl hŷn36. Rwyf yn 

gweithio gyda phartneriaid allweddol ar dlodi ymhlith pobl hŷn ac 

ar beth gellir ei wneud i roi sylw i’r defnydd gwael o hawliadau 

ariannol.  

 

21. Mae addysgu pobl hŷn a sicrhau eu bod yn gwbl ymwybodol 

o beryglon tlodi tanwydd, ac yn gwbl barod ar gyfer misoedd hir ac 

oer y gaeaf, yn allweddol hefyd. Drwy gyfrwng addysg a 

gwybodaeth, gall unigolion helpu i leihau effeithiau tlodi tanwydd 

hefyd, e.e. drwy gadw cyfarpar mewn cyflwr da, gwarchod rhag 

cartrefi llaith, a delio â thaliadau biliau mor brydlon â phosib.                             

 

22. Rwyf yn gwbl gefnogol i fentrau fel y cynllun Cymydog 

Cynnes37 (CS Ceredigion), yr ymgyrch Goroesi’r Gaeaf38 (Mudiad 

Cymunedol Cymru), yr ymgyrch Tlodi Tanwydd gan Fforwm 

Pensiynwyr Cymru39, a Chanllaw Helpu gyda Thlodi Tanwydd 

Gweithredu Ynni Cenedlaethol Cymru40 i wella sgiliau cynghorwyr 

dyledion tanwydd a hyfforddi gwirfoddolwyr fel hyrwyddwyr 

                                                      
34

 http://www.ageuk.org.uk/PageFiles/41168/Life%20on%20a%20low%20income%20-%20FINAL%20-
%20E.pdf?dtrk=true  
35

 https://www.gov.uk/winter-fuel-payment/overview  
36

 http://www.bevanfoundation.org/publications/poverty-and-social-exclusion-in-wales-2/  
37

 http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/index.cfm?articleid=21744  
38

 http://www.cfiw.org.uk/eng/news/35-surviving-winter  
39

 http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-22163420  
40

 http://www.nea.org.uk/nea-wales/news-releases-wales/walesmedia-011012-01  

Tudalen y pecyn 129

http://www.ageuk.org.uk/PageFiles/41168/Life%20on%20a%20low%20income%20-%20FINAL%20-%20E.pdf?dtrk=true
http://www.ageuk.org.uk/PageFiles/41168/Life%20on%20a%20low%20income%20-%20FINAL%20-%20E.pdf?dtrk=true
https://www.gov.uk/winter-fuel-payment/overview
http://www.bevanfoundation.org/publications/poverty-and-social-exclusion-in-wales-2/
http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/index.cfm?articleid=21744
http://www.cfiw.org.uk/eng/news/35-surviving-winter
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-22163420
http://www.nea.org.uk/nea-wales/news-releases-wales/walesmedia-011012-01


 
 

10 

 

effeithlonrwydd ynni. Rwyf hefyd yn croesawu pob ymdrech i helpu 

pobl hŷn i allu gwrthsefyll tlodi tanwydd yn well.  

 

23. Gan nad oes Grŵp Cynghori Gweinidogol ar dlodi tanwydd 

yn bodoli, mae’r Gynghrair Tlodi Tanwydd41 yn parhau i fod yn 

llwyfan allweddol ar gyfer dod â sectorau a rhanddeiliaid allweddol 

at ei gilydd a chydlynu ymdrechion i fynd i’r afael â thlodi tanwydd 

yng Nghymru. 

Sylwadau i gloi   
 

24. Mae llawer o waith i’w wneud o hyd os yw Cymru am wyrdroi 

nifer y bobl a’r teuluoedd sy’n profi tlodi tanwydd. Mae pobl hŷn 

ymhlith y mwyaf bregus ac agored i niwed yn ein cymdeithas yn 

aml, a chyda phoblogaeth sy’n heneiddio, mae’n hanfodol nad yw 

pobl hŷn yn cael eu heffeithio’n annheg gan effeithiau eang tlodi 

tanwydd. Bydd mynd i’r afael â thlodi tanwydd yn galw am 

gydweithredu effeithiol, nid yn unig rhwng llywodraethau, ond 

rhwng partneriaid allweddol eraill hefyd, gan gynnwys Awdurdodau 

Lleol (drwy eu gwybodaeth am y stoc leol o dai a’r ardaloedd lleol 

o amddifadedd), cymdeithasau tai, gwasanaethau cynghori a’r 

sectorau preifat a gwirfoddol.      

 

25. Byddaf yn parhau i weithio gyda phartneriaid allweddol, gan 

gynnwys Llywodraeth Cymru a Gweithredu Y ni Cenedlaethol 

Cymru, er mwyn rhoi sylw i bryderon pobl hŷn ynghylch tlodi 

tanwydd a helpu i sicrhau bod nifer cynyddol o bobl hŷn yng 

Nghymru’n byw mewn cartrefi heb dlodi tanwydd. Bydd dosbarthu 

cyngor a gwybodaeth effeithiol a chreadigol, e.e. creu mwy o 

ymwybyddiaeth o faterion ynni drwy sesiynau bingo neu glybiau 

cinio, neu roi sylw i’r achosion sydd wrth wraidd y tlodi, yn lleddfu 

effeithiau tlodi tanwydd ymhlith pobl hŷn. Hoffwn ailadrodd fy 

ymrwymiad i roi sylw i faterion allweddol fel hawliadau ariannol, a 

all helpu i godi pobl hŷn allan o dlodi.   

 

                                                      
41

 http://www.fuelpovertycharterwales.org.uk/about-the-charter/  

Tudalen y pecyn 130

http://www.fuelpovertycharterwales.org.uk/about-the-charter/


 
 

11 

 

26. Bydd fy swyddfa yn parhau i weithio gyda grŵp trawsbleidiol 

y Cynulliad Cenedlaethol ar dlodi tanwydd42 ac rwyf yn cefnogi pob 

ymdrech i gydlynu gwaith y grŵp hwn gyda’r grŵp trawsbleidiol ar 

bobl hŷn a heneiddio.  

 

27. Yn olaf, byddwn yn fwy na pharod i ddarparu tystiolaeth lafar 

i’r Ymchwiliad hwn, pe bai hynny o gymorth i’r Pwyllgor.   

 
 

                                                      
42

 http://www.senedd.assemblywales.org/mgOutsideBodyDetails.aspx?ID=249  

Tudalen y pecyn 131

http://www.senedd.assemblywales.org/mgOutsideBodyDetails.aspx?ID=249


1 
 

  
Response to the National Assembly for Wales’ Environment and Sustainability 

Committee’s inquiry into energy efficiency and fuel poverty in Wales – June 
2014 

 
Context 
1.1 Fuel Poverty is a clear priority for Citizens Advice Cymru, given the importance of 

a manageable energy bill to our clients who are often struggling with a number of 
other financial problems. From April 2014 our new statutory role brings a clear 
responsibility to advocate for all energy consumers on government policies which 
affect them1. 
 

1.2 There are three factors which cause a household to be in fuel poverty: 
• high energy prices  
• low/insufficient incomes 
• an energy inefficient home 

 
1.3 We acknowledge that the Welsh Government has few devolved policy levers to 

directly reduce the price of energy. Supporting energy efficiency measures, and 
the provision of advice on reducing energy consumption or income maximisation 
are the most immediate means at its disposal to directly address fuel poverty.  
 

1.4 By committing significant funding to improve the energy efficiency of people’s 
homes, the Welsh Government has clearly recognised where it can make a 
difference. We also acknowledge that tackling fuel poverty is only one intended 
outcome of Nest and Arbed, alongside environmental and economic goals. 

 
Citizens Advice Cymru: Planned Research 
1.5 Citizens Advice is seeking to ensure fuel poverty schemes across Great Britain 

are resourced, targeted and implemented effectively. The level of resourcing for 
energy efficiency programmes from Welsh Government is hugely welcome, and 
of real benefit to the thousands of households who receive help.  
 

1.6 Citizens Advice Cymru is currently scoping research, to be undertaken this 
winter, into consumers’ experiences of fuel poverty schemes in Wales. This 
research will aim to provide evidence about the impact and benefit of Nest, 
Arbed, and ECO from the consumer perspective, in order to inform the 
evaluation and future implementation of these schemes.  

 

                                            
1 On 1st April 2013 responsibility for consumer representation was transferred from Consumer Focus 
to the Citizens Advice Service (including Citizens Advice Cymru) following the UK Government’s 
review of the consumer landscape. From 1st April 2014 this includes statutory functions and 
responsibilities to represent post and energy consumers.  
 

National Assembly for Wales 
Environment and Sustainability Committee 
EEFP 25 
Inquiry into Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty 
Response from: Citizens Advice Cymru 

Tudalen y pecyn 132

Eitem 4



2 
 

1.7 We are concerned that current monitoring of the three schemes does not 
adequately capture ‘real life’ outcomes for consumers, that it does not facilitate 
constructive scrutiny and technical analysis by external bodies, or assist in 
making recommendations as to how the design of the schemes can be 
strengthened in future. We feel this necessitates further research to complement 
the existing reporting.  

 
1.8 Our research will provide a significant contribution to the issues the Committee is 

considering and will be happy to share its findings when completed. 
 
Progress towards meeting the Welsh Government’s statutory targets for 
eradicating fuel poverty in Wales by 2018 
2.1 The Welsh Government introduced its statutory fuel poverty targets in 20032. 

Since then wholesale prices have increased, suppliers have been mandated to 
make substantial investments in infrastructure and green policies all paid for by 
repeated increases in the average fuel bill. 
 

2.2 Progress towards these targets is therefore potentially affected by factors outside 
the control of governments. Consumers may not see any improvement to their 
finances from energy efficiency measures because energy price rises have offset 
the savings made.  

 
2.3 Prices are likely to continue to rise. Therefore the Welsh Government should 

continue do everything reasonably practical to meet its targets. Urgently 
prioritising energy efficiency measures will at least help to mitigate the impact of 
future price rises on fuel poor households’ bills. 

 
2.4 However it is the action taken, and the benefit felt by struggling households which 

is the most important test of any scheme’s effectiveness. As far as people who 
cannot afford to heat their homes are concerned, progress towards targets does 
not in itself demonstrate real life impact. Nor does it provide a clear direction of 
travel for future policy.  

 
2.5 Citizens Advice Cymru would define the key ‘symptoms’ of fuel poverty from the 

consumer perspective as: 
• Inability to afford household energy bills 
• Foregoing of other essential goods and services to pay energy bills 
• Inability to heat their home to an acceptable level3 

and 
• Debt, stress or ill health caused or exacerbated by the above 

 
Recommendation  

• Citizens Advice Cymru recommends that evaluation of fuel poverty schemes 
should monitor impact on the above ‘symptoms’ of fuel poverty using self-
reporting data from recipients, as well as calculating projected savings. 

 

                                            
2 Welsh Government - A Fuel Poverty Commitment for Wales(2003) 
3 The World Health Organisation defines ‘adequate warmth’ as 21°C in the living room and 18°C in the other occupied rooms 
during daytime hours http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/97091/E89887.pdf 

Tudalen y pecyn 133



3 
 

The impact of the Welsh Government’s existing energy efficiency programmes 
(Nest and Arbed) and UK Government initiatives such as the Green Deal 
 
Current reporting 
3.1 Nest currently reports on the amount spent, the number and nature of measures 

installed, details of the property, and estimates projected savings to each 
household based on the improved SAP rating4. Nest also report figures showing 
98% of recipients are ‘satisfied’ or ‘very satisfied’, and very low numbers of 
complaints at only 2%5. 
 

3.2 The evaluation of Arbed Phase One6 adopts a similar approach based on 
modelling of SAP ratings, and projected impact on energy use by unit. It also 
reports on the extent to which recipients of each of the different measures 
available report that they saved them money, or made a difference to the 
effectiveness of the heating system in their home. This additional data is 
particularly welcome, as it relates directly to recipients’ wellbeing. 

 
3.3 Neither Welsh scheme explicitly attempts to measure whether recipients of 

measures were in fuel poverty before and after the installation of measures. 
However they are not unique in this, as all other GB fuel poverty schemes have 
evaluated success based on projections and proxy measurements (with one 
exception7). The Welsh Government’s methodology is therefore not 
unreasonable, but it is not sufficient in itself to demonstrate improvements to 
consumers’ quality of life. 

 
Recommendation 

• Citizens Advice Cymru recommends that Nest should, like Arbed, collect self-
reporting data from recipients about their ability to afford bills and heat their 
home after receiving measures. This will ensure that their experiences are at 
the heart of monitoring and evaluation, and that they drive the design of future 
iterations of the schemes. 

 
Improving monitoring of Nest and Arbed 
3.4 The Minister for Natural Resources and Food has committed to continue funding 

energy efficiency schemes for the immediate future. However any future 
reductions to the Welsh Government’s budget may impact delivery. This lends 
urgency to ensuring, through robust monitoring, that the money currently being 
spent is making the greatest possible impact. 

 
3.5 We have concerns about the ongoing use of 2008 Living in Wales data as the 

baseline for fuel poverty projections in Wales. Using data from six years ago risks 

                                            
4 The Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) is the methodology used by the Government to assess and compare the energy 
and environmental performance of dwellings. Its purpose is to provide accurate and reliable assessments of a dwelling’s energy 
performance that is needed to underpin energy and environmental policy initiatives. 
5 Nest Annual Report 2012-13 
http://nestwales.org.uk/content/download/215/1599/file/Nest%20annual%20report%20April%202012%20-
%20March%202013%20English%20Language.pdf 
6 Welsh Government - Evaluation of Arbed Phase One 
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/desh/publications/121011energyarbedevaluationen.pdf 
7 Centre for Sustainable Energy and National Energy Action, 2005, Warm Zones  external evaluation final report, Energy 
Saving Trust 

Tudalen y pecyn 134



4 
 

giving an increasingly out of date picture, and limits the Welsh Government’s 
ability to respond to any emerging trends. 

 
3.6 England and Scotland base their fuel poverty projections on the English Housing 

Survey and Scottish House Condition Survey respectively. Both surveys are run 
on a continual basis, taking two years to compile and report data from each. 
Whilst this  doesn’t offer an up to the minute picture, it does allow robust reporting 
of fuel poverty and other housing trends as detailed assessments are undertaken 
within each home. 

 
3.7 Effective targeting requires robust and recent data from households in Wales, 

and a household survey would be the most preferable way to achieve this. 
However we recognise this may be prohibitively costly in the current climate, and 
therefore suggest that the existing Wales National Survey could provide an 
alternative. 

 
3.8 The Survey already collects data on incomes and personal finances; importantly 

this includes the extent to which households are keeping up with bills. Collecting 
additional data on home energy efficiency performance alongside income could 
provide a proxy for full SAP evaluation, and therefore of fuel poverty in a 
household. 

 
3.9 This would enable the Welsh Government to make more up to date and robust 

estimates of fuel poverty nationally, and link them to wider wellbeing measures, 
levels of debt, and physical/mental health in a household. It would also facilitate 
more detailed analysis of the impact on different demographics, and comparisons 
across the nations. This data should then be published as part of the ongoing 
reporting against the Tackling Poverty Action Plan and subject to scrutiny by the 
Assembly. 

 
Recommendation 

• Citizens Advice Cymru recommends the Wales National Survey collect data 
on the following, to be used in the monitoring of fuel poverty: 
- Physical characteristics of dwellings – e.g. number of rooms, type of walls 
- Energy performance certificate (EPC) rating of dwellings  
- Heating type and Fuel type 
- Average monthly expenditure on energy 

 
Integrating Welsh schemes and ECO 
3.10 The Welsh Government should also seek to ensure its schemes complement 

ECO by targeting those properties which currently fail to benefit from it, and 
ensuring harder to treat homes receive help whilst it is affordable to do so. 

 
3.11 We refer the Committee to the independent evaluation of the first year of ECO 

undertaken by the Centre for Sustainable Energy (CSE) 8. They found that 
suppliers were choosing cheaper and easier to deliver options, in order to 
discharge the obligation at least cost to their customers. In practice this has 
meant prioritising cavity wall insulation over solid wall insulation, for example.  

                                            
8 Centre for Sustainable Energy - ‘Evaluating the Energy Company Obligation’ http://www.cse.org.uk/projects/view/1225 

Tudalen y pecyn 135



5 
 

 
3.12 The evaluation also flagged up that ECO has almost entirely delivered single 

measures, whereas fuel poor households often require a package of measures – 
heating and insulation. 

 
Recommendation 
Citizens Advice Cymru recommends the Welsh Government work closely with the 
UK Government, sharing data regarding which groups are and are not receiving 
support from the respective energy efficiency schemes to ensure they can be 
targeted in a way which complement each other. 
 
The implementation to date by the major energy suppliers of the Energy 
Company Obligation (ECO) and other measures to alleviate fuel poverty in 
Wales 
4.1 We again refer the Committee to the CSE’s evaluation9. It finds that there is a 

‘mismatch between DECC’s expectations for ECO and the reality experienced’, 
attributing these problems in part to ‘commercially driven responses to its policy 
proposals’.  
 

4.2 One of CSE’s specific conclusions is particularly relevant to Wales. 
“Activity under the Home Heating Cost Reduction Obligation (HCRO- 
previously Affordable Warmth) strand of ECO which targets low income 
households has so far focussed on replacing boilers in urban, gas-heated 
homes, leaving rural households disadvantaged. To date, the rural element of 
the Carbon Saving Community obligation (CSCo) has not offset this bias.” 

 
4.3 DECC’s recent ECO consultation includes proposals for more HCRO activity to 

take place in off-gas properties. However, it is not yet clear whether this will 
redress the balance.  

 
4.4 Given Wales’ high proportion of rural households, and of households off the gas 

network, this finding should be of concern. It further underlines that the design of 
energy efficiency schemes should ensure incentives for those delivering 
measures are around meeting customer need.  
 

Recommendation 
Citizens Advice Cymru recommends that the Environment and Sustainability 
Committee seeks information from the Big Six energy suppliers on their expenditure 
on ECO in Wales, and whether they believe the design of the scheme ensures those 
in the greatest need of help receive it.  
 
 
 

                                            
9 CSE Ibid 

Tudalen y pecyn 136



 

Community Housing Cymru Group Written Evidence to the Environment and 
Sustainability Committee on Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty in Wales 

Introduction to Community Housing Cymru Group (CHC Group) 

CHC Group is made up of Community Housing Cymru, Care & Repair Cymru and Crew Regeneration Wales, 
who came together to form a Group in 2010 to jointly champion not-for-profit housing, care and regeneration, 
effectively collaborating for communities. Community Housing Cymru (CHC) is the representative body for 
housing associations and community mutuals in Wales, which are all not-for profit organisations. Our members 
work closely with local government, third sector organisations and the Welsh Government to provide a range of 
services in communities across Wales and ensure that the Welsh social housing movement is kept fully 
informed and represented. 

CHC Group welcomes the opportunity to provide oral evidence on energy efficiency and fuel poverty on behalf 
of the sector at the Environment and Sustainability Committee in July 2014. 

Examine progress towards meeting the Welsh Government’s statutory targets for eradicating fuel 
poverty in Wales by 2018 

1. The Welsh Government’s set an ambitious statutory target in 2003 for eradicating fuel poverty in social housing 
by 2012 and in Wales by 2018. The Welsh Government as part of the Fuel Poverty Strategy 2010 launched a 
number of ambitious programmes to eradicate fuel poverty including Arbed and Nest.   

 
1.1 CHC Group and HAs in Wales were key strategic partners with the Welsh Government in the delivery of both 

Arbed phase 1 and 2. The Welsh Government raised £30m towards the delivery of Arbed phase 1 with an 
additional £32m from HAs own budgets and match funding from energy efficiency programmes.  Arbed 
investment has enabled a large number of HA properties install with energy efficiency installations taking the 
number of tenants out of fuel poverty. The Welsh Government should be commended on its continued 
investment in energy efficiency programmes targeting fuel poverty in Wales.  

 
1.2 The Welsh Housing Quality Standard requires all social landlords to improve their housing stock to an 

acceptable level by 2020.  As part of the standard, social housing providers are required to increase their 
energy SAP rating to 65 and above. As of 2013, 75 per cent of HA in Wales were compliant with the WHQS, 
including raising the SAP rating of its tenanted properties to 65 and above. Along with the WHQS, our members 
have specific long term targets to improve the energy efficiency of its housing stock and reducing the fuel 
poverty of its tenants. 

1.3 Despite CHC Group and HA continued work in raising the quality of the energy efficiency of its housing stock 
through WHQS and Arbed and other energy efficiency programmes, tenants and householders remain or have 
become fuel poor. According to the Wales Fuel Poverty Projection Tool released in 2013, 31 percent of social 
housing tenants in Wales still lived in fuel poverty in 2012, equating to 70,000 households, a rise of 6 per cent 
from 2008 indicators. In 2012 30% of households and 33% of vulnerable households in Wales were estimated 
to be in fuel poverty. Tenants and older people are more vulnerable to fuel poverty as they are often on fixed 
income and often spend disproportionately more time in their homes.  

 
1.4 The rise in fuel poverty since 2008 has been affected as a result of a number of mitigating circumstances. Since 

2008, tenants living in HA properties have been affected significantly by rising fuel bills, benefit changes and the 
bedroom tax. High energy prices in Wales are compounded by the energy inefficiency of Welsh housing and 
lack of access to mains gas in rural areas. Recent information from the National Housing Federation has 
identified that 26% of ‘bedroom tax’ claimants have cut back on heating to pay for the cut in housing benefit. 

 
1.5 Recently, the CHC Group on behalf of its members signed a Pact with the Welsh Government to deliver 10,000 

new and affordable homes in Wales between 2011 and 2016. This will increase the number of affordable 
homes and improve the housing stock levels in Wales, enabling tenants and homeowners to move into new 
energy efficient homes.  

 
1.6 CHC Group is supportive of collective fuel switching and of Cyd Cymru’s collective energy buying scheme. A 

number of HA’s in Wales were partners in the scheme or signed up and a large number of tenants in Wales 
benefited by signing up to Cyd Cymru and will save money on future energy bills.  
 

1.7  CHC’s Your Benefits Are Changing campaign (YBAC) involves over 70 organisations raising awareness of the 
welfare reform. CHC lead on the campaign using television, social media, newspapers and radio to raise 

National Assembly for Wales 
Environment and Sustainability Committee 
EEFP 04 
Inquiry into Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty  
Response from: Community Housing Cymru Group 

Tudalen y pecyn 137

Eitem 5



 

awareness. The preventative advice team at CHC supports the YBAC helpline where callers are given 
information and advice on changes and any possible solutions. The network of organisations involved in the 
campaign allows advisors to signpost to other supporting agencies if required. One area of success has been 
the identification of the Warm Home Discount. The number of callers currently claiming a qualifying benefit is 
94% and therefore last year we successfully assisted over 800 people to claim a rebate which equates to an 
annual sum of £140,000. Of which 250 people have also been added to the priority services register.  
 

1.8 HAs in Wales own approximately 150,000 homes. Our HA members have invested heavily into energy 
efficiency measures. Installing energy efficient improvements are the most sustainable way to reduce the risk of 
fuel poverty for any individual household by increasing the household’s energy efficiency. 

1.8.1 Approximately 70% of tenants in Wales claim some kind of income support. Our members are proactive in 
supporting fuel poor tenants obtain their entitled benefits that relieves them of fuel poverty. Our members 
provide benefit advice, helping tenants secure warm home discounts and winter fuel payments. Our members 
also provide tenant fuel debt advice by supporting them, for example in negotiating re-payments of gas and 
electric debts with energy providers. Further evidence on fuel poverty by members is provided in Appendix 1. 

   
1.9 Our members have developed and delivered a variety of successful energy efficiency and behavioural skills, 

events and projects supporting tenants at risk or in fuel poverty. There are a number of successful examples of 
projects run by HAs that educate tenants through targeted engagement programmes aimed at reducing fuel 
poverty and reducing energy consumption. A number of these projects have been successful in training and 
employing unemployed tenants to become energy advisors and mentors and install small scale energy 
efficiency improvements. These projects have had positive results in encouraging tenants to become energy 
efficient and highlighting fuel poverty, saving tenants money and changing their behaviour. Information about 
specific projects and support provided by HAs is provided in Appendix 2. 

 
 1.10 Many HAs members have responded to CHC Group to state that rural fuel poverty needs to be recognised and 

addressed specifically by the Welsh Government. The cost of living in rural areas is higher than in more densely 
populated areas. Tenants and homeowners living in rural areas are more likely to be in fuel poverty as they are 
required to pay more for energy, transport and food.   

1.10.1 Rural traditional HAs have a smaller number of stock and members have stated that this affects their ability to 
attract energy efficiency funding and energy inefficient housing stock. A number of our member’s housing in 
rural areas is hard to treat with low SAP ratings.  
 

1.10.2 Many householders and tenants living in rural areas off gas areas do not have the choice on the type of fuel 
they can have in their properties and have to rely on costlier oil and LRG gas to heat their homes. The cost of 
oil and LPG gas is a problem for many tenants; it is harder to budget compared to gas and other heating 
systems. Rural HAs also have the highest proportion of homes off grid with higher energy costs.  One HA in 
South West Wales has 451 off grid properties, amounting to 19% of its total stock. 
 

1.11 Various member HAs working in rural areas are continually looking at new technology to address rural heating 
of new and existing houses and deal with tenants in rural fuel poverty.  
 

1.12 Many tenants in Wales are on prepayment meters to pay for the gas and electricity bills. Many tenants have no 
option but to be put on prepayment meters, whilst others prefer them as it enables them to budget better. One 
HA based in the south Wales valleys estimates that approximately 70% of its tenants use prepayment meters. 
The benefit of having a prepayment meter is that it allows the tenant to budget the amount of electricity and gas 
that they use.  However, prepayment meters are on the whole more expensive than a standard meter. For 
every £10 a tenant puts into a prepayment meter, approximately, £1 gets used before the tenants uses it. The 
most vulnerable and fuel poor tenants are likely to be on prepayment meters. CHC Group and HA members are 
concerned in the rise of prepayment meters in tenant homes. 
 

1.13 Care & Repair agencies work with older people to improve the energy efficiency of their homes and maximise 
income, to support people out of fuel poverty. Agencies are skilled in accessing all grants, charitable funds and 
fuel poverty schemes, locally and national and UK wide to support older people to live in warmer, more 
comfortable homes. In 2013/14 Care & Repair agencies provided over 1800 people with energy advice and 
assistance and over 1000 older people were supported with issues of damp and energy inefficient housing.  
 

1.14 CHC Group and members in Wales have expert knowledge, experience and awareness of fuel poverty 
issues affecting tenants and householders across Wales and would like to work closely with the Welsh 
Government to develop new up to date fuel poverty strategies, action plans and initiatives. 
 

1.14.1 CHC Group and members are keen to work with the Welsh Government to develop specific rural fuel 
poverty policies to support rural tenants and homeowners in fuel poverty.  

Tudalen y pecyn 138



 

1.14.2 CHC Group and members are very concerned with the rise of prepayment meters in tenanted properties 
and are keen to work with the Welsh and UK Governments and energy suppliers to make prepayment 
meters cheaper for tenants and develop alternative forms of gas and electric payment for fuel poor 
tenants and homeowners. 

To consider the impact of the Welsh Government’s existing energy efficiency programmes (Nest and 
Arbed) and UK Government initiatives such as the Green Deal. 

2. HA members have taken advantage of all energy efficiency programmes to improve its housing stock. The 
impact of energy efficiency programmes on HAs and its tenants is provided in Appendix 3.  
 

2.1 Arbed has had a significant impact on improving the HA housing stock and has supported a large number of 
tenants out of fuel poverty.  The Welsh Government has benefited from having Melin Homes as one of its 
scheme managers. Melin Homes has calculated that for every £1 invested through Arbed phase 2, £2 goes 
back into the community. 

2.2 CHC Group and its members played a significant role in the delivery and have been instrumental in the success 
of the Arbed programme in Wales. HAs in Wales were a key strategic partner in the delivery of Arbed phase 1, 
which was targeted mainly (though not exclusively) at the social housing sector in Wales. HAs in Wales 
successfully delivered phase 1 on behalf of the Welsh Government using its own local suppliers and Welsh 
based installers sourced from their Welsh HA supply chain and installer network.  
 

2.2.1 Given only a relatively short timeframe; HAs across Wales were successful in delivering Arbed phase 1 on 
behalf of the Welsh Government, leveraging an additional £32m from HAs own budgets and match funding from 
Carbon Emission Reduction Target (CERT) and Community Energy Saving Programme (CESP) to reduce the 
cost of installing energy efficiency measures in tenanted and homeowner properties.   

 

2.2.1 Arbed phase 1 model was successful in targeting the householders and areas most in need and in fuel   
poverty. Using local suppliers and installers kept money in Wales. HAs and homeowners benefited significantly 
from investment in the installation of a mix of energy efficient measures including solid wall insulation, solar PV, 
new boilers, communal solar thermal systems and other technologies through Arbed phase 1 funding. As a 
direct result, the majority of properties improved from EPC rating F to a C, raising a number of tenant and 
homeowner beneficiaries out of fuel poverty. 
 

2.3     Arbed phase 2 was delivered differently to Arbed phase 1; focusing on the private rented/owner occupied sector 
and led by local authorities. Local authorities were required to work with HAs and other partners to develop their 
bids. The delivery mechanism for Arbed phase 2, targeting homeowner properties over HA owned properties 
and being led by local authority has meant that less HA energy inefficient properties have been supported in 
this phase. While we recognise that Arbed is a programme which should apply cross tenure we believe that the 
change in the application process from Arbed phase 1 and 2 has led to a patchy approach which is too 
dependent on local government priorities and processes. In some areas good partnership bids are developed, 
but in others, some HAs have not been involved in bids for funding. Various HAs have indicated issues with the 
delivery of Arbed phase 2 in particular in North Wales, including communication issues and using the local 
supply chain, one of the main aims of Arbed.   
 

2.4 Care & Repair Cymru have set up a social business to work with an energy company/ECO provider to support 
them in providing measures, funded under ECO. With Care and Repair’s experience of working closely with 
older people, they are in a great position to support and identify older home owners entitled to ECO through the 
process and help to lift them out of fuel poverty. 
 

2.5 Care & Repair agencies utilise the Nest Portal system, in order to refer clients directly to the scheme, whilst 
visiting the client in their own homes. The Nest partnership with Care & Repair ensures that the scheme is 
made accessible to vulnerable older people, living in their own homes. There has been concern over certain 
aspects of Nest, for example its eligibility criteria, the type of measures funded and the application process, 
however, most recipients that Care & Repair have spoken to have reported that NEST has allowed them to live 
in a more fuel efficient home, reduced their fuel bills and improved their wellbeing. 
 

2.6 Members have utilised CERT and CESP funding through energy suppliers to install and replace old inefficient G 
rated boilers, top up loft insulation and install solid and cavity wall insulation and other measures. These 
measures have greatly benefited tenants and energy efficiency of HA housing stock. 
 

2.7 HAs have also benefited from the UK Government’s Feed in Tariff and the Renewable Heat Incentive. HAs 
have invested heavily in electricity and thermal technologies to improve the energy efficiency of its tenants 
homes across Wales.  Through investing in solar PV and solar thermal and other technologies, tenants receive Tudalen y pecyn 139



 

reduced energy or heating bills and HAs receive the FIT tariff payments. Investment in solar PV and thermal is 
a big investment for HAs. Early adaptors were able to benefit financially from tariffs, however, due to tariff 
digression and other factors, the investment in alternative energy and heating sources is less financially 
attractive than in previous years. HAs continues to invest in alternative heating and electricity technologies as it 
is a low-risk; long-term sustainable investment and tenants reduced bills.  

 

2.8 CHC Group and members are keen to work with the Welsh Government to ensure that they take full 
advantage of the next phase of European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) to utilise investment 
opportunities to improve the energy efficiency of homes in Wales.  

2.9. CHC Group and members believe that the Welsh Government needs to continue developing energy 
efficiency and fuel poverty programmes that improve the energy efficiency of tenanted and homeowner 
properties in Wales and raise more people out of fuel poverty. CHC welcomes the opportunity to 
discuss the future delivery, design of new energy efficiency programmes. 
 

2.9.1 CHC Group believes that HAs in Wales are best placed to lead and deliver future Welsh Government 
energy efficiency programmes. HAs in Wales have shown in their delivery of Arbed phase 1 their 
flexibility in developing and running successful energy efficiency schemes.  They also have valuable 
knowledge, skills and experience of installing and dealing with hard to treat properties in Wales.  

 

2.9.2  CHC Group and its members also wish to work with the Welsh Government to develop a targeted 
energy efficiency programme targeting rural off gas areas.  
 

To review the implementation to date by the major energy suppliers of the Energy Company Obligation 
(ECO) and other measures to alleviate fuel poverty in Wales. 
 

3.  A number of HAs in Wales have obtained ECO funding to improve its hard to treat housing stock since its 
introduction in January 2013. Between January 2013 and December 2013, they were successful in obtaining 
funding from energy providers to install energy efficiency measures in its low income tenants living in 'hard-to-
treat' properties. Evidence of how ECO has impacted HAs in Wales can be found in Appendix 4. 

 

3.1 CHC Group welcomed the additional Arbed match funding support in early 2013 by the Welsh Government to 
attract early ECO energy efficiency money into Wales. This early funding allowed HAs to take advantage of 
ECO funding to improve and target it’s hard to treat properties in Wales. In the future however, CHC Group and 
HAs agree that the Welsh Government needs to work closer with the sector when considering releasing funding 
under Arbed or other funding streams. The Welsh Government release of funding needs to be planned, 
allowing HAs time to consult and develop effective energy efficiency projects. CHC welcome discussions on this 
matter. 
 

3.2 The UK Government’s autumn budget announced plans to reduce the solid wall insulation target for 2017 to 
only 100,000 properties and cut funding to its main programme, Carbon Emissions Reduction Obligation 
(CERO) has had a huge impact on HAs in Wales. As a consequence of UK Government changes, a number of 
energy companies withdrew their ECO funding offers. Changes to ECO targets and the withdrawal of ECO 
offers from energy companies have hit HAs who were reliant on ECO funding to improve its hard to treat 
housing stock.  

 

3.3 Uncertainty in income arising from the recent changes to ECO has meant that HAs have been unable to plan 
ahead their energy efficiency and maintenance programmes to treat their hard to treat housing stock. As a 
consequence to changes, more tenants across Wales could remain in fuel poverty and live in hard to treat 
homes. 
 

3.4 CHC Group believe that UK Government should consider putting a regional target or quota on the 
number of solid wall properties an energy supplier must target, especially as the target for installing 
solid wall insulation will be severely cut. The Welsh Government should put pressure on the UK 
Government to create a regional target on the number of solid wall properties an energy supplier must 
target in Wales. 

3.4.1 CHC Group is supportive of the role the Welsh Government is doing to maximise ECO in Wales. CHC 
Group represented the HA sector on the Maximising ECO Core Working Group and welcomes the Welsh 
Government’s £70m commitment to encourage energy companies to invest in energy efficiency 
projects and maximise ECO investment in Wales.  The Welsh Government needs to ensure that local 
authorities discuss and include HAs and their properties when developing or coordinating their 
maximising ECO bids in their communities in Wales. 

 
 Tudalen y pecyn 140



 

 
Appendix 1 - Evidence from HAs on fuel poverty 
 

Pembrokeshire Housing Association 
Pembrokeshire HA stated that rural associations whilst having smaller numbers of stock are generally faced 
with dealing with the challenge of a high proportion of homes off-grid with higher energy costs, and therefore 
greater fuel poverty. Tenants are faced with poor or no public transport links, forcing those tenants to have to 
pay for private means of transport, making them poorer still. This has not been recognised by previous funding 
initiatives.  
 

Tai Ceredigion 
Tai Ceredigion will soon be looking into the proportion of its tenants who fall into the category of fuel poverty so 
that it can focus its activities even more effectively. 
 
Merthyr Tydfil Housing Association 
Merthyr Tydfil HA is in the process of canvassing all tenants on their gas and electricity use in order to produce 
an overview of fuel poverty amongst tenants. 
 

Off gas properties 
 
Pembrokeshire HA has a total stock of 2339.  The total off grid is 451, amounting to 19% of its stock. Off grid 
property stock includes, 200 with electricity only, 65 LPG gas, 185 with oil and 1 solid fuel.  
 

Appendix 2 - Projects and support by HAs to support tenants in fuel poverty 
 

Here is evidence of support and successful projects led by HAs in Wales to support tenants in fuel poverty.  
 

Tai Eryri (Now part of Grwp Cynefin) 
Tai Eryri in partnership with Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd delivers its successful Energy Wardens scheme. The 
Energy Wardens scheme has invested in the recruitment of local people to become fully trained energy 
wardens.  These wardens visit tenants in allocated areas and give advice and support as required. 
Below are the results of latest scheme; 

 The refurbished recently started at the end of September 2013. 6 unemployed people were employed 
as Energy Wardens in three wards.   

 Altogether, 27 events and consultation sessions have been held across the three wards.   

 Over 1,900 marketing materials and consultation literature has been distributed within the 2 wards 
during the phase 

 A total of 106 installations were carried out including installing energy efficient light bulbs, heat reflector 
radiator foil and draft excluders. 

 In total there have been 61 applications 'Warm Home Discount' has been introduced with a value of        
£ 8,175. 

 5 of the Energy Wardens have been given an additional six-month extension of employment. 1 Energy 
Warden left due to health and personal problems. 

 Since the start of the current phase in September 2013 there has been a CO2 saving of 171,600 kg in 
the 3 wards (calculated using Energy Saving Trust and Directgov data). 

The Energy Wardens project developed an extensive training package which enabled:  

 6 wardens to successfully complete 'introduction to energy efficiency' City + Guilds level 1 
 5 attended Fuel Debt Advice course by NEA 
 5 completed a course essential skills (ADT) 
 5 were successful in achieving the awareness of energy and 6876/6176 City + Guilds level 3 

qualification  
 7 received training in health and safety and fire safety.  

Charter Housing (Seren Group) 
The Money saver project provides support and advice to tenants and their families on how to save money on 
their energy bills by advising them on energy usage and helping them to switch to lower cost tariffs. They run 
Money saver road shows which include a large element of energy advice including how to search for deals 
online.  
 
 
 
 Tudalen y pecyn 141



 

Below are the results of scheme; 

 Money savers promoted the Warm Home Discount scheme after identifying all eligible tenants and 
offering assistance in applying this resulted in over £50,000 worth of energy credit gained for over 400 
tenants in 3 years of the scheme.  

 Money savers are also working in partnership with SWALEC smart services team to provide specialist, 
home-energy assessments and advice as well as drop in/advice surgeries.  

 

The Radiate project was developed and implemented by Charter Housing, initially working in Monmouthshire 
County Council, later joined by Bron Afon in Torfaen and Caerphilly. The project was funded by Charter, 
Monmouth County Council, Bron Afon and Engagement Gateway. The project works with young people to 
develop their skills and employability the youngsters install energy efficiency measures in people’s homes and 
provide them with energy saving advice. 
 

Below are the results of scheme; 

 Radiate has installed energy efficiency measures in 176 homes and given energy advice to tenants, 
given an average monetary saving of £186 per household, totalling £19,530 over the course of the 
project so far.  

 Radiate has also trained 46 young people to fit the energy measures, so far. 35 have gained 
qualifications i.e. 25 achieved NOCN level 2 in teamwork skills, 23 achieved NOCN Entry 3 in Skills for 
employment. 21 have gone on to other training schemes and 5 have gone into full time employment, 9 
into volunteering. 

Pennaf Housing  
Pennaf has delivered Energy Best Deal training over a number of years to residents who are particularly 
vulnerable to fuel poverty:  In the past it has delivered to sheltered housing and supported living project 
residents. This year it was successful in securing funding to run two Energy Best Deal sessions, which it 
delivered at its Residents Conference in October 2013.  Energy Best Deal training aims to make people aware 
of the savings that can be made by switching or negotiating with fuel providers, it provides information about 
help available for people struggling to pay their gas and electricity bills and advice on using less energy in the 
home.  

Family Housing Association 
Family Housing provides support to tenants in or at risk of fuel poverty. This year, it has supported over 60 
tenants to secure warm home discounts totalling over £8,200, it has sign-posted tenants to energy suppliers to 
ensure they are on the correct tariff and helped tenants re-negotiate payments of gas and electric debts. It has 
also produced a number of leaflets and booklets produced including Home Heating Helpline, Energy Checker 
and Insulate to Save. 
 

Linc Cymru 
Linc Cymru visit tenants who are paying excessive amounts for their energy as they are trapped on a pre-
payment method and support them with energy efficiency, behavioural and budgeting skills.  
Linc Cymru also provides energy advice and aims to identify tenants who qualify for ‘warm home discount’ 
payments. It has a relationship with SWALEC, whereby it refers tenants via SWALEC Smart Services. Around 
25% of tenants visited qualified for the Warm Home Discount payment. Around 10% of people seen are in fuel 
poverty.  
 

Tai Ceredigion 
Tai Ceredigion offers support to households in fuel poverty through two Financial Inclusion Officers, a 
Community Inclusion Officer and an Energy Efficiency Advisor. These ensure that tenants are in receipt of all 
benefits payments to which they are entitled (including any concessions from energy suppliers), to help tenants 
understand domestic energy usage, to understand energy billing, tariffs and energy plans, to facilitate changes 
in energy behaviour, to provide detailed monitoring of energy usage on a per-home or even per-appliance basis 
to help prevent wastage. It provides a series of events throughout the calendar year which include assistance 
for those individuals categorised as fuel poor.  
 

Merthyr Tydfil Housing Association 
All new Merthyr Tydfil HA tenants receive a visit from its maintenance team member in order to ensure that they 

fully understand the heating system which is fitted in their home and how to most efficiently use it. All tenants 

who believe they are paying too much for their energy are supported to change supplier, receive discounts or 
alter habits to assist alleviate the situation including offering access to digital means in tenants homes. Merthyr 
Tydfil HA provides assistance in applying for warm home discount including offering digital opportunities to 
apply in tenants homes.  30 tenants assisted to apply for warm home discount this year as well as those from 
previous years who are continuing to apply.  
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 142



 

Appendix 3 - Impact of energy efficiency programmes on HAs and its tenants 

Here is evidence from HAs across Wales on how they have secured funding from Arbed, CERT, CESP, FIT 
and RHI. 
 

Arbed phase1  
 

Linc Housing 
Linc benefited from Arbed phase 1 funding, receiving funding towards increasing solid wall insulation and solar 
hot water panels to 150 of Linc’s properties. 
 

Charter Housing  
Charter Housing secured £1.6m of Arbed 1 funding to upgrade properties across tenure types in Markham, 
Caerphilly. The project involved the installation of 269 energy saving measures to 197 properties. In addition, 
£240k of top up CESP was obtained for work to Charter properties. A similar amount was also secured for the 
private and local authority owned properties. 
 

Pennaf  
Pennaf received £160,000 Arbed phase 1 funding to install solid wall and cavity wall insulation and new 
windows and boilers. Pennaf received £60,000 CESP funding towards the £350,000 total cost of the project.  
 

Pennaf also received £140,000 Arbed phase 1 under spend funding to install more solid wall and cavity wall 
insulation and boilers. Pennaf received an additional £378,000 CESP funding towards the £700,000 cost of the 
project.  
 

Newydd 
Newydd received Arbed phase 1 funding to install 35 properties with solid wall insulation, 99 properties with 
solar PV panels and 34 properties benefitted from communal solar thermal systems.  
 

Arbed phase 2 
 

Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd 
Under Arbed phase 2, Gwynedd County Council received funding to install mains gas in the village of Nantlle.  
16 Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd properties benefited from new gas central heating.  
 

Charter Housing 
Charter Housing accessed £63,259 Arbed 2 funding supporting an £110,000 project to install external wall 
insulation to 19 non-traditional properties in Newport. Resulting in a potential saving of 19.46 tonnes of CO2 
omissions and an estimated annual saving of £3,417 to our tenants heating bills year on year.  
 

Linc Cymru 
Arbed phase 2 had only a marginal effect on improving the energy efficiency of Linc Cymru’s housing stock due 
to the small number of Linc properties included. 
 

NEST 
 

Tai Ceredigion 
Tai Ceredigion thinks that the Welsh Government has made good progress towards tackling fuel poverty in 
Ceredigion, especially directly to householders through the NEST scheme. Ceredigion County Council have 
pioneered Cymdogion Cynnes, a scheme to promote awareness of fuel poverty and energy issues, assist those 
who are affected and to signpost to other organisations and programmes of which NEST is an important part. 
 

CERT and CESP  
 

Charter Housing  
 

Since 2006 Charter Housing received in excess of £1.6million in CERT and CESP funding resulting in total 
potential savings of 858 tonnes of CO2 omissions and total possible annual savings of £181,721 for the tenants 
living in the homes upgraded. 
 
Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd 
Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd received almost £500,000 funding in total through CERT to install solid wall, 
cavity and loft insulation and ‘A’ rated boilers in a number of its properties. 
 

 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 143



 

Tai Ceredigion 
CESP funding enabled Tai Ceredigion to install external wall insulation to 65 homes and replaced over 100 
heating systems.  
 

Newydd 
Newydd received CERT funding to install loft and/or cavity wall insulation to all properties where required 
across its housing stock. They also received partial funding for four properties to have their economy seven 
electric heating replaced with air source heat pumps.  
 

Feed in Tariff and Renewable Heat Incentive 
 

Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd 
Having installed Photovoltaic (solar) panels on the roofs of 18 properties on a 2 year trial basis, the results have 
shown that the electricity generated by the panels is saving residents around £50 per year, enough to cover the 
electricity requirements of appliances but not their heating needs. 
 

Pennaf 
Pennaf have installed over 500 solar PV installations on a number of houses, Extra-Care, Hostel and office 
buildings. It has invested over £3.3M in solar PV which has allowed its residents to benefit from reduced 
electricity bills. Pennaf has been able to obtain the “Feed in Tariff” to pay for the installation. 
 

United Welsh 
Over the last 5 years United Welsh have installed PV systems to 975 of our properties (this represents 23% of 
our total stock),  over 700 were installed by utilising the FIT system as United Welsh borrowed the money 
commercially to improve the housing stock. 
For the properties which have received energy efficiency enhancements, the average SAP score has increased 
from 69.52 in May 2010 to 80.97 in May 2014. 
 

In 2013 there was a total 1,212,831.37 KWH generated by the PV systems on UWHA properties. If the OFGEM 
suggested assumption is made that our tenants used 50% of this energy (and using an energy price of 16.5p 
per KWH) the energy savings from its solar PV programme alone is more than £100,000 per annum. 
United Welsh have since circulated leaflets to its tenants advising them how to get the most from their PV 
systems so that they can benefit from a bigger proportion of the energy produced. 
 

Appendix 4 - Impact of ECO on HAs in Wales 
  
Pennaf 
Pennaf received £80,000 ECO funding towards the costs of installing solid and internal wall insulation on 29 
Homes.  
 

Charter Housing 
Charter Housing received £62k of Energy Company ECO pilot funding which installed enabled Charter  to 
install external wall insulation to 14 flats, resulting in an estimated annual saving of £2,100 to our tenant’s 
heating bills year on year. 
 

They received ECO funding from British Gas to support Arbed 2 project but funding was cut before the end of 
the project due to changes in the energy company’s commitment. 
 

Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd 
Cartrefi Cymunedol Gwynedd had provisionally secured over £800,000 ECO funding via British Gas. However, 
even though contracts were signed, British Gas withdrew their offer due to changes to ECO. Cartrefi 
Cymunedol Gwynedd is now in the process of conducting talks with the various energy suppliers to secure new 
funding under the revised ECO agreement. 
 

NPT Homes  
They have been developing a scheme to pilot an ECO project in preparation to fund a further 2000 over the 
next 3 years. They have collected different information for various energy providers, but have yet to receive 
funding. It continues to meet with energy companies but still have not secured a single offer. 
 

Linc Cymru 
Linc Cymru have not benefited from ECO or Green Deal funding. 
 

Tai Ceredigion 
Tai Ceredigion has taken advantage of ECO by working with SSE to apply external wall insulation to over 500 
homes; they are currently just over half way through this programme. 
 Tudalen y pecyn 144



National Assembly for Wales 

Environment and Sustainability Committee 

EEFP 08  

Inquiry into Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty  

Response from: Tai Calon Community Housing Limited 

 

 

 

Response to Welsh Government enquiry 

To examine the progress towards meeting the Welsh Governments Statutory 
targets for eradicating fuel poverty in Wales by 2018 
It is recognised that Tai Calon has a particularly challenging set of circumstances to 
cope with in terms of addressing fuel poverty, given the following information. 

    
Indicators 

  

  
Percentage of 
stock affected 

  
Consequences 

1 High proportion of 
system built homes with 
very poor thermal 
characteristics 

  
38% 

High levels of fuel required to 
achieve comfort levels. Poor heat 

retention 

2 Exposed nature of many 
estates/properties 

  
75% 

Seasonal weather extremes 
affects fuel usage pattern 

3 High levels of 
unemployment 

  
70% 

Presence in home all day results 
in continuous running costs 

4 High levels of benefit 
dependency 

  
80% 

Difficulty to manage budgets to 
meet exceptional heating costs 

5 High proportion of 
elderly tenants 

  
60% 

Presence in home all day results 
in continuous running costs 

6 High proportion of pre-
payment meter 
customers 

  
70% 

Most expensive way of buying 
domestic fuel 

7 Pattern of net outward 
migration 

  
  

Proportion of 
elderly/incapacitated/unemployed 

tenants increasing 

  
1. The major problem in meeting WG’s targets is that the assumption that once 
tenants/owner occupiers are lifted out of fuel poverty that they remain there. As 
energy costs rise faster than wage or benefit increases the number of householders 
in fuel poverty increases. There is an implicit assumption in the approach adopted by 
WG that there is a linkage between fuel poverty and energy efficiency. Fuel poverty 
status is a dynamic entity, whereas the effects of energy efficiency works are 
permanent, albeit transferrable to new occupiers.  There is no permanent way to 
guarantee reduction in the number of tenants  in fuel poverty aside from permanent 
increases in pay and benefits being at a higher rate that increases in fuel prices.  
It is estimated that more than 30% of our tenanted households, and  over 35% of our 
most vulnerable tenants are in fuel poverty. This number has increased in line with 
the trebling of energy bills in the last 8 years. As fuel poverty is expressed in terms of 
the percentage of household income spent on fuel, the increase in fuel costs allied 
with reduction in benefits has resulted in moving some tenants into fuel poverty and 
moved some tenants back into fuel poverty despite the energy efficiency works 
which may have been carried out. The situation in Tai Calon’s area is that there are 
households where fuel costs exceed 20% of income and are designated as being in 
‘severe fuel poverty’. 

Tudalen y pecyn 145



 

 

2. In the recent past we have received some funding for Energy Advisers. This 
proved to be highly successful. It was intended that our Housing Management staff 
would be able to carry on this work, but the volume of work arising from Welfare 
Reform Act and Universal Credit has rendered this impossible  
To consider the impact of the Welsh Governments existing energy 
programmes (Nest and Arbed) and the UK Government initiatives such as 
Green Deal 
3. The requirements of the Welsh Housing Quality Standard have under-pinned the 
approach Tai Calon has adopted to deal with regard to energy efficiency in our 
housing stock. Tai Calon recognises that properly heated and ventilated homes 
require less maintenance. Good energy efficiency works represent a sound 
investment.  
4. During 2011/2012 Tai Calon successfully carried out an extensive Arbed 1 
programme of external wall insulation to almost 200 properties. These properties 
were non-traditional properties. The work carried out – along with uprated central 
heating systems – resulted in the SAP Rating being lifted to 67-69. Based on the 
Energy Performance Certificates, the average annual running costs were £650, 
representing less than 10% of anticipated annual income at the lowest benefit 
entitlement.    
5. In response to the WG’s SAP commitment Tai Calon has set an ambitious target 
of achieving a minimum SAP rating of 65 for all properties by 2015 and 68 by 
2017.Our financial inclusion team will strengthen its’ resources to pursue energy 
reduction and control programmes. 
6. During 2011-2013 it was planned to carry out an external wall insulation 
programme   together with other measures under the CESP scheme on up to 1000 
non-traditional properties. The contract was managed by one of the big 6 Energy 
Companies with their own designated Installer. Having completed just over half of 
the programme the Energy Company terminated their work programme and 
withdrew from site. The programme had quality and tenant satisfaction issues. There 
was an element of ‘cherry picking’ properties where those properties yielding the 
maximum carbon saving were prioritised, whereas other properties which presented 
structural or low carbon saving issues were omitted. The energy company then 
offered to complete the balance of the programme on revised terms. Tai Calon 
declined this offer in the light of the additional expenditure required and  failure by 
the Main Contractor to satisfactorily deliver the programme. 
7. This outcome was extremely disappointing and the view taken by the Board was 
that this delivery method would not be repeated. 
8. As a general observation, the process of Arbed scheme development by Local 
Government, has not always reflected the priorities Tai Calon has identified. A more 
direct relationship would enable a more  cohesive approach.     
To review the implementation to date by the major energy suppliers of the 
Energy Company Obligation (ECO) and any other measures to alleviate fuel 
poverty in Wales  
9. The ECO scheme was intended to follow on seamlessly from CESP. As it was, the 
CESP programme nationally overran by 7 months and even then, ECO was not 
ready to take the work forward. This coincided with price hikes by the Energy 
Companies, which they blamed in part on the ‘green Levy’ element of the bill. 
Lobbying by the Energy Companies resulted in this element on the average bill being 
removed, with the promise that Central Government would fund the difference, so 
that the programme could continue. The reality was that the Energy Companies took 

Tudalen y pecyn 146



 

 

the opportunity to reduce the carbon rate per tonne, spreading the programme over 
a longer period and being very selective in recognising schemes as being suitable. 
Tai Calon experience was that their type of scheme attracted little ECO  funding and 
it was not until March of this year that any offer was received.   
10. Despite the paucity of this promised ECO funding, Tai Calon have embarked on 
an external wall insulation programme involving 550 non - traditional homes. By 
adopting a model of self management and sourcing materials directly, Tai Calon is 
confident that all of the properties within the programme will be completed within  
budget. Amongst this group of properties are some of the most challenging 
properties both in terms of structural type and location, but as they are some of the  
worst performing for thermal efficiency, it was resolved to tackle them and lift  
tenants out of fuel poverty. These actions are recognised as necessary and 
productive as identified  in our draft Asset Management strategy 2014-17. 
11. Such was the general disappointment surrounding ECO Tai Calon hosted a 
meeting in January 2014 to share experiences with other RSL’s. Regrettably, the 
responses from all assembled were the same. They reflected broken promises and 
an atmosphere of inertia resulting from the changes made. That feeling persists. 
12. Although Tai Calon is yet to benefit from the current Arbed scheme, there is 
encouragement that with its’ whole house and mixed tenure approach, it is the way 
forward. Allied to the fact that it is to be managed on a regional basis we see a real 
chance of integrating with the delivery model we have devised. This will contain a lot 
of the expenditure in the area and retain the benefits in the community. 
13. Tai Calon is also keen to source revenue funding to pursue an active programme 
of energy awareness and guidance amongst tenants, including looking to appointing 
energy champions internally and externally. 
14. The whole house approach, along with the behavioural aspects of energy usage 
by tenants is the favoured approach. Because of the disproportionate high levels of 
prepayment meters, we are  pursuing a programme of encouraging tenants to apply 
for credit meters. Additionally, Tai Calon has promoted the use of energy saving 
products including Radiator reflectors and LED lighting. Wherever possible Tai Calon 
will encourage the introduction of ‘smart meters’.  
15. Wales has lagged behind other parts of the UK in terms of funding for energy 
efficiency improvements. In the South East corner of Wales, away from the big 
conurbations the typical ‘estate’ is small-scale, energy inefficient properties, with a 
wide range of non-traditional build types. The nature of relatively small developments 
in challenging environments does not fall into the large scheme/significant carbon 
reduction package both the British Government the Energy Companies  favour and, 
unless there is concerted action to address properties such as those described 
above, fuel poverty will continue to grow.   
 

Tudalen y pecyn 147



 
 
Ymchwiliad y Pwyllgor Amgylchedd a Chynaliadwyedd i Dlodi Tanwydd ac 
Effeithiolrwydd Ynni yng Nghymru: Tystiolaeth Ysgrifenedig Grŵp Cynefin 
 

1. Cymdeithas tai newydd yw Grŵp Cynefin a ffurfiwyd yn dilyn uno Cymdeithas Tai 
Eryri a Chymdeithas Tai Clwyd yn gynharach eleni. Mae Grŵp Cynefin yn darparu 
dros 3,700 o dai ar rent i deuluoedd a phobl ar hyd a lled gogledd Cymru, yn ogystal 
â thros 700 eiddo fforddiadwy i unigolion a theuluoedd sydd eisiau bod yn berchen ar 
eu tai eu hunain. 
  

2. Dros y blynyddoedd diwethaf, mae Tai Eryri yn benodol wedi bod yn datblygu 
prosiectau arloesol i hybu effeithlonrwydd ynni ac ymdrin â thlodi tanwydd. Ymysg y 
rhain yr oedd cynlluniau ar gyfer tai newydd, rhaglenni ôl-ffitio mawr, gosod 
technolegau adnewyddol ac ati, e.e. 
 

 Y Tai Cymdeithasol cyntaf yng Nghymru i‟w codi i Lefel 4 y Côd Cartrefi 
Cynaliadwy (Tai Eithinog, Bangor) 

 Rhaglenni ôl-ffitio mawr y talwyd amdanynt trwy ARBED 1, y Taliad Premiwm 
Gwres Adnewyddol a benthyca cyfalaf 

 Gosod cyfarpar adnewyddol mawr megis Paneli Haul PV a Phympiau Gwres 
Ffynhonnell Aer 

 Partneriaeth Trosglwyddo Gwybodaeth gyda Phrifysgol Bangor i werthuso yn 
ddwfn brofiadau tenantiaid wedi gosod cyfarpar dan gynllun ARBED 1 

 Y tai cymdeithasol cyntaf yn y gogledd i‟w codi i safon Passivhaus (Dwyran, 
Ynys Môn) 

  
3. Yn dilyn gwerthuso manwl ac ymateb gan y tenantiaid, daeth yn amlwg mai un o‟r 

anghenion mwyaf oedd rhoi cyngor ar dlodi tanwydd ar lefel gymunedol ac ymgorffori 
ymddygiad ar ynni i‟r agwedd hon. 
 

4. I‟r perwyl hwn, bu‟r prosiect Wardeniaid Ynni Cymunedol ar waith ers 2011 ac y 
mae‟n rhedeg ar hyn o bryd yng Nghaergybi, Caernarfon a Bangor. Mae‟r prosiect yn 
mynd i‟r afael â thlodi tanwydd, anweithgaredd economaidd, a lleihau carbon trwy 
ddarparu lleoliadau gwaith gyda chyflog am 6 mis i bobl sydd y tu allan i‟r farchnad 
lafur, ac sydd wedyn yn gweithio gyda thrigolion ym mhob math o ddaliadaeth tai 
mewn cymunedau difreintiedig i leihau costau ynni ac allyriadau carbon. Darperir 
pecyn o gefnogaeth a hyfforddiant o safon uchel, sydd yn rhoi cyfle i‟r wardeniaid 
wella sgiliau a datblygu gyrfaoedd ym maes asesu ynni neu gael cyfle am waith 
mewn meysydd ehangach. Mae‟r wardeniaid mewn mudiadau cymunedol mewn 
lleoliadau hygyrch yn agos at y cymunedau sy‟n cael eu gwasanaethu.   
 

5. Ers y cychwyn, rhoes y prosiect brofiad gwaith a chymwysterau ychwanegol i bedwar 
ar bymtheg o unigolion, ac fe aeth y rhan fwyaf ohonynt ymlaen i fwy o waith neu 
hyfforddiant. Mae bron i bum cant o drigolion wedi elwa o gyngor ar sut i fod yn fwy 
ynni-effeithlon, arbed arian a lleihau‟r defnydd o ynni.   
 

6. Yn ystod gwanwyn 2014 fe wnaethom ddarn o ymchwil dros Gyngor Gwynedd - 
prosiect GAE. Yr oedd hwn yn ymchwilio i weld pam fod cyn lleied o bobl yn 
manteisio ar gynlluniau megis y Fargen Werdd ac ECO, yn adnabod rhwystrau oedd 
wedi arwain at y sefyllfa bresennol. Gan weithio trwy‟r wardeniaid ynni yng 
Nghaernarfon, grŵp Ynni Llŷn ym Mhen Llŷn, a Menter Tref Werdd Blaenau 

Tudalen y pecyn 148



Ffestiniog, yr ydym wedi casglu ynghyd ymatebion gan gymunedau lleol sy‟n teimlo 
wedi eu heithrio a bod y cynlluniau hyn wedi mynd o‟r tu arall heibio iddynt. Nid yw‟r 
adroddiad terfynol eto‟n gyflawn, ond dyfynnir mwy ar rai o‟r canfyddiadau yn y 
cyflwyniad hwn. 
 

7. Mae ein hymateb i ymchwiliad y Pwyllgor felly yn seiliedig i raddau helaeth ar y 
storiâu a‟r negeseuon a gyflëwyd i ni trwy gyfrwng yr ymchwil hwn a‟r trigolion a‟r 
cymunedau y buom yn eu cefnogi trwy‟r Wardeniaid Ynni. I ategu‟r sylwadau hyn, yr 
ydym hefyd wedi cyflwyno fideo byr gyda lleisiau rhai o‟r bobl yr ydym yn gweithio 
gyda hwy a‟u profiadau uniongyrchol o dlodi tanwydd - lleisiau sydd yn rhy aml heb 
eu cynnwys mewn ymgynghoriadau fel y rhain ac sy‟n ein dwyn at ein coed ynghylch 
amgylchiadau fel y maent a pha mor anodd y medrant fod. 
 

8. Awgrymodd cylch gorchwyl y Pwyllgor y meysydd canlynol i ymchwilio iddynt:  
 Edrych i mewn i gynnydd tuag at gwrdd â thargedau statudol Llywodraeth Cymru 

o ran dileu tlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru erbyn 2018. 
 Ystyried effaith rhaglenni effeithlonrwydd ynni presennol Llywodraeth Cymru 

(Nest ac Arbed) a mentrau llywodraeth y DU megis y Fargen Werdd. 
 Adolygu‟r modd y mae‟r prif gyflenwyr ynni wedi gweithredu‟r Oblygiad Cwmnïau 

Ynni (ECO) hyd yma a mesurau eraill i liniaru tlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru 
 

Dileu tlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru erbyn 2018 a chyflwyno ARBED a NYTH 
  

9. Ers 2003 bu gan Lywodraeth Cymru ddigon o uchelgais o ran gosod targedau i 
ddileu tlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru- y datganiad diweddaraf oedd y Strategaeth Tlodi 
Tanwydd oedd â‟r nod o ddileu tlodi tanwydd mewn cartrefi bregus erbyn 2010, 
mewn tai cymdeithasol erbyn 2012 a ledled Cymru erbyn 2018 “cyn belled ag sy‟n 
rhesymol bosib”.  
   

10. Fodd bynnag, pwysleisiodd Erfyn Rhagamcan Tlodi Tanwydd Cymru a ryddhawyd yn 
2013 nad oedd y ffeithiau yn cyfateb i‟r uchelgais. Dangosodd ffigyrau ar gyfer 2012 
fod yr holl gategorïau oedd angen help yn aros yn ystyfnig mewn tlodi tanwydd (33% 
o aelwydydd bregus, 30% o aelwyd, a 31% o denantiaid tai cymdeithasol). 
 

11. Yn amlwg, mae‟r dirwasgiad, codiadau enfawr ym mhrisiau ynni a diwygiadau lles 
wedi gwneud yr anawsterau‟n waeth ac wedi gwaethygu problem oedd yn ddigon 
drwg eisoes. Dylid felly croesawu‟r ffaith nad yw Cymru yn “newid pyst y gôl” ar y 
diffiniad o dlodi tanwydd fel sydd wedi digwydd yn Lloegr: mae‟r diffiniad o 10% o 
incwm yn ddangosydd ystadegol pwysig gyda gwaelodlinau yn mynd yn ôl 
flynyddoedd lawer. Fodd bynnag, y ffaith amdani yw bod targedau a osodwyd yn 
2003 wedi eu colli yn llwyr, na chyrhaeddwyd y targedau a osodwyd yn 2010, ac nad 
yw targed 2018 yn edrych yn gyraeddadwy o ystyried lefel bresennol y gweithgaredd. 
 

12. Wedi dweud hynny, yr ydym yn llawn gefnogi rhaglenni presennol Llywodraeth 
Cymru, ARBED a NYTH, a buasem yn croesawu mwy o gyllid i‟w hymestyn 
ymhellach. Mae lle i wella‟r ffordd o gyflwyno ARBED yn y gogledd, a dangosodd 
profiad yng Ngwynedd nad oes digon o waith yn cael ei gyflwyno trwy gadwyni 
cyflenwi lleol. Yr ydym yn pryderu hefyd nad yw ardaloedd gwledig yn cael eu 
targedu‟n ddigonol gan y cynllun, a‟u bod yn perfformio‟n wael yn y system sgorio a 
ddyfeisiwyd ar gyfer y rhaglen. Buasem yn cytuno gyda sylwadau eraill fod angen 
dyrannu llawer mwy o adnoddau i dargedu ardaloedd gwledig oherwydd bod costau 
ynni yn uwch ac ymyriadau yn ddrutach. 
 

13. Mae llawer o bethau da am NYTH, a datblygodd ein Wardeniaid Ynni berthynas 
waith dda gyda‟r prosiect. Mae‟r wefan a‟r deunyddiau a gynhyrchwyd o safon uchel, 

Tudalen y pecyn 149



ond gwaetha‟r modd, mae mwy o bobl fel petaent yn cael eu gwrthod na‟u cefnogi 
ganddi, neu‟n cael eu troi ymaith oherwydd lefel y prawf modd sydd ei angen. Y 
canlyniad yw, pan fo‟n gweithio, ei fod yn gweithio‟n dda, ond nad yw ein wardeniaid 
sy‟n gweithio yn y cymunedau tlotaf yn gweld niferoedd mawr o geisiadau NYTH 
llwyddiannus yn eu hardaloedd. Maent hefyd yn crybwyll anawsterau gyda chyfeirio 
o‟r sector rhentu preifat, oherwydd er y gall tenant fod mewn tlodi tanwydd enbyd 
mewn tŷ oer a drafftiog, oni fydd modd perswadio‟r landlord i fanteisio ar y cynllun, ni 
fydd y sefyllfa‟n gwella. 
 

14. Byddai o gymorth hefyd pe gellid adrodd data blynyddol am ARBED a NYTH ar sail 
Ardal Gynnyrch Ehangach Haen Is (LSOA) er mwyn gallu cymharu lefel yr 
ymdriniaeth o fewn ardaloedd awdurdodau lleol. Byddai gosod mapiau tlodi tanwydd, 
fel y rhai a ddatblygwyd yn ddiweddar gan Gyngor Gwynedd a Phrifysgol Caerdydd,  
dros ddata o‟r fath yn erfyn defnyddiol i dargedu a chyflwyno‟n strategol ar y lefel leol. 
 

15. Yr ydym hefyd o‟r un farn ag NEA Cymru fod angen monitro llawer mwy cadarn ar y 
naill gynllun a‟r llall er mwyn sicrhau fod pobl mewn tlodi tanwydd yn well eu byd yn 
dilyn ymyriadau gan y rhaglenni hyn. Mae gormod o‟r monitro yn digwydd wrth 
ddesgiau, heb fod yn seiliedig ar filiau cynt a chwedyn, a phrofiadau trigolion. 
 

16. Y pwynt sylfaenol am y naill gynllun a‟r llall yw nad ydynt yn cael eu cyllido yn 
ddigonol er mwyn sicrhau y cyrhaeddir y targedau tlodi tanwydd erbyn 2018. 
 

Y Fargen Werdd ac ECO 
 

17. A siarad yn hollol blaen, bu cyflwyno a lledaenu‟r Fargen Werdd ac ECO yn ein 
hardal yn drychinebus.  
  

18. Yn ystod 2013 fe dreuliasom lawer o amser yn ymchwilio i‟r bargeinion ECO oedd yn 
cael eu cynnig gan y cyfleustodau a chwmnïau eraill. Yr oeddem yn croesawu‟r ffaith 
fod ardaloedd gwledig yn cael eu targedu am y tro cyntaf gan gyllid o‟r fath (er mor 
fychan ydoedd). Yr oedd perygl amlwg, fodd bynnag, yn rhai o‟r contractau ECO, pe 
na bai arbedion Co2 yn cael eu cyflwyno, yna na fyddai‟r prosiectau yn gwneud 
synnwyr yn ariannol. Gwnaeth Datganiad Cyllideb y DU yn Hydref 2013 raglen 
gymhleth yn anos fyth. Nid yn unig y torrwyd y cyllid ar adeg bwysig, ond fe welsom 
hefyd sut y gallai darparwyr ECO dynnu‟n ôl gontractau ac arian a neilltuwyd o 
gontractau mawr gyda chymdeithasau tai - yn sicr, bydd elfen o “cas gan gath y ci a‟i 
bratho” yn ein sector o ganlyniad. Mae ein diddordeb yn y rhaglenni hyn wedi pylu 
ers y newidiadau hyn. 
  

19. Ym mis Ionawr 2014 rhyddhaodd DECC ffigyrau am nifer Asesiadau‟r Fargen Werdd 
a wnaed yn etholaeth pob AS am y flwyddyn a aeth heibio. Dyma ffigyrau Gwynedd a 
Môn 
 
 Arfon    73           Dwyfor Meirionnydd      24     Ynys Môn 49 
 
Ni chafwyd gwybodaeth am faint o asesiadau a droswyd wedyn yn becyn y Fargen 
Werdd - mae‟n debyg bod y mwyafrif ohonynt heb gael eu trosi. Mae perfformiad mor 
wael yn hynod siomedig o gofio natur cymaint o‟r stoc tai yn ein hardal (cyn 1900, 
waliau solet, heb nwy), a hefyd yn enwedig am ardaloedd fel Penrhyn Llŷn a nodwyd 
yn ddiweddar gan y SYG fel un o‟r ardaloedd sydd â‟r lefelau uchaf o dlodi tanwydd 
yn y DU. 
 

20. Fel y crybwyllwyd eisoes, yng ngwanwyn 2014, fe wnaethom gynnal prosiect GAE o 
ymchwil cymunedol ym Mlaenau Ffestiniog, penrhyn Llyn ac ardaloedd 

Tudalen y pecyn 150



Cymunedau‟n Gyntaf yng Ngwynedd. Llenwyd cyfanswm o 295 holiadur, gyda thua‟r 
un faint yn fras o ganlyniadau yn cael eu derbyn o bob ardal, ynghyd â 29 ateb arlein 
trwy Survey Monkey. Rhedodd pob grŵp hefyd nifer o grwpiau ffocws. 
  

21. Yr oedd yr ymchwil yn archwilio ymwybyddiaeth a gwybodaeth trigolion am filiau ynni 
a‟r hyn yr oeddent yn feddwl am wella effeithlonrwydd ynni eu cartrefi. Yn frawychus, 
nid oedd 47% o‟r rhai a gymerodd ran erioed wedi clywed am y Fargen Werdd ac ni 
wyddai mwy na thri chwarter beth oedd y  Fargen Werdd (76%, n=212). 1. Daeth yr 
adroddiad i‟r casgliad … 
 
“Mae diffyg ymwybyddiaeth enbyd o brif gynllun effeithlonrwydd ynni llywodraeth y 
DY, y Fargen Werdd, yn y pedair ardal a aseswyd. Nid oedd dros dri chwarter y 
trigolion a holwyd yn gwybod beth oedd y Fargen Werdd  a dim ond 18% sy’n ei 
deall. Mae’r canlyniadau hyd yn oed yn fwy difrifol o ystyried canlyniadau cynharach 
oedd yn dangos fod gan y boblogaeth hon ddiddordeb mawr mewn effeithlonrwydd 
ynni a’u bod yn ystyried fod gostwng eu biliau ynni yn bwysig iawn. O’r 18% sydd yn 
deall y Fargen Werdd, mae’r rhan fwyaf wedi ystyried manteisio ar y gwasanaethau a 
gynigir (15% o’r cyfanswm). Gallai hyn awgrymu, trwy gynyddu ymwybyddiaeth a 
dealltwriaeth, y gallai mwy fanteisio arni. Mae’r diffyg ymwybyddiaeth a dealltwriaeth 
hwn yn arwain at ragdybiaethau sydd yn eithrio rhai trigolion o geisio mynd at y 
Fargen Werdd.  Mae profiadau drwg gan rai o’r ychydig sydd wedi mynd at y 
gwasanaethau sydd ar gael yn arwain trigolion i ddweud nad ydynt yn ymddiried yn y 
cynllun neu nad ar eu cyfer hwy y’i bwriadwyd. Mae trigolion wedi dweud dro ar ôl tro 
nad yw’r system yn eglur a’i bod yn rhy gymhleth; sydd yn dystiolaeth bellach o’r 
angen am fwy o help a gwybodaeth leol y gellir ymddiried ynddo i helpu mwy o bobl i 
fanteisio.” 
  

22. Dywed yr ymateb gan ein wardeniaid a‟n hymchwil cymunedol hefyd fod “ECO” yn 
peri dryswch gan fod pobl yn tybio mai disgrifio camau amgylcheddol-gyfeillgar y 
mae y gallant hwy neu fudiadau eu cymryd; yn hytrach na rhaglen gyllido benodol y 
gallant hwy ei chyrchu. 
  

23. Croesawyd y cyhoeddiadau am fwy o gyllid ARBED yn 2013 i ychwanegu gwerth at 
brosiectau ECO, er eu bod braidd yn hwyr yn y dydd ac wedi eu nodweddu gan 
weinyddu di-drefn - nid yw terfynau amser ym mis Rhagfyr lle bydd angen gorffen y 
gwario y mis Mawrth canlynol yn ennyn hyder yn y gweinyddwr ac yn gwneud 
prosiectau yn anos i‟w cyflwyno ar lawr gwlad. 
 

Lleisiau o’r rheng flaen – safbwyntiau Wardeniaid Ynni Cymunedol Grŵp Cynefin  
 

24. Fel y dywedwyd eisoes, bu‟r Wardeniaid Ynni Cymunedol yn gweithio yn rhai o 
gymunedau mwyaf difreintiedig Gwynedd a Môn. Ymysg y gwasanaethau a ddarperir 
gan y wardeniaid mae: 
 

 Ymweliadau â thai preifat a thai cymdeithasol i gynghori‟r trigolion yn bersonol ar 
sut i arbed ynni 

 Rhoi gwybodaeth am y tariffau gwahanol sydd ar gael  

 Cyfeirio at y Disgownt Cartrefi Cynnes, NEST, ECO a‟r Fargen Werdd lle bo 
hynny yn briodol. 

 Cyngor ar gamau syml i leihau costau a sut i wneud tai yn fwy clyd 

                                                 
1
 Nid oedd ymwybyddiaeth pobl am gynlluniau Llywodraeth Cymru ddim gwell – dim ond 19% o ymatebwyr 

oedd wedi clywed am NYTH a 6% am ARBED 

Tudalen y pecyn 151



 Dulliau o adnabod pobl fregus sydd mewn tlodi tanwydd a‟u cyfeirio at yr 
asiantaethau perthnasol. 

 Cyngor am ddefnydd a gosodiadau cywir systemau gwresogi. 

 Gosod cyfarpar rhag drafftiau, adlewyrchyddion rheiddiaduron a bylbiau golau 
ynni isel 

 Rhoi adborth am osodiadau ynni a chostau ynni. 

 Cydweithio ar ddigwyddiadau cymunedol i godi ymwybyddiaeth am, sut i 
ddefnyddio llai o ynni. 
 

25. Maent wedi nodi‟r pwyntiau isod fel rhai o‟r pynciau pwysicaf sy‟n codi wrth weithio 
gyda thrigolion yn yr ardaloedd hyn 2 
 

Mesuryddion talu-ymlaen-llaw 
  

26. Mae llawer (os nad y cyfan) o‟r cleintiaid mewn tlodi tanwydd a welwn yn defnyddio 
mesuryddion talu-ymlaen-llaw. Yn ystod ymgynghoriad GAE, casglodd y wardeniaid 
120 holiadur o Gaernarfon a Bangor - o‟r rheiny, yr oedd 90 o ymatebwyr ar 
fesuryddion talu-ymlaen-llaw. 
 

27. Mae llawer o‟r cleientiaid yn llawn ymwybodol fod mwy yn cael ei godi arnynt, ond 
mae‟n well ganddynt aros ar y tariffau uwch. Efallai nad yw eraill yn llawn ymwybodol 
o‟r tariffau uwch ond yn dewis peidio a newid hyd yn oed pan esbonir y  sefyllfa 
wrthynt. I lawer ar incwm isel ac sy‟n delio a thlodi, eu dull o oroesi yw cyllidebu fesul 
wythnos, ac y maent yn gorfod gweld yn union faint o arian sydd ar ôl yn y mesurydd. 
Mae‟r farchnad yn ychwanegu at dlodi tanwydd oherwydd bod y cyfleustodau yn dal i 
godi gormod ar y defnyddwyr tlotaf am y gwasanaeth hwn sydd fwyaf angenrheidiol 
iddynt. 
 

28. Yr ydym hefyd yn gweld “trap tlodi” i bobl sydd eisiau symud o fesuryddion talu-
ymlaen-llaw. Mae llawer rhwystr i newid tariff, ac un ohonynt yw‟r gred gyffredin fod 
isafswm cost o £60 i newid i dariff arall o fesurydd talu-ymlaen-llaw. Cawsom 
dystiolaeth hefyd (ar y fideo) y bydd cyfleustodau yn atal pobl sydd allan o waith rhag 
symud i becynnau debyd uniongyrchol neu danwydd deuol. Dengys tystioaleth y 
fideo enghraifft o gwmni sydd eisiau isafswm taliad o £20 os aiff y mesurydd yn wag.  
 

29. Mae‟r wardeniaid hefyd wedi gweld amrywiaeth eang o “daliadau sefydlog”  ar 
fesuryddion talu-ymlaen-llaw yn amrywio o 85c-£1.50 yr wythnos am nwy a £1.50-
£3.00 am drydan. Nid yw‟n amlwg ar yr olwg gyntaf pam fod gan wahanol gwmniau 
daliadau mor wahanol a pham nad oes un tâl sefydlog cyson ar waith. 
 

Cynhwysiant digidol 
 

30. Dywedodd y wardeniaid hefyd fod problem sylweddol yn ymwneud ag eithrio digidol 
a‟r methiant yn sgil hynny i gyrchu‟r rhyngrwyd a newid cyflenwr. Yn llawer o‟r 
ardaloedd lle‟r ydym yn gweithio, mae pobl o hyd heb fynediad at y rhyngrwyd ac y 
mae hyn yn broblem arbennig i bobl dros 60 oed lle disgrifir y defnydd o TG fel „prin 
iawn‟. Mae‟r defnydd o ffonau clyfar ac aps yn gyfyngedig oherwydd bod y 
gwasanaeth 3G yn dameidiog neu heb fod yno o gwbl. Y ffurf mwyaf cyffredin o 
gyfathrebu y daethom ni ar ei draws yw ffonau talu-wrth-ddefnyddio.  
 

Disgownt Cartref Cynnes  

                                                 
2
 Cadarnhawyd llawer o’r pwyntiau hyn gan Fentrau Cymunedol Tai Eryri sydd wedi cael yr un problemau’n 

union wrth gynnal ymweliadau monitro ynni â phrosiectau ARBED a gosodiadau ffeirio i nwy 

Tudalen y pecyn 152



 
31. Mae‟r Disgownt Cartref Cynnes yn rhwyd ddiogelwch hanfodol ac nid oes modd 

gorbwysleisio mor werthfawr y mae i lawer o bobl sy‟n byw mewn tlodi tanwydd. 
Rhwng Hydref 2013 – Mawrth 2014 helpodd y Wardeniaid Ynni Cymunedol 61 cais 
gyda gwerth o £8,175.  
  

32. Fodd bynnag, dywed ein wardeniaid fod llawer o bobl heb wybod fod y disgownt ar 
gael iddynt, a dryslyd iawn yw‟r ffaith fod gan yr holl wahanol gyfleustodau wahanol 
amserlenni a threfniadau gwneud cais. Fel arfer, ar wefannau yn unig y mae‟r 
wybodaeth angenrheidiol. Mae llawer o rwystrau gweinyddol hefyd all daflu cais oddi 
ar y trywydd, ee, os nad oes gan y cleient wybodaeth lawn am ddyddiadau o newid 
cyflenwr ynni. Mae‟r Wardeniaid hefyd wedi dod ar draws agweddau anghyson ar 
draws y cyfleustodau, yn enwedig i gwsmeriaid “heb fod yn grŵp craidd” fel rhieni. 
Mae cyfathrebu o du‟r cwmniau yn wael ac nid yw‟n eglur o hyd pam fod rhai 
cleientiaid yn cael eu cefnogi ac eraill heb gael y gefnogaeth. 
 

33. Yr ydym yn cefnogi‟n llwyr ymgyrchoedd prynu ynni ar y cyd megis Cyd Cymru, ond 
amseru yw popeth, a gellid perswadio rhai cleientiaid i newid cyflenwr ar yr union 
adeg o‟r flwyddyn pan ddaw Disgowntiau Cartref Cynnes ar gael – mae ar y rhan 
fwyaf o gyfleustodau angen isafswm cyfnod o amser cyn i gwsmeriaid allu gwneud 
cais am Ddisgownt Cartref Cynnes felly mae‟n hanfodol fod gan drigolion yr holl 
wybodaeth am yr hyn sydd ar gael iddynt ac oblygiadau eu dewis. 
 

Addasrwydd gwaith gosod  
 

34. Dengys ein tystioaleth fideo sefyllfaoedd lle mae‟r tenant neu berchennog tŷ yn dal 
mewn tlodi tanwydd hyd yn oed wedi i waith ôl-ffitio gael ei wneud, am bod y costau 
rhedeg yn uchel o hyd. O ystyried fod prisiau nwy wedi codi dros 120% ers 2005 a‟u 
bod wedi clymu i lawer o ffactorau allanol daearyddol-wleidyddol ac economaidd, nid 
oes sicrwydd ynghylch pa mor ddiogel at y dyfodol yw gosod miloedd o systemau 
gwres canolog nwy mewn cymunedau lle mae tlodi tanwydd. Mae angen i 
Lywodraeth Cymru ystyried fel mater o frys ddewisiadau eraill yn y sefyllfa hon sy‟n 
debyg o fod yn broblem tlodi tanwydd enfawr yn y dyfodol. 
  

35. Dangosodd tystiolaeth gan y Wardeniaid Ynni a Thîm Mentrau Cymunedol Tai Eryri 
fod llawer o bobl heb ddeall mecanweithiau rheoli systemau gwresogi, a bod llawer 
heb fod yn twymo eu tai yn ddigonol am eu bod ofn y dechnoleg a‟r costau allai 
ddeillio o‟i ddefnyddio yn anghywir. Ni ellir gor-bwysleisio pwysigrwydd cyngor call ar 
ynni gan ffynonellau y gellir ymddiried ynddynt o ran gwneud yn siŵr fod systemau‟n 
cael eu defnyddio‟n gywir ac i herio ymddygiad sydd yn gwastraffu ynni. 
 

36.  Mae‟r sefyllfa mewn ardaloedd gwledig hefyd yn ddifrifol nid yn unig oherwydd diffyg 
adnoddau gan lywodraeth Prydain a Llywodraeth Cymru ond hefyd am mai 
cyfyngedig yw nifer yr atebion sydd ar gael. Nid yw insiwleiddio waliau allanol yn ateb 
i bopeth, ac yn ôl gwaith a wnaed gan yr Athro Colin King ac eraill (gweler prosiect 
SUSREF) efallai nad dyma‟r ffordd orau i drin waliau solet mewn hinsawdd gwlyb a 
gwyntog fel a geir yng ngorllewin Cymru. Hyd yn oed wedi rhaglen weddol fawr o ôl-
ffitio, nid ydym yn glir fel landlord beth yw‟r ateb gorau i dŷ â waliau solet a wresogir 
trwy wresogyddion storio a lle nad oes nwy – amau yr ydym nad ni yn unig sy‟n cael 
y broblem hon a buasem yn croesawu mwy o ganllawiau a thrafodaeth ar sut i 
ymdrin â hyn. 
 

Casgliad 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 153



37. Mae‟r targed i ddileu tlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru yn bwysig ac y mae angen cadw 
ato. Gwnaed llawer o waith da, ond nid oes digon o adnoddau i‟r rhaglenni presennol 
ac nid yw‟r uchelgais yn ddigonol o gyrraedd y nod.  
 

38. Er enghraifft, dan cyfnod rhaglennu Ewropeaidd 2007-2013, neilltuodd pob rhanbarth 
yn Ffrainc hyd at 4% o‟u Rhaglenni Gweithredol ERDF i fuddsoddi mewn 
effeithlonrwydd ynni a mwy o ddefnydd o ynni adnewyddol mewn tai sydd eisoes yn 
bod. A yw ein rhaglenni Ewropeaidd newydd yng Nghymru mor uchelgeisiol â hyn? 
Beth wnaiff y Cynllun Datblygu Gwledig i fynd i‟r afael â thlodi tanwydd gwledig? Pa 
ganrannau o‟n rhaglenni gweithredol sy‟n cael eu neilltuo i‟r agenda hon? 
 

39. Teimlwn ei bod yn werth o hyd edrych ar gynlluniau tebyg i‟r Fargen Werdd y gellid 
eu cyflwyno yng Nghymru ond ar ddim cyfraddau llog neu rai isel iawn ac a all 
ddatblygu trwy fecanweithiau gwarant benthyciadau cylchdro. Mae gwaith diddorol yn 
cael ei wneud ar hyn yn Sir y Fflint, gyda‟r potensial i‟w ail-adrodd yn rhanbarthol 
a/neu yn genedlaethol. 

Tudalen y pecyn 154



National Assembly for Wales 

Environment and Sustainability Committee 

EEFP 03  

Inquiry into Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty  

Response from: RCT Homes 
 

 

 
RCT Homes Ltd 

 
 
An Introduction to RCT Homes Ltd 
 
RCT Homes was established in December 2007 following the transfer of Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council’s entire housing stock.  RCT Homes is a housing-led regeneration company.  The 
business is governed by a 15 strong volunteer board including 5 tenants.   RCT Homes’ primary focus 
is to deliver its Promises to invest in and make improvements to tenant’s homes and 
neighbourhoods. 
 
 
Energy Programmes  
 
RCT Homes has taken a whole house approach with regards to environmental sustainability. Our aim 

is to help tenants enjoy their homes without fear of affordability. The energy saving measures 

carried out have been designed to: increase the thermal comfort level; reduce fuel bills & carbon 

emissions; and contribute to tenancy sustainability. 

Since stock transfer in 2007, we have invested over £63 million pounds to bring our housing stock of 

over 10,000 properties up to the Welsh Housing Quality Standard. 

We have worked in partnership with the local authority and utilities companies to support these 

projects through match funding. To date, we have received over 15 million pounds in funding, see 

Table 1, through the Community Energy Saving Programme, Arbed, Community Emission Reduction 

Target, the Energy Company Obligation and Heads of the Valleys funding streams.  

670 private residents have also benefitted through funding from the local authority with additional 

funding streams such as ECO, Heads of The Valleys, CESP, Arbed.  

Table 1: Grant Funding Received 
 

Name of Grant Funding: 
Value of 
Funding 

  £. 

Arbed 1,864,018 

ECO funding Penywaun 13/14 288,619 

ECO funding Gyncoch 13/14 208,000 

CESP 5,000,000 

CERT 64,141 

Heads of the Valleys 1,500,000 

Low Carbon Building Programme 500,000 

Penrhys CESP 2,000,000 

Tudalen y pecyn 155



 

 

CERT funding not received as income 1,206,053 

PV panels would have cost 456 x £6,000 2,736,000 

Total 15,366,831 

 

We have completed over 22,000 energy efficiency measures; ranging from: 

 Loft and Cavity Wall Insulation 

 External Wall Insulation 

 Boiler replacements 

 New A rated windows and doors 

 Roof replacements 

 And renewable technologies, such as Solar Photo Voltaic and solar Thermal Panels 
 

Challenges & Improvements  

The main challenge of Arbed 1 and 2 was the very tight timescales from the time the funding was 

made available to the deadlines for completion of the work in order to qualify for the funding. All 

completions had to be delivered by Year end. This put pressure on materials, and labour.  

With regards to improvement, we would like to see more collaboration with other Associations. For 

example, combined bids to increase ‘buying power’ and a pooling of resources and expertise.  

 
Future Funding Opportunities  
 
Energy Company Obligation, figures to date: 
 2013/14 - £496,619 
2014/15 to date - £468,000  
 
Issues with ECO  
 
The extension of ECO has led to a significant reduction in the funding offers that were originally 
made. Notwithstanding this, many energy companies are now focusing on the easy to treat and less 
costly measures to meet their obligation such as loft and cavity wall insulation. We had an ECO 
scheme of over 500 properties, ready to start on site which as a result of the changes in ECO, has led 
to significant delays in the contract start and number of completions that we originally forecast in 
our 2013-14 Business Plan.   

 
Welsh Government support for HAs in obtaining ECO 

 
Maximising ECO – we are working closely with RCTCBC who are submitting bids based on our current 
ECO planned programmes of work in order to maximise the opportunity for Arbed funding whilst 
also working towards a holistic, community approach to the way in which we plan and deliver 
projects by integrating, where possible, private properties via RCTCBC grant funding and other 
funding opportunities such as VVP (Vibrant and Viable Places.)  
 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 156



 

 

Behavioural Energy Projects 
 
Meadow Prospect, RCT Homes’ charity subsidiary, secured £8000 of DECC funding to deliver an 
extensive programme of outreach to vulnerable consumers, focusing on helping them reduce their 
energy costs through assisted action on tariffs, switching and energy efficient behaviour.  
 
The programme, self-entitled Switch to Save, took place between November 2013 and March 2014. 
During this time we held 10 community events engaging with 96 home occupiers on a 1-2-1 basis. 
We also trained 18 frontline workers, ensuring they were equipped with the knowledge when 
engaging with tenants. 
 
Following the success of the programme we are continuing the service to tenants and communities 
indefinitely. We organise and attend community events throughout RCT and we will be providing 
further frontline training to staff.  
 
Community Drop-in facility 
 
We are currently piloting a service from one of our community housing offices. Every Thursday, both 
tenants and residents are able to receive free and impartial advice on topics such as energy saving 
and tariff switching. 
 
Energy Efficient New Builds 
 
RCT Homes completed 4 pilot new builds in August 2013 complete with air source heat pumps and 
built to Sustainable Homes Code 4 (EPC rating B). 
 
A six monthly review was carried out to assess the efficiency and suitability of the product for use in 
new build RCT Homes’ properties. Please see a summary below, a full report can be provided on 
request. 
 

Usage and Cost Calculations 
 

Plot 
no. 

Meter 
Reading 1 
(Aug 13) 

Meter 
Reading 2 
(Feb 14) 

Usage Cost (inc 
standing 
charge) 

Cost/day Estimated 
(max*) 

annual cost 

Comparison to 
UK Averages 

(2013) 

1 000039 02884 2845 £429.90 £2.40 £859.80 36% Cheaper 

2 000055 01799 1744 £280.96 £1.54 £561.92 58% Cheaper 

4 000048 02835 2787 £422.10 £2.31 £844.20 38% Cheaper 

 
*The estimated annual cost is simply the 6 month cost doubled. It was assumed that this is the 
maximum figure as costs will likely decrease due to warmer weather in the summer months (should 
all other factors remain the same). 
 
Fuel costs were significantly lower for Plots 1, 2 and 4 compared to the UK average.  
 
All new tenants had previously occupied Type 1 Cornish properties with a EPC rating of ‘F’. Although 
no bill evidence could be provided, both tenants in plots 1 and 4 reportedly spent an average of 
£60/week for both gas and electricity during winter months. This works out at an average cost of 
£8.60/day with all three tenants stating that they would still be cold and living at an uncomfortable 
temperature.  
 

Tudalen y pecyn 157



 

 

The tenants reported that they are more than happy with the level of comfort in their new homes 
and are particularly relieved at the notable decrease in energy costs. 
It was concluded that RCT Homes installed a quality product and is fit for purpose with all properties 
being new builds. 
 
We will be building a further 37 units in the area, all to Code 4 with ASHPs. 
 
Renewable Technology Installations 
 
523 solar PV systems across the stock 
210 solar Thermal home installations across the stock 
2 x commercial solar thermal systems (sheltered complexes)  
5 x commercial solar PV systems (sheltered complexes) 
5 x air source heat pumps. 
1 x MVHR 
1 x Solar Wall (Tata Steel) 
 

RCT Homes would be prepared to attend future sessions to provide further evidence, if required. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 158



National Assembly for Wales 

Environment and Sustainability Committee 

EEFP 02 

Inquiry into Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty  

Response from: Friends of the Earth Cymru  
 

 

June 2014 

 

Friends of the Earth Cymru response to the Environment and 

Sustainability Committee’s Inquiry into energy efficiency and fuel 

poverty in Wales 

Introduction 

Friends of the Earth Cymru was set up in 1984, is part of Friends of the Earth England, 

Wales and Northern Ireland, and support a unique network of local campaigning groups 

working in communities throughout Wales. Friends of the Earth Cymru inspires the local and 

national action needed to protect the environment for current and future generations, and 

believe that the wellbeing of people and planet go hand in hand.   

As an environmental justice organisation, it is a key part of our remit to ensure that 

people don’t suffer in cold homes because of the high prices set by energy companies 

and poor quality housing with low energy efficiency. 

We are members of the Fuel Poverty Coalition Cymru’s steering group and fully support their 

five key calls for action. 

We welcome the opportunity to take part in this inquiry and are pleased that the committee 

has taken the initiative of looking into this crucial cross-cutting issue. 

 

Fuel Poverty 

Housing produces about a fifth of greenhouse gas emissions in Wales, and fuel poverty 

blights 30% of households1. We would recommend the NEA’s “UK Fuel Poverty Monitor” for 

a fuller picture of the current challenges2. 

 

Living in fuel poverty can affect people’s health, increasing the risk and impact of a range of 

ailments such as heart attack, stroke, circulatory illness, respiratory conditions including 

bronchitis, weakened immune system and allergies. This has resulted in more than 1,900 

excess winter deaths in Wales in 2012/13, with older people particularly susceptible. There 

                                                           
1 Wales Fuel Poverty Projection Tool statistics for 2012 http://wales.gov.uk/docs/caecd/research/130430-wales-

fuelpoverty-projection-tool-2011-12-report-en.pdf   
2
 UK Fuel Poverty Monitor 2013-2014,Country report – Wales p.54-63 

http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSIT
E%20COPY).pdf 

Tudalen y pecyn 159

Eitem 6

http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSITE%20COPY).pdf
http://www.nea.org.uk/Resources/NEA/Publications/2013/Fuel%20poverty%20monitor%202014%20(WEBSITE%20COPY).pdf


 

 
Friends of the Earth Cymru – Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty Inquiry 

are indirect effects; stress in children and adults, long-term depression and anxiety, social 

exclusion, ill health and lower educational attainment. The estimated cost to the NHS of cold 

housing in the rental sector alone in Wales is £2 million per annum3. Moreover there are 

broader economic implications for education, employment and health services in Wales.  

We congratulate the Welsh Government for taking an area based approach to housing 

refurbishment through the Arbed scheme, and a targeted programme to tackle fuel poverty 

through Nest.  

 

The Welsh Government’s statutory targets 

Under the UK Warm Homes and Energy Conservation Act 2000 the Welsh Government has 
a legal duty to ensure “that as far as reasonably practical persons in Wales do not live in fuel 
poverty”, and the Welsh strategies that followed set targets for achieving this aim by 2018.  
 
It has been acknowledged that with increases in energy bills, fuel poverty is increasing not 
decreasing, and it is very unlikely that this target will be met 
 
However the duty to do all that is “reasonably practical” remains, and in addition to the 
funding programmes Nest and Arbed which have had an impact, there are opportunities in 
policy and legislation to meet this duty. 
 
Paragraph 11 of Part 1 of Schedule 7 of the Government of Wales Act 2006 confers powers 
on the Assembly in relation to home energy efficiency, and also sets restrictions: 
 
“Housing finance except schemes supported from central or local funds which provide 
assistance for social security purposes to or in respect of individuals by way of benefits. 
Encouragement of home energy efficiency and conservation, otherwise than by 
prohibition or regulation. Regulation of rent. Homelessness. Residential caravans and 
mobile homes.” (emphasis added) 
 
The wording “prohibition or regulation” has not been tested in this area and we believe that 
there remains substantial scope for the Welsh Government to bring in measures through 
legislation which would have an impact on the energy efficiency of homes. 
 
The Housing (Wales) Bill, currently at Stage 3, is a clear legislative opportunity to drive up 
energy efficiency standards. We support the Welsh Government’s proposals to register and 
licence private landlords and letting agents, and believe that other measures have the 
potential to influence the private rented sector, which is the tenure most likely to suffer fuel 
poverty and have the worst average energy efficiency ratings3. 
 
We support the amendments drafted by the Fuel Poverty Coalition Cymru to strengthen the 
Housing Bill4 and urge the committee to consider the Code of Practice that will follow this Bill 
to ensure that standards for home energy efficiency are included. 
 
The UK Energy Act 2012 made limited progress in stating that domestic energy efficiency 

regulations should set minimum standards for the private rented sector to reach by 2018. 

These draft regulations are yet to be published. This Bill also required that the standards 

must be met in Scotland no later than 1 April 2015.  

                                                           
3
 Living in Wales 2008, published 2010 http://wales.gov.uk/docs/statistics/2010/101126sdr2052010en.pdf 

4
 Submitted by the Fuel Poverty Coalition Cymru 

Tudalen y pecyn 160

http://wales.gov.uk/docs/statistics/2010/101126sdr2052010en.pdf


 

 
Friends of the Earth Cymru – Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty Inquiry 

As the regulation to enact these provisions have yet to be published, we strongly 

recommends that the Assembly and Welsh Government should engage with the UK 

Government and ensure that standards can be set sooner in Wales (by 2016), and that they 

are robust and require all rented homes to meet an EPC rating E. 

The Future Generation Bill and Planning Bill also have a relevance to fuel poverty and 

ensuring that we plan to avoid fuel poverty in future, and linking up with this legislation 

across government departments is a key role for the Environment and Sustainability 

Committee. 

Energy efficiency programmes and initiatives 

Arbed 

We have long advocated an area-based approach to housing refurbishment5 and have 

strongly support the Welsh Government’s Arbed scheme since its introduction. The Welsh 

Government is to be congratulated on taking a pro-active approach to home energy 

efficiency and realising the win-win situation of investing in a measure that delivers on 

carbon reductions, warm homes and local jobs. 

However the scale of the programmes and funding available are insufficient to tackle the 

scale and urgency of the problem. In order to meet the agreed target of cutting Wales’ 

emissions by 40% by 2020, research shows that one third of the current housing stock, or 

400,000 houses, will need to be refurbished to a level that cuts their carbon emissions by 

over 60%.  

  

This research, commissioned by Stop Climate Chaos Cymru and carried out by Cardiff 

Business School, assessed that improving the standard of our homes has many other 

benefits for local job creation, saving money for householders and bringing people out of fuel 

poverty. Such a project would inject £3bn to Welsh GVA over 10 years and create 20,000 

jobs6.  

We recommend that the Welsh Government assess the potential of using the new borrowing 

powers to lever-in substantial additional funding for Arbed and scale up progress in order to 

meet the targets of 40% reductions in greenhouse gas emissions by 2020, to save money 

for consumers and bring them out of fuel poverty, and to create good quality local jobs in 

Wales. 

There are some good examples of cooperation between Local Authorities and housing 

authorities in delivering these programmes. We urge the Welsh Government to discuss 

whether finance mechanisms available to Local Authorities could be utilised to support their 

own programmes and other funding streams such as the Green Deal. 

Nest 

We also strongly support having a specific fuel poverty scheme in Nest. However there are 

issues around its targeting and implementation – the first Nest annual report showed that 

                                                           
5
 Brenda Boardman, ‘Home Truths’ 2007 http://www.eci.ox.ac.uk/research/energy/downloads/boardman07-

hometruths.pdf  
6 Stop Climate Chaos Cymru, ‘Cutting Carbon: Creating Jobs’ report, 2011 

http://stopclimatechaoscymru.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/SCC+-

+Cutting+Carbon+Report+final1.pdf 

Calculated from BRE, April 2011 ‘The health costs of cold dwellings’  

Tudalen y pecyn 161

http://www.eci.ox.ac.uk/research/energy/downloads/boardman07-hometruths.pdf
http://www.eci.ox.ac.uk/research/energy/downloads/boardman07-hometruths.pdf
http://stopclimatechaoscymru.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/SCC+-+Cutting+Carbon+Report+final1.pdf
http://stopclimatechaoscymru.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/SCC+-+Cutting+Carbon+Report+final1.pdf


 

 
Friends of the Earth Cymru – Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty Inquiry 

despite it being the fuel poverty support scheme, 45% of those helped were not in fuel 

poverty. This suggests a problem with targeting the scheme at the appropriate, and often 

hard to reach, audience and the qualification criteria. 

In the 2013 annual report the data is only available for the households inquiring rather than 

those that received measures, with only 13% of those not in fuel poverty, suggesting that 

targeting and marketing had improved but not providing an answer as to whether the 

qualification criteria remains a problem. 

We remain fully supportive of the Nest scheme but believe that there could be improvements 

to its implementation. 

Other schemes and funding streams 

Friends of the Earth supports the Energy Bill Revolution7 campaign which believe that the 

carbon taxes received by the UK Government should be used to help insulate homes and 

make them more energy efficient. We would encourage the committee to put pressure on 

the Welsh Government to lobby for this change at a UK level and for Wales to get its fair 

share of those taxes. 

The Green Deal introduced by the UK Government may help some people to fund energy 

efficiency improvements to their own homes, but it will only ever be a limited solution. The 

prospect of taking on additional debt will certainly not be attractive for the fuel poor and the 

high interest rates make it unappealing to many others. It has not been widely taken up and 

offers further proof that a market based mechanism is not sufficient to address the problems 

of energy efficient homes or fuel poverty. However the potential of using it in conjunction with 

other funding streams to generate economies of scale for delivering energy efficiency 

measures in Wales should be considered. 

Recommendations to the committee 

1. We recommend that the committee consider the Code of Practice that will follow the 
Housing Bill to ensure that standards for home energy efficiency are included. 

 
2. We strongly recommends that the Assembly and Welsh Government should engage 

with the UK Government in relation to the domestic energy efficiency regulation 

under the UK Energy Act to ensure that standards can be set sooner in Wales (by 

2016), and that they are robust and require all rented homes to meet EPC rating E. 

 

3. We urge the committee to ensure that fuel poverty and energy efficiency is taken into 

account across relevant government legislation, including the forthcoming Future 

Generations Bill and Planning Bill. 

 

4. We recommend that the Welsh Government assess the potential of using the new 

borrowing powers to lever in substantial additional funding for Arbed and scale up 

progress in order to meet the targets of 40% reductions in greenhouse gas emissions 

by 2020, to save money for consumers and bring them out of fuel poverty and to 

create good quality local jobs in Wales. 

 

5. We urge the Welsh Government to discuss whether finance mechanisms available to 

Local Authorities could be utilised to support other funding streams. 

 

                                                           
7
 http://www.energybillrevolution.org/  

Tudalen y pecyn 162

http://www.energybillrevolution.org/


 

 
Friends of the Earth Cymru – Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty Inquiry 

6. We would encourage the committee to put pressure on the Welsh Government to 

support the Energy Bill Revolution campaign, to lobby for this change at a UK level 

and for Wales to get its fair share of those taxes. 

Tudalen y pecyn 163



National Assembly for Wales 

Environment and Sustainability Committee 

EEFP 21 

Inquiry into Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty  

Response from: Wales Low/Zero Carbon Hub (WLZCH) 

 

 
 

Wales Low/Zero Carbon Hub (WLZCH) written evidence to National Assembly for Wales’ 

Environment and Sustainability Committee Inquiry into Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty in 

Wales 

1. Introduction to Wales Low/Zero Carbon Hub 

1.1 The Wales Low/Zero Carbon Hub (WLZCH) was established in 2009 to take forward the work 

of reducing carbon emissions from the built environment and help meet Welsh Government 

targets.  The WLZCH delivers practical steps to help bring about change, investigates the 

technical aspects and works with Government and industry to help mainstream low/zero 

carbon thinking. 

1.2 Constructing Excellence in Wales facilitates the work of the WLZCH, providing administrative 

support and coordinating its own activities to drive real change in the Welsh built 

environment.  

1.2 The WLZCH welcomes the opportunity to provide oral evidence on energy efficiency and fuel 
poverty on behalf of the built environment sector at the Environment and Sustainability 
Committee. 

 

Progress towards meeting the Welsh Government’s statutory targets for eradicating fuel poverty 

in Wales by 2018. 

2.  Fuel poverty in Wales 

2.1 Increases in income and energy efficiency savings in the housing stock have been largely 

counteracted by rising fuel prices, and this has led to the increase in the number of fuel poor 

households. 

2.2 Since 2008, rising fuel prices have outstripped increases in household income and 

improvements in energy efficiency leading to an estimated 54,000 more households in fuel 

poverty in 2012.  The percentage of households in fuel poverty has risen from 26% to a 

projected 30% in 2012. It is assumed that the housing stock has not changed significantly 

over time and the total number of households in 2012 remains broadly the same as in 2008.  

Tudalen y pecyn 164



:  

  

2.3 The average household energy bills have increased by 33 per cent since 2012, exceeding 

£1,200 per annum and twice the average bill five years ago.  High energy prices in Wales are 

compounded by poor housing stock quality, high incidence of low income and poverty in 

addition to households’ lack of access to mains gas.   

2.4 Wales has the second highest level of households using carbon intense fuels (i.e. oil and 

coal) in the UK, after Northern Ireland.  In Wales, 19% of the population are considered off 

grid (from mains gas, electricity, or water), a total of 253,000 households1. 

 

The impact of the Welsh Government’s existing energy efficiency programmes (NEST and Arbed) 

and UK Government initiatives such as Green Deal. 

3. Making an impact: Improving Existing Stock 

3.1 Energy efficiency measures have been proven to be the most sustainable solution to address 

the cause of fuel poverty – they receive lower funding compared to income and fuel price 

support schemes2.  Additionally energy efficiency improvements can deliver multiple 

benefits, not only with regards to environmental and economic issues but also impacting 

social aspects3.  It will be a more profitable investment in public budget to support the 

delivery of improvements in the energy performance of a building (BPIE, 2014)      

3.2 Wales has the oldest stock profile in the UK where eighty per cent of the 2050 building stock 

already exists (BRE, 2013).  There are approximately 1.25 million homes in Wales, 700,000 

properties are classified as “hard to treat”.  The costs of achieving a lasting reduction can be 

prohibitive, with all property types requiring not only extensive improvements to the 

performance of the fabric of the buildings, but the use of multiple technologies, such as air 

source heat pumps, solar hot water panels and photovoltaics.  The resulting cost of these 

measures being in the region of £12k to £28k per property.  If these indicative costs were to 

be replicated across Wales, then the sum of investment required to address just the hard to 

treat properties would be in the region of £8 billion.   

                                                           
1
 Source: Off Grid Energy: An OFT market study, OFT Oct 2011 

2
 Source BPIE Alleviating Fuel Poverty in the EU: Investing in home renovation – A sustainable and inclusive 

solution, 2014 
3
 Source IEA: Evaluating the co-benefits of low-income energy efficiency programmes, 2011 

Tudalen y pecyn 165



:  
3.4 At the current rate of investment in fuel poverty schemes Wales would require over 500 

years of financing to improve the energy efficiency of the existing solid walled stock only and 

will not address the issues posed by other construction forms in existence in Wales. 

3.5 The UK Government’s Green Deal initiative appears unlikely to deliver the carbon savings 

predicted in its early forecasts. Recent figures released by DECC indicate that the predicted 

carbon savings will be less than those anticipated.  Early improvement measures set in place 

by the UK Government such as the Energy Commitment initiatives have provided 

improvements, but reported issues have become more widespread as measures introduced 

in these schemes were not always undertaken with the correct level of assessment or 

expertise. There are growing instances of cavity walls in Wales being insulated that if 

assessed using the British Standard should never have been undertaken due to the level of 

severe exposure in the west of the UK. The issue of solid wall insulation, if not considered 

correctly has the potential to replicate these problems and issues. There are problems with 

the solid wall insulation industry, for example there is no national standard for assessment, 

surveying or installation. The cumulative effect of these short comings can result in 

properties which are of a construction type where only certain measures are applicable, or 

are not in a suitable state of repair or water tightness being selected for external wall 

insulation without due consideration. This can often be attributed to a lack of impartial and 

easy to understand guidance and the tools necessary to ascertain potential risk. 

 

Implementation to date by the major energy suppliers of the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) 

and other measures to alleviate fuel poverty in Wales. 

4. ECO 

4.1 The latest ECO features available from DECC indicate a poor take up in Wales up to 2013.  

See appendix 1. 

4.2 Although no data is available on the type of ECO schemes implemented in Wales, it is 

understood that recent changes to the requirements set out by Ofgem to the utility 

providers has resulted in a significant move away from the expensive measures being 

supported under ECO. 

 

5. Achieving targets 

5.1 Even with the advent of schemes such as Arbed and Nest the figures of households in fuel 

poverty are increasing, so it can be assumed that the funding level is not sufficient to 

combat fuel poverty by the given target date, many of these factors may be outside of the 

Tudalen y pecyn 166



:  
WG control such as fuel price increases4.  To address this Welsh Government will need to 

look wider than the measures and incentives that are currently in place.  

5.2 To fully address fuel poverty Welsh Government will need to give consideration to the 

delivery of retrofit solutions at very large scale.  To achieve the targets established there will 

need to be a mechanism to accelerate the scale of carrying out appropriate and well 

considered retrofit works, acknowledging that current levels of funding may be inadequate.  

For example, Arbed is the UK’s largest retrofit scheme.  To address the increase in the 

number of fuel poor households between 2011-2012 would require x17 projects at the scale 

of Arbed annually.     

5.3 By procuring standard solutions intelligently at very large scale significant cost reductions 

can be achieved.  Cost reductions are essential, but will not deliver on their own.  Wales 

needs to create a national programme for retrofit that integrates technical, behavioural, 

social, financial and policy actions to deliver.  For the most part the construction of Wales’ 

homes can be matched to one of approximately 20 property types.  By understanding the 

most appropriate retrofit solutions for each type a standardised approach can be developed 

to assessment and implementation to reduce the cost.   

5.4 The development of a long term vision will enable industry to look forward and value 

engineer solutions, achieving in some cases a costs reduction of 70 per cent less5.   

5.5 The promotion of the relationship between improved energy efficiency and enhanced 

property prices is key to the wider adoption of retrofit measures.  Current development 

methods do not adequately value the lifecycle impacts of buildings in any construction 

sector.  This places low energy demand property with its potentially higher capital cost at a 

significant disadvantage.  Working to rebalance this valuation can be achieved within the 

existing development framework.  Methods vary for different sectors, for example for 

homes working with banks and building societies to develop mortgage offers that allow 

higher total lending against homes with lower energy demands (resulting in a lower overall 

monthly expenditure). 

   

5.6 The Welsh Government has recently withdrawn its national planning policy on Sustainable 

Building Standards and TAN 22 this coupled with the step down from consulted energy 

emission reduction targets in Part L could create a loophole for relaxed environmental 

performance.  It is not clear how Welsh Government plans to address the resultant gap.  

Historically, Welsh Government has positioned itself at the forefront of setting standards in 

the built environment it is feared that such actions will impact on the consistency of this 

drive and ultimately the delivery of a sustainable built environment free from fuel poverty.    

                                                           
4 Source (http://wales.gov.uk/docs/caecd/research/130430-wales-fuel-poverty-projection-tool-2011-12-report-en.pdf). 

 
5
 http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/buildingregulations/approveddocuments/partl/approval/  

Tudalen y pecyn 167

http://wales.gov.uk/docs/caecd/research/130430-wales-fuel-poverty-projection-tool-2011-12-report-en.pdf
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/buildingregulations/approveddocuments/partl/approval/


:  
5.7 Many sectors of the industry raise concerns over the costs of delivering energy efficiency 

requirements but available data indicates that they can be delivered at no or little additional 

cost.  Which when taken into consideration with the whole life benefits will create a more 

sustainable, affordable and cost effective built environment.      

5.8 Wales has a low rate of renewable power capacity.  Deployment growth in Wales has been 

slower than in the rest of the UK.  Renewable schemes could be used to mitigate fuel price 

increases, especially in areas without mains gas.       

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1: Wales ECO figures, DECC 2014    

Area Carbon 
Saving 
Target 
(CSO) 

Carbon 
Savings 
Community 
(CSCO) 

Affordable 
Warmth 
(HHCRO) 

Total number of 
ECO measures 
delivered 

Valid percentage 
of ECO measures 
delivered 

WALES 8,566 3,765 19,478 31,809 6.0 

Isle of Anglesey / Ynys 
Môn 

28 14 141 183 0.0 

Gwynedd / Gwynedd 115 18 221 354 0.1 
Conwy / Conwy 375 41 758 1174 0.2 
Denbighshire / Sir 
Ddinbych 

155 49 696 900 0.2 

Flintshire / Sir y Fflint 422 92 868 1382 0.3 
Wrexham / Wrecsam 265 51 436 752 0.1 
Powys / Powys 105 3 170 278 0.1 
Ceredigion / 
Ceredigion 

107 3 125 235 0.0 

Pembrokeshire / Sir 
Benfro 

505 79 321 905 0.2 

Carmarthenshire / Sir 
Gaerfyrddin 

269 79 879 1227 0.2 

Swansea / Abertawe 462 199 1541 2202 0.4 
Neath Port Talbot / 
Castell-nedd Port 
Talbot 

602 210 1219 2031 0.4 

Bridgend / Pen-y-bont 
ar Ogwr 

307 234 1252 1793 0.3 

The Vale of Glamorgan 
/ Bro Morgannwg 

484 61 719 1264 0.2 

Cardiff / Caerdydd 1443 921 2331 4695 0.9 
Rhondda Cynon Taf / 
Rhondda Cynon Taf 

456 532 3211 4199 0.8 

Merthyr Tydfil / 
Merthyr Tudful 

43 152 637 832 0.2 

Tudalen y pecyn 168



:  
Caerphilly / Caerffili 773 408 1534 2715 0.5 
Blaenau Gwent / 
Blaenau Gwent 

92 192 734 1018 0.2 

Torfaen / Tor-faen 649 100 509 1258 0.2 
Monmouthshire / Sir 
Fynwy 

280 1 189 470 0.1 

Newport / Casnewydd 629 326 987 1942 0.4 
      

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/green-deal-energy-company-obligation-eco-and-

insulation-levels-in-great-britain-quarterly-report-to-december-2013 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 169

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/green-deal-energy-company-obligation-eco-and-insulation-levels-in-great-britain-quarterly-report-to-december-2013
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/green-deal-energy-company-obligation-eco-and-insulation-levels-in-great-britain-quarterly-report-to-december-2013


National Assembly for Wales 

Environment and Sustainability Committee 

EEFP 20  

Inquiry into Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty  

Response from: Energy Saving Trust  

 

Fuel poverty in Wales page 1 of 6 

1. Introduction 

1.1 In 2000, the UK government set a target to end fuel poverty by 2016.  In 2010 Wales launched its fuel 

poverty strategy1.  Since that time, rising fuel prices have largely undone the progress made through 

energy-efficiency improvement programmes.  There is still a pressing need to tackle cold, unhealthy 

homes.   

1.2 The Energy Saving Trust is committed to reducing the UK carbon emissions, but it is clear that fuel 

poverty and the sustainable use of energy can only be addressed together – fabric measures coupled 

with sustainable support for behaviour change.   

1.3 Tackling fuel poverty can only be achieved in partnership.  The Energy Saving Trust is delighted to be 

working on the Nest2 and arbed2 programmes in Wales.  Delivery is achieved by getting to the 

households needing support.  This is achieved through collaborative working with an extensive 

network of partners and stakeholders, engaging with customers at risk of fuel or severe fuel poverty 

and providing impartial and individual support.  Additional essential support is by onward referral for 

detailed financial help and installation of energy efficiency measures, where relevant.   

1.4 We want to see Local authorities taking the most proactive role possible to tackle fuel poverty, and 

government guiding them to do this through a reinvigorated Home Energy Conservation Act.  HECA 

was repealed in Wales because a number of sources (including the National Assembly Audit 

Committee) commented it was not working.  It was superseded by the National Energy Efficiency and 

Savings Plan and the standards for social housing were set through the Welsh Housing Quality 

Standard3.  But the collection of core data to make informed decisions is an essential part of 

delivering the right solutions to the right properties. 

1.5 Specifically, we want local authorities to: 

1.6 Develop financing strategies for large-scale energy efficiency retrofit; 

1.7 Ensure they have the right data about their housing stock and communities to target action; 

1.8 Work proactively with social and private landlords in their area, particularly those who have F and G 

rated homes.  Local authorities should be fulfilling their duties under environmental health legislation 

to monitor homes for serious cold hazards (leading to damp and mould); 

1.9 Ensure all householders, particularly fuel-poor householders, are able to access free and impartial 

support and advise about what they can do in their situation to better manage their energy use, 

reducing their bills while maintaining their comfort. 

1.10 Fuel poverty mapping for Wales, linked to solutions implemented.  The last Wales wide mapping was 

produced in September 20084. 

                                                

 
1
 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/fuelpoverty/strategy/?lang=en 

2
 http://www.nestwales.org.uk/Resources 

3
 http://www.assemblywales.org/cr-ld7213-e.pdf 

4
 http://wales.gov.uk/statistics-and-research/local-fuel-poverty-maps-wales/?lang=en 

Tudalen y pecyn 170

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/environmentcountryside/energy/fuelpoverty/strategy/?lang=en
http://www.assemblywales.org/cr-ld7213-e.pdf
http://wales.gov.uk/statistics-and-research/local-fuel-poverty-maps-wales/?lang=en


  

 

 

 

 

Fuel poverty in Wales page 2 of 6 

1.11 Energy suppliers, government and Green Deal providers collaborating around appropriate use of data 

to reach customers who can benefit from Green Deal and ECO, for example, by making best use of 

Energy Performance Certificates and other existing data; 

1.12 Energy suppliers, government and consumer groups ensuring all customers are given effective 

advice and support alongside the smart meter roll out, with further support for vulnerable customers; 

1.13 Funders in the UK and across Europe implementing research and development into how smart 

technologies can support energy bill management and financial inclusion for poorer households. 

1.14 DECC’s Fuel Poverty Advisory Group and many other organisations have argued lessons can be 

learnt from policy progress in Wales and Scotland where the Green Deal and ECO will work 

alongside ongoing programmes of direct government grants for households.  Looking north of the 

border will allow greater information and sharing, collaborating to better design solutions appropriate 

for those in fuel poverty.  The proposal to link home energy efficiency investment to carbon taxes 

could be a way for all UK governments to target revenue on this critical issue.  

1.15 We note the finding of Professor John Hills’ review for UK government into the measurement of fuel 

poverty stated “the daunting scale of the challenge” we will almost certainly still face to address fuel 

poverty in 2016.  So already we have a sign the English target will not be met even under the new 

definition, even though that would have represented a considerable reduction in the numbers of those 

classed as in fuel poverty in Wales.  More action is required. 

2. Strategic context 

2.1 In the year 2010, the government made a commitment to the low-income households.  By 2016, it 

said, fuel poverty in this country would be history.  At the time, 2016 seemed a long way away; the 

target appeared reasonable – more than reasonable for a developed nation, some would say – and 

eminently achievable.  

2.2 It is generally recognised that the best way to protect people against fuel poverty is with energy 

efficiency improvements supported with relevant impartial and sustained advice.  But, in recent years, 

all the progress made in tackling fuel poverty through energy efficiency has been undone through 

rising fuel prices.  Electricity bills rose by 20% (in real terms) in the six years from 2007, and gas bills 

rose by 41% (in real terms) over the same period
5.  

2.3 The result is that levels of fuel poverty now are estimated to be about the same as they were when 

the UK government committed to abolish the problem.  The UK Fuel poverty update 20146 estimates 

that 6.59m households were in fuel poverty, an increase of almost 2.25m since DECC figures 

published for 2011, a significant 29% of Welsh households. 

2.4 The need to tackle cold, unhealthy homes does not go away.  The Hills Review of fuel poverty (Welsh 

Government analysis for Wales7) estimated that more people die because of cold homes than die on 

                                                

 
5
 Average annual domestic electricity and gas bills, DECC, Dec 2011 available from: http://www.decc.gov.uk/en/content/cms/statistics/energy_ 

stats/prices/prices.aspx December 2011 
6
 Association of the Conservation of Energy Fuel poverty report 2014 

7
 http://wales.gov.uk/statistics-and-research/wales-fuel-poverty-projection-tool/?lang=en 

Tudalen y pecyn 171

http://wales.gov.uk/statistics-and-research/wales-fuel-poverty-projection-tool/?lang=en


  

 

 

 

 

Fuel poverty in Wales page 3 of 6 

the nation’s roads8.  In Public Health White Paper, published in 2010, the UK Government stated, 

“We could prevent the yearly excess winter deaths – 35,000 in 2008/09 – through warmer housing”.  

A large proportion of morbidity is in those struggling with fuel bills.  

2.5 Energy Saving Trust have helped thousands of people struggling to pay their energy bills each year, 

building a clearer picture of the actual situation from direct householder engagement.  We’ve carried 

out analysis of our energy saving advice services in England and Wales, finding: more than a quarter 

(28%) of our customers find it difficult to heat their home; six out of 10 (62%) worry about energy bills; 

one fifth (20%) say energy bills are a cause of real personal stress. 

2.6 We also asked UK customers how much they spend on energy bills and found: 21% spent more than 

a tenth of their household income on fuel; 11% spent more than a fifth of their household income on 

fuel. 

2.7 If you are in fuel poverty you are not in control of one of life’s basis needs.  It means you are not able 

to use the energy you need, when you need it, to keep your home warm and comfortable.  New 

technology can help to give back some of that control and the smart meter roll out will be a 

fundamental step in the re-engagement of households with their energy use, while providing mega 

data on consumption.  But the flow of accurate, up-to-date information from this data is vital for the 

delivery of support to the households that most need it. 

3. What does the data tell us? 

3.1 Fuel poverty across the UK in 2011 (DECC) stood at: England 15% of all households; Scotland 25%; 

Wales 29%; Northern Ireland 42%.  The issue is not diminishing. 

3.2 Energy Saving Trust undertook analysis of the data available on the housing stock in Wales, based 

on the most recent data – Living in Wales 2008 - for Welsh Government in 20129, which concluded: 

3.3 The Living in Wales 2008 survey shows that there were 330,000 households in fuel poverty in Wales.  

Analysis based on the Association for the Conservation of Energy (ACE) refurbishment calculator 

estimates that it would cost £2.45bn to remove 95% of households in Wales from fuel poverty by 

improving the energy performance of their homes.  Appendix 1 details the measures applicable to 

homes in fuel poverty in 2008 in order to remove 95%. 

3.4 This programme could save around £283 million per year in energy bills, which would likely be 

reinvested in the local Welsh economy. 

3.5 5% of Welsh households could not be removed from fuel poverty solely by improving the energy 

performance of their homes – these households would need some extra assistance, for example 

increased income or help securing a good deal on their bills to remove them from fuel poverty. 

3.6 The approach could reduce residential CO2 emissions by around 1.5 MtCO2e/year10.  The Welsh 

Government’s 3% a year greenhouse gas reduction target in the residential sector equates to around 

0.22 MtCO2e/year, every year. 

                                                

 
8
 Fuel Poverty: The problem and its measurement; Interim Report of the fuel poverty review, John Hills, CASE, Oct 2011, available from: http:// 

www.decc.gov.uk/assets/decc/11/funding-support/fuel-poverty/3226-fuel-poverty-review-interim-report.pdf 
9
 Costs and benefits of tackling fuel poverty in Wales in 2008, (2012) Energy Saving Trust 

10
 MtCO2e is mega tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 

Tudalen y pecyn 172

http://www.decc.gov.uk/assets/decc/11/funding-support/fuel-poverty/3226-fuel-poverty-review-interim-report.pdf


  

 

 

 

 

Fuel poverty in Wales page 4 of 6 

3.7 60% of households in fuel poverty in 2008 could be removed from fuel poverty for £333m by installing 

basic measures costing no more than £3,300 per house, with a greater reduction if done as a mass 

retrofit programme.  Measures such as loft insulation, cavity wall insulation, draught-proofing and new 

boilers coupled with specific, relevant and credible advice on behaviour changes to maximise savings 

while maintaining adequate warmth and comfort with the consequence of improvements to health and 

wellbeing.  This compares favourably to the current refurbishment projects which are working to a 

figure closer to £6,000 per house 

3.8 We note from the Welsh Government water strategy, future focus will be on reducing water poverty 

and hence bills.  Our recent At Home with Water Report highlighted that 25% of the average energy 

bill is attributable to hot water use in the home, a major portion of energy bills.  Simple measures and 

advice can be incorporated in Nest and arbed programmes, with immediate benefits. 

4. Energy company obligations (ECO) 

4.1 We strongly believe the best way to protect householders from rising energy bills in the long term is 

home energy efficiency measures with relevant advice and support.  In the context of last winter’s 

political debates about energy bills, we do not agree with the Westminster Government’s decision to 

cut the ECO programme in order to deliver short term reductions in bills.   

4.2 We are concerned at the detrimental impact of the cuts, for example on the delivery of solid wall 

insulation, a key measure for the transition to an energy efficient building stock and a low carbon 

economy, particularly relevant to such a significant proportion of the Welsh Housing stock. 

4.3 Commitments have now been made at the highest level and achieving a £30-£35 cut on consumer 

bills from ECO is seen as a political necessity, but will not make much of an impact to those in, or 

approaching fuel poverty.  We strongly believe that the cuts proposed in the current consultation go 

beyond what is required to achieve that level of reduction on bills, while leaving a legacy for those in 

fuel poverty and living in “leaky homes”.  

4.4 As evidence, we point to the rapidly falling price in brokerage for all three sub-programmes.  Analysis 

by ACE shows that DECC’s Assessment of Impacts may underestimate carbon emissions reduction 

obligation (CERO) delivery achieved to date.  If so, only a very small element of additional delivery is 

required under CERO to meet the 2015 delivery target.  In the light we are concerned there will be a 

reduction in delivery, and as such, fuel poverty reduction. 

4.5 We support action to improve ECO in order to: minimise additional customer contributions within 

home heat cost reduction obligation (HHCRO).  Customers also need greater clarity and advice about 

these charges; ensure more support from HHCRO reaches electrically heated homes; ensure the 

2015-2017 ECO programme reaches groups who have not fared well under ECO and its predecessor 

obligations – such as private rented tenants and people in remote rural areas; expand relevant use of 

ECO funds for innovative solutions such as recent work on park homes. 

4.6 Energy Saving Trust works closely with all devolved governments.  It is important that changes to 

ECO (for example in regard to additionality rules) do not restrict devolved governments from 

promoting the use of ECO finance alongside devolved government programmes to maximise the 

benefits for those in fuel poverty.  Even through the consultation has not reached a conclusion, there 

Tudalen y pecyn 173



  

 

 

 

 

Fuel poverty in Wales page 5 of 6 

are already changes being implemented in the approach adopted by energy obligated companies in 

the way some funding is allocated and the measures targeted. 

 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 174



  

 

 

 

 

Fuel poverty in Wales page 6 of 6 

Appendix 1 

 

Measures installed (as modelled): Number of 

measures 

Cost (£m at 2008 

prices) 

% of Welsh  

properties 

requiring 

measure 

Loft top-up 145,000 £26m 44% 

Loft – full insulation 44,000 £11m 13% 

Cavity wall insulation 52,000 £13m 16% 

Internal wall insulation 7,000 £17m 2% 

External wall insulation 62,000 £572m 19% 

Double glazing 16,000 £75m 5% 

Draught proofing 108,000 £11m 32% 

Energy efficient lighting 288,000 £6m 87% 

Gas condensing boiler 134,000 £266m 40% 

Oil condensing boiler 77,000 £230m 23% 

Biomass boiler 16,000 £114m 5% 

Air source heat pump 1,800 £14m 1% 

Ground source heat pump 11,000 £143m 3% 

Improvements to heat distribution 28,000 £173m 9% 

Solar water heating 87,000 £416m 26% 

Solar electricity generation11 67,000 £365m 20% 

Total12  £2,450m  
Table 1: Measures applied to Welsh homes to remove 95% of these households from fuel poverty (2008 data baseline) 

 

                                                

 
11

 The cost of a 4kW solar panel has reduced n cost from 2000-2014 by more than 60%, while performance has also shown an improvement.  It is 

therefore likely there would be a reduction in the cost of installing solar PV. 
12

 Recent advances in Fuel cell technology could now provide a viable solution for some properties, but will require some regulatory changes. 

Tudalen y pecyn 175



 

Carl Sargeant AC / AM 
Y Gweinidog Tai ac Adfywio 
Minister for Housing and Regeneration 
 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

English Enquiry Line  0845 010 3300 

Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg  0845 010 4400 

                Correspondence.Carl.Sargeant@wales.gsi.gov.uk 

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (100%)                            Printed on 100% recycled paper 

 
Ein cyf / Our ref: LF/CS/0583/14 

 
Alun Ffred Jones AC 
Y Cadeirydd 

Y Pwyllgor Amgylchedd a Chynaliadwyedd 
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 

Caerdydd 
CF99 1NA 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Anwyl Alun Ffred 
 
Cyfeiriaf at eich llythyr dyddiedig 9 Mehefin lle rydych yn codi nifer o gwestiynau ar ôl i 
Bwyllgor yr Amgylchedd a Chynaliadwyedd ystyried y Memorandwm Cydsyniad 
Deddfwriaethol sy'n ymwneud â'r Bil Cyfiawnder Cymdeithasol a Llysoedd yn ei gyfarfod ar 
5 Mehefin. Mae fy ymateb i'r cwestiynau hynny wedi’i nodi isod. 
 
C1. Nodwch amserlen y trafodaethau rhwng Llywodraeth Cymru a Llywodraeth y DU mewn 
perthynas â'r gwelliannau y mae'r Memorandwm hwn yn ymwneud â hwy?  
 

 
Pan cyflwynwyd y Bil ar 5 Chwefror 2014 roedd yn cynnwys y ddarpariaeth sy’n ymwneud â 
chynigion adran 288 yn Lloegr yn unig. Gofynnwyd i Lywodraeth Cymru ystyried a oedd yn 
dymuno i'r ddarpariaeth gael ei hestyn i gynnwys Cymru. Ynghanol mis Chwefror 
hysbyswyd yr Adran Cymunedau a Llywodraeth Leol na ddylai'r ddarpariaeth ddod i rym 
yng Nghymru gan nad oedd digon o wybodaeth gan Lywodraeth y DU am lefel a hyd a lled 
yr ymgynghoriad yng Nghymru. Cafodd rhagor o wybodaeth ei darparu am y mater hwn, a 
phan oeddem yn fodlon ar ddechrau mis Ebrill, cytunwyd y dylid estyn y cynnig i Gymru ac y 
byddai'r Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol yn cael ei osod. Yna, cawsom wybod bod 
Llywodraeth y DU yn cynnig gwelliannau perthnasol pellach a gyflwynwyd ar 6 Mai. 
Gosodwyd y Memorandwm gennym ar 15 Mai a hysbyswyd y Weinyddiaeth Gyfiawnder o 
hynny. 
 
C2.   Yn ôl eich dealltwriaeth chi, a oedd wastad yn fwriad gan Lywodraeth y DU i gyflwyno'r 
darpariaethau hyn yng Nghymru a Lloegr? Os oedd hynny'n fwriad, sut a phryd y bu 
ymgynghori â Llywodraeth Cymru?  

 
O'r ohebiaeth rhwng swyddogion Llywodraeth Cymru a Llywodraeth y DU ac Is-
ysgrifennydd Seneddol y Weinyddiaeth Gyfiawnder i'r Gweinidog Llywodraeth Leol a 
Busnes y Llywodraeth, roeddem yn deall ar ddechrau'r broses bod Llywodraeth y DU yn 
fodlon cyflwyno'r darpariaethau hyn naill ai yn Lloegr yn unig, neu yng Nghymru a Lloegr.  
 
 

23 Mehefin 2014 

Tudalen y pecyn 176

Eitem 7.1



 
Gofynnwyd yn benodol i Lywodraeth Cymru a oedd am i'r darpariaethau ddod i rym yng 
Nghymru drwy'r Bil. Fel yr eglurwyd uchod, ein hymateb gwreiddiol oedd nad oeddem am i 
hyn ddigwydd, gan nad oeddem yn credu bod gennym ddigon o wybodaeth am hyd a lled yr 
ymgynghoriad a gynhaliwyd ar y mater yng Nghymru.    
 
C3.    Os mai bwriad gwreiddiol Llywodraeth y DU oedd eu cyflwyno yn Lloegr yn unig, fel y 
nodwyd yn y Bil gwreiddiol a gyflwynwyd ym mis Chwefror 2014, pam a phryd y gofynnodd 
Llywodraeth Cymru i'r darpariaethau gael eu hymestyn i Gymru?  
 
Yn dilyn y trafodaethau gwreiddiol y cyfeiriwyd atynt uchod, daeth Llywodraeth y DU atom 
i'n hysbysu eu bod o'r farn y dylai'r darpariaethau fod yn gymwys i Gymru yn ogystal â 
Lloegr. Roedd yn well ganddynt ddull unffurf o ymdrin â rheolau ar gyfer heriau'r Uchel Lys 
mewn perthynas â phenderfyniadau cynllunio yn y llysoedd yn y ddwy wlad. Roeddent 
hefyd o'r farn bod y cynigion yn ymwneud â pholisi nad oedd wedi'i datganoli. 
 
Yn ein barn ni, mae'r cynigion yn ymwneud â'r system gynllunio ac felly mae'n dod o fewn 
cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol datganoledig. Wedi dweud hynny, roeddem yn gweld y ddadl o 
blaid estyn y cynigion i Gymru, ac roeddem yn barod i gytuno iddynt ar yr amod y gallem 
weld tystiolaeth ddigonol o'r ymgynghoriad ar y cynigion yng Nghymru. Ar ôl i'r wybodaeth 
ychwanegol hon ddod i law, cytunwyd i estyn y darpariaethau i Gymru, ac rydym wedi 
gosod Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol yn unol â'n barn bod y cynigion yn dod o 
fewn cymhwysedd ddeddfwriaethol y Cynulliad. 
 
Yn gywir  
 
 

 
 
Carl Sargeant AC / AM 
Y Gweinidog Tai ac Adfywio 
Minister for Housing and Regeneration 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 177



Alun Davies AC / AM 
Y Gweinidog Cyfoeth Naturiol a Bwyd 
Minister for Natural Resources and Food 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

English Enquiry Line  0845 010 3300 

Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg  0845 010 4400 

                Correspondence.Alun.Davies@wales.gsi.gov.uk 

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (100%)                            Printed on 100% recycled paper 

 
 
 
Eich cyf/Your ref Biodiversity 
Ein cyf/Our ref Biodiversity 

Alun Ffred Jones AC 
Cadeirydd, Pwyllgor yr Amgylchedd a 
Chynaliadwyedd  

Tŷ Hywel 
Bae Caerdydd  
CF99 1NA 

 
 

  

 
 
 
Annwyl Alun, 
 
 

 
Ymateb i Bwyllgor yr Amgylchedd a Chynaliadwyedd ar Fioamrywiaeth  

 
Diolch yn fawr i chi am eich llythyr dyddiedig 3 Mehefin 2014 ynghylch bioamrywiaeth. 
 
Cyfeiriaf at eich cwestiynau fel yr ydych wedi’u rhifo yn eich llythyr.  
 
1.3 – Amserlen y Cynllun Adfer Natur a’i berthnasedd i’r Rhaglen Rheoli Adnoddau 
Natur.  
 
Gallaf gadarnhau bod Bwrdd Strategaeth Bioamrywiaeth Cymru, partneriaeth rhwng 
Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru, undebau’r ffermwyr, Awdurdodau Lleol, Llywodraeth Cymru a’r 
trydydd sector wrthi’n paratoi Cynllun Adfer Natur i Gymru.  Bydd y Cynllun Adfer Natur yn 
gosod allan ein hamcanion pwysicaf a’r gweithredoedd y byddwn yn eu cynnal i’w gwireddu.  
Byddant yn cyfateb i dargedau Bioamrywiaeth Aichi 2020. 
 
Rwyf am lansio ymgynghoriad ar y Cynllun Adfer Natur yng Nghynhadledd Bioamrywiaeth 
Cymru ar 10 Medi 2014 a byddwn yn cyhoeddi’r cynllun terfynol yn gynnar yn 2015.  
 
Mae’r rhaglen Rheoli Adnoddau Naturiol yn gyfle inni ystyried cryfder bioamrywiaeth a’r 
buddiannau a’r cyfleoedd niferus y gall elwa arnynt trwy edrych ar bob agwedd o safbwynt 
ehangach.  Trwy ei gyflwyno ym Mil yr Amgylchedd, bydd hynny’n gwireddu ein 
hymrwymiadau rhyngwladol o ran prif ffrydio bioamrywiaeth ac ecosystemau yn ein 
penderfyniadau ac ymgysylltu â’r cyhoedd.  Er bod angen llawer o weithgarwch cadwraeth o 

25 Mehefin 2014 

Tudalen y pecyn 178

Eitem 7.2



hyd i warchod rhywogaethau a safleoedd a bod llawer o gynlluniau ar lefel tirwedd eisoes ar 
y gweill, amcan y Cynllun Adfer Natur yw pontio rhwng yr hen ffordd draddodiadol o 
ymwneud â bioamrywiaeth a’r ffordd newydd integredig o reoli adnoddau naturiol yn ôl 
ardal.  Bydd bioamrywiaeth yn rhan annatod o unrhyw ddatganiad ar Adnoddau Naturiol 
Cenedlaethol.  
 
1.4 – Cyfrifoldeb am y ganolfan ddata.  
 
O ran y ganolfan ddata, gallaf gadarnhau mai Llywodraeth Cymru fydd yn arwain y prosiect 
hwn, gan weithio ar y cyd â CNC.  Mae’r bartneriaeth wedi bod yn effeithiol iawn ac mae 
llawer wedi’i gyflawni.  Mae’n dda gennyf gyhoeddi y bydd arddangosfa o’r ganolfan i’w 
gweld yn y Sioe Fawr.  
 
1.5 / 1.6 – Y Diweddaraf am yr archwiliad i fioamrywiaeth.  

 
Cafodd archwiliad o weithredoedd pob Adran o’r Llywodraeth mewn cysylltiad â 
bioamrywiaeth ei gynnal yn 2011.  Dangosodd fod pob rhan o Lywodraeth Cymru yn 
gweithredu dros fioamrywiaeth a bod Adrannau’r Llywodraeth yn ystyried bioamrywiaeth 
wrth gynnal gweithgareddau allai gael effaith uniongyrchol ar fioamrywiaeth.  Fodd bynnag, 
mae mwy o waith eto i’w wneud, er enghraifft o ran rheoli ein hystâd ein hunain ac 
integreiddio bioamrywiaeth wrth ddatblygu polisi.  
 
Bydd y Cynllun Adfer Natur yn parhau i roi pwyslais ar integreiddio bioamrywiaeth yn ein 
polisïau a’n strategaethau ac mae’r rhaglen Rheoli Adnoddau Naturiol eisoes wedi dechrau 
ar y broses hon.  Fel rhan o’r Cynllun Adfer Natur, cynhelir gwerthusiad cynhwysfawr ac 
amlhaenog o’r gweithredoedd bioamrywiaeth y bydd angen i adrannau ac asiantaethau 
Llywodraeth Cymru eu cynnal.  
 
 
Cofion, 
 

 
 
 
 
Alun Davies AC / AM 

Y Gweinidog Cyfoeth Naturiol a Bwyd 
Minister for Natural Resources and Food 
  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 179


	Agenda
	2 Ymchwiliad i effeithlonrwydd ynni a thlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru: Tystiolaeth gan National Energy Action Cymru
	Dogfen cefndriol gan y Gwasanaethau Ymchwil
	Geirfa Effeithlonrwydd Ynni
	Papur 1 (Saesneg yn unig)

	3 Ymchwiliad i effeithlonrwydd ynni a thlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru: Tystiolaeth gan Age Cymru a Chomisiynydd Pobl Hŷn Cymru
	Papur 3

	4 Ymchwiliad i effeithlonrwydd ynni a thlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru: Tystiolaeth gan Cyngor ar Bopeth Cymru
	5 Ymchwiliad i effeithlonrwydd ynni a thlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru: Tystiolaeth gan Cartrefi Cymunedol Cymru a Chymdeithasau Tai
	Papur 6 (Saesneg yn unig)
	Papur 7
	Papur 8 (Saesneg yn unig)

	6 Ymchwiliad i effeithlonrwydd ynni a thlodi tanwydd yng Nghymru: Tystiolaeth gan Cyfeillion y Ddaear, yr Ymddiriedolaeth Arbed Ynni a Grŵp Cymru Carbon Isel/Di-garbon
	Papur 11 (Saesneg yn unig)
	Papur 10 (Saesneg yn unig)

	7.1 Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol ynghylch y Bil Cyfiawnder Troseddol a'r Llysoedd: Ymateb gan y Gweinidog Tai ac Adfywio i'r llythyr gan y Cadeirydd ar 5 Mehefin
	7.2 Bioamrywiaeth: Ymateb gan y Gweinidog Cyfoeth Naturiol a Bwyd i'r llythyr gan y Cadeirydd ar 3 Mehefin



